

Department of Industrial Engineering

Doctoral school in Materials, Mechatronics and Systems Engineering

Development of monolithic active pixel sensors for radiation imaging

Supervisors: Prof. Lucio Pancheri Prof. Gian Franco Dalla Betta **PhD candidate:** Thomas Corradino

Academic Year 2022 - 2023

Abstract

The development of Fully Depleted Monolithic Active Pixel Sensors (FD-MAPS) represents nowadays a hot-topic in the radiation detector community. The advantages in terms of production costs and easiness of manufacturing in comparison to the state-of-the-art hybrid detectors boost the research effort in the direction of developing new CMOS compatible detector technologies. To this end, the INFN ARCADIA project targeted the design of a sensor platform for the production of FD-MAPS to be employed in different scientific, medical and space applications. The sensor technology has been developed in collaboration with LFoundry on the basis of a standard 110 nm CMOS production process with some modifications needed to meet the project requirements. High resistivity ntype silicon substrates have been chosen for the sensor active volume and a n-type epitaxial layer has been included at the sensor frontside to delay the onset of the punch-through current flowing between the frontside and backside p-type implants. The sensor n-type collection electrodes are surrounded by pwells, which can host the embedded analog and digital frontend electronics, and deep piels have been included below the pwells to shield them from the sensor substrate. Three engineering runs have been submitted and the produced wafers have been delivered in 2021, 2022 and 2023, respectively. An

additional p-type implant has been added in the third production run to create an embedded gain layer below the n-type collection electrodes, to enhance the signal through avalanche multiplication.

A selection of the main results obtained from the TCAD simulations and of the most relevant measurements performed on the designed MAPS passive test structures will be presented and discussed in chapter 4. In an analogous way, the experimental results obtained from the characterization of an active sensor designed for brachytherapy, called COBRA, are reported in chapter 5. The calibration of the capacitance included in the internal charge injection circuit of two TJ-Monopix2 MAPS having different substrate types is reported in chapter 6. These sensors represent examples of fully functional and full scale monolithic prototypes realized in a 180 nm Tower-Jazz CMOS process, that have been characterized using Xrays fluorescence techniques at the SiLab of the University of Bonn. Finally, in the Conclusions section the main results of the research activity are summarized and the possible future spin-offs of the project are presented.

Contents

Li	st of	Publications	3
Li	st of	Tables	7
Li	st of	Figures	9
1	Silio	con radiation detectors	17
	1.1	$Introduction \ . \ . \ . \ . \ . \ . \ . \ . \ . \ $	17
	1.2	Radiation types and effects	19
	1.3	Radiation detector types	23
	1.4	Detectors Figures of Merit (FoM)	31
	1.5	State-of-the-Art of MAPS	42
2	The	ARCADIA project	53
	2.1	Main Demonstrator and active chips \ldots .	56
	2.2	Passive Test Structures	61
3	Intr	oduction to TCAD simulations	65
	3.1	TCAD modeling principles	66
		3.1.1 Device structure and mesh definition	68
		3.1.2 Physical models and numerical methods	72
4	AR	CADIA test structures	83
	4.1	TCAD simulations $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	83

		4.1.1	IV and CV
		4.1.2	Radiation hardness
		4.1.3	Backside junction terminations 90
		4.1.4	Transient simulations with charged
			particles $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots $ 92
		4.1.5	Transient simulations with optical stim-
			ulus
		4.1.6	Design of pixels with integrated gain layer 100
	4.2	Electr	ical characterization $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 103$
		4.2.1	Process control structures 103
		4.2.2	Termination structures 109
		4.2.3	Passive pixel arrays
		4.2.4	Passive pixel arrays with gain layer 129
	4.3	X-ray	irradiation studies
	4.4	Optica	al characterization $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 135$
		4.4.1	Laser setup $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 135$
		4.4.2	ARCADIA passive pixel arrays 138
		4.4.3	Passive pixel arrays with gain layer 149
5	CO	BRA s	sensor 161
6	TJ-	Monop	pix2 chip 169
	Cali	bration	of the injection capacitance 169
7	Cor	nclusio	ns 183

List of Publications

- L. Pancheri, R. A. Giampaolo, A. Di Salvo, S. Mattiazzo, T. Corradino *et al.*, 'Fully Depleted MAPS in 110-nm CMOS Process With 100–300-µm Active Substrate,' *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 67, no. 6, pp. 2393–2399, 2020. DOI: 10.1109/ TED.2020.2985639.
- [2] T. Corradino, C. Neubüser, G.-F. Dalla Betta, L. De Cilladi and L. Pancheri, 'Design and Characterization of Backside Termination Structures for Thick Fully-Depleted MAPS,' *Sensors*, vol. 21, no. 11, 2021. DOI: 10.3390/s21113809.
- [3] L. De Cilladi, T. Corradino, G.-F. Dalla Betta, C. Neubüser and L. Pancheri, 'Fully depleted monolithic active microstrip sensors: TCAD simulation study of an innovative design concept,' *Sensors*, vol. 21, no. 6, p. 1990, 2021. DOI: 10.3390/s21061990.
- C. Neubüser, T. Corradino, G.-F. Dalla Betta, L. De Cilladi and L. Pancheri, 'Sensor Design Optimization of Innovative Low-Power, Large Area FD-MAPS for HEP and Applied Science,' *Frontiers in Physics*, vol. 9, p. 639, 2021. DOI: 10.3389/fphy.2021.625401.

- [5] T. Corradino, G.-F. Dalla Betta, C. Neubüser and L. Pancheri, 'Charge Collection Dynamics of the ARCA-DIA Passive Pixel Arrays: Laser Characterization and TCAD Modeling,' *Frontiers in Physics*, vol. 10, 2022. DOI: 10.3389/fphy.2022.929251.
- [6] C. Neubüser, T. Corradino, S. Mattiazzo, L. Pancheri and on behalf of the ARCADIA collaboration, 'Impact of X-ray induced radiation damage on FD-MAPS of the ARCADIA project,' *Journal of Instrumentation*, vol. 17, no. 01, p. C01035, Jan. 2022. DOI: 10.1088/ 1748-0221/17/01/C01035.
- [7] C. Neubüser, T. Corradino, G.-F. Dalla Betta and L. Pancheri, 'ARCADIA FD-MAPS: Simulation, characterization and perspectives for high resolution timing applications,' *Nucl. Instrum. Methods Phys. Res., Sect.* A, vol. 1048, p. 167 946, 2023. DOI: 10.1016/j.nima. 2022.167946.
- [8] C. Neubüser, T. Corradino, G.-F. Dalla Betta, S. Mattiazzo, L. Pancheri *et al.*, 'First characterization results of ARCADIA FD-MAPS after X-ray irradiation,' *Journal of Instrumentation*, vol. 18, no. 01, p. C01066, Jan. 2023. DOI: 10.1088/1748-0221/18/01/C01066.
- [9] T. Corradino, G.-F. Dalla Betta, C. Neubüser, L. Pancheri and on behalf of the ARCADIA collaboration, 'ARCADIA MAPS process qualification through

the electrical characterization of passive pixel arrays,' Journal of Instrumentation, vol. 18, no. 02, p. C02045, Feb. 2023. DOI: 10.1088/1748-0221/18/02/C02045.

- [10] L. Pancheri, T. Corradino and C. Neubüser, 'Design of CMOS Monolithic Avalanche Detectors for chargedparticle timing with sub-nanosecond resolution,' in *IEEE EUROCON 2023 - 20th International Conference on Smart Technologies*, 2023, pp. 133–137. DOI: 10.1109/EUROCON56442.2023.10199046.
- [11] T. N. H. Bui, M. Large, J. Poder, J. Bucci, E. Bianco *et al.*, 'Preliminary Characterization of an Active CMOS Pad Detector for Tracking and Dosimetry in HDR Brachytherapy,' *Sensors*, vol. 24, no. 2, 2024. DOI: 10.3390/s24020692.

List of Tables

1.1	State-of-the-Art MAPS main characteristics	51
4.1	Cluster size for 25 μ m pixels with t _{act} 200 μ m	
	according to different thresholds	99
4.2	Measured $\mathrm{C}_{\mathrm{pix}}$ for the different SPM 50 layouts	128
4.3	Measured $\mathrm{C}_{\mathrm{pix}}$ for the different SPM 25 layouts	128
6.1	Estimated C _{inj} mean value and standard devi- ation for the pixels of the normal and cascode	
	FE Sectors of the TJ-Monopix2 chips	180
6.2	Estimated C _{inj} from the linear fit and associ-	
	ated uncertainty for the pixels of the normal	
	and cascode FE Sectors of the TJ-Monopix2	
	chips	181

List of Figures

1.5.1	Schematic cross-section of an ALPIDE pixel	43
1.5.2	Schematic cross-section of a TJ-Monopix chip	
	having p-type epitaxial layer	45
1.5.3	Schematic cross-section of a LF-Monopix pixel.	46
1.5.4	Schematic cross-section of a Double-SOI sensor.	48
2.0.1	Schematic representation of a pixel array	55
2.1.1	ARCADIA wafer reticle floorplan (Courtesy of	
	Marco Mandurrino)	57
2.1.2	ARCADIA Main Demonstrator picture [68]	59
2.1.3	Picture of the silicon tile containing in the top	
	section the ASTRA chip and in the bottom	
	right corner the COBRA chips	60
2.2.1	Picture showing the two chips containing the	
	designed passive test structures highlighted	
	with the red boxes	62
2.2.2	Schematic cross section of a monolithic LGAD.	63
3.1.1	Box region in a 2D mesh with triangular ele-	
	ments [78]	76

4.1.1	Simulated IV characteristics of 25 μ m pixels with 100 μ m active thickness for different V _n values	86
4.1.2	Simulated and measured pixel capacitance for 50 μ m pixels with different layouts	87
4.1.3	Pixel capacitance for different TID levels for a 50 μ m pixel with 50 μ m active thickness. Picture from [67] (CC BY 4.0)	89
4.1.4	 (a) Cross section of a 2D simulation domain showing the designed guard ring structure. (b) Electrostatic potential profile. (c) Electric field profile. Picture from [16] (CC BY 4.0) 	91
4.1.5	Reduced simulation domains created for the three considered positions of the incident particle	93
4.1.6	Simulated pixel cluster size for increasing particle LET value and three different sub- strate thicknesses.	94
4.1.7	Simulated t_{99} of 10 μ m pixels for increasing particle LET value and three different sub- strate thicknesses.	95
4.1.8	 (a) Pixel charge collection for increasing particle LET values. (b) Voltage at the collection electrodes for increasing particle LET 	07
	values	97

Schematic cross sections of the pixels with in-	
tegrated gain layer and different layouts of the	
terminations at the collection electrode borders.	101
(a) Charge collection comparison for the two	
considered termination layouts of the rectan-	
gular pixels with integrated gain layer. (b) De-	
tails of the employed simulation domains	103
Gated diode anode current as a function of the	
voltage applied to the gate. Picture from $[16]$	
(CC BY 4.0)	105
Surface generation velocity boxplot for the	
measured SEED wafers. Picture from $[16]$ (CC	
BY 4.0)	107
Boxplot of the oxide charge concentrations ex-	
tracted from the different SEED wafers. Pic-	
ture from $[16]$ (CC BY 4.0)	108
Boxplot of the breakdown voltages measured	
on the SEED backside diodes with variable	
guard ring number. Picture from $[16]$ (CC BY	
4.0)	110
Boxplot of the breakdown voltages measured	
on the SEED backside diodes with variable	
guard ring pitch. Picture from [16] (CC BY	
4.0)	111
Schematic cross section of the frontside termin-	
ation structures. \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots	113
	Schematic cross sections of the pixels with in- tegrated gain layer and different layouts of the terminations at the collection electrode borders. (a) Charge collection comparison for the two considered termination layouts of the rectan- gular pixels with integrated gain layer. (b) De- tails of the employed simulation domains Gated diode anode current as a function of the voltage applied to the gate. Picture from [16] (CC BY 4.0)

4.2.7	Measured internal pwell currents for three guard ring voltages (V_{CP}) and three termin-	
	ation layouts.	114
4.2.8	Extracted punch through voltages (V_{PT}) for	
	three guard ring voltages (V_{GR}) and three ter-	
	mination layouts	115
4.2.9	Micrographs of two passive arrays with 50 and	
	25 $\mu \mathrm{m}$ pixels and 0.5×0.5 mm^2 active area	116
4.2.10	$V_{\rm PT}$ and $V_{\rm depl}$ as a function of the applied	
	frontside nwell voltage V_n . Pictures from [16]	
	$(CC BY 4.0). \dots \dots$	118
4.2.11	Simulated and measured pwell and nwell IV	
	characteristics for 50 μ m pixels with layout 1A	
	and 48 μ m nominal substrate thickness	121
4.2.12	Boxplots of the measured V_{PT} and V_{depl} for	
	the PM 25 with different substrate types	122
4.2.13	Boxplots of the operating voltage range for the	
	measured PM 25 with different substrate types.	124
4.2.14	Boxplots of the extracted V_{PT} and V_{depl} for	
	the passive pixel arrays with 50, 25 and 10 μ m	105
	pitch	125
4.2.15	Boxplot of the pixel dark current for the PM	
	25 with different substrate types	126
4.2.16	Measured pwell and nwell currents as a func-	
	tion of the applied V_{bias} and V_n [104]	130

4.3.1	Measured pwell and nwell currents as a func-
	tion of the applied V_{bias} for increasing TID
	values
4.3.2	Measured pixel capacitance for increasing TID
	values
4.4.1	(A) Picture of the optical setup showing the fo-
	cusing system with the embedded coaxial cam-
	era. (B) Schematic representation of the focus-
	ing system. Picture from $[20]$ (CC BY 4.0) 136
4.4.2	Acquired signals for the 50 $\mu {\rm m}$ pixels with lay-
	out 1A as a function of the applied $V_{\rm bias}.\ .$ 139
4.4.3	Acquired and simulated signals for the 50 $\mu {\rm m}$
	pixels with nominal (1A), minimum capacit-
	ance $(2F)$ and optimized charge collection $(3A)$
	layouts
4.4.4	Acquired and simulated signals for the pixel
	arrays with nominal layout 1A and 50, 25 and
	10 μ m pixel pitch
4.4.5	Normalized signal integrals for the 50 μm
	pixels with nominal (1A), minimum capacit-
	ance $(2F)$ and optimized charge collection $(3A)$
	layouts
4.4.6	Normalized signal integrals for the pixel arrays
	with nominal layout 1A and 50, 25 and 10 $\mu\mathrm{m}$
	pixel pitches

4.4.7	Normalized signal integrals for the PAD diode	
	and the pixel arrays with PAD-like layout hav-	
	ing 100 and 50 μm pitches	146
4.4.8	(A) Map of the maximum signal peak amp-	
	litude for a motor step of 10 $\mu \mathrm{m.}$ (B) Detail of	
	the maximum signal peak amplitude map for	
	a motor step of 5 $\mu \mathrm{m.}$ (C) Map of the charge	
	collected for an integration time of 50 ns. (D)	
	Cross section of the signal integral map. Pic-	
	tures from $[20]$ (CC BY 4.0)	148
4.4.9	(A) Measured signals on a PM 250 G1 as a	
	function of the applied V_{bias} . (B) Correspond-	
	ing signal integrals as a function of the applied	
	V_{bias} . Pictures from [104].	152
4.4.10	(A) Measured signals on a PM 250 G1 as a	
	function of the applied V_n . (B) Corresponding	
	signal integrals as a function of the applied V_n .	
	Pictures from $[104]$	153
4.4.11	(A) Map of the maximum signal peak amp-	
	litude for the PM 250 with layout A1. (B)	
	Map of the maximum signal peak amplitude	
	for the PM 250 with layout A2. Pictures from $$	
	[104]	154
4.4.12	Cross sections of the maximum signal maps	
	taken along a horizontal cutplane parallel to	
	the x-axis. Picture from $[104]$	155

4.4.13	(A) Charge collection map for the PM 250 with $$	
	layout A1. (B) Charge collection map for the	
	PM 250 with layout A2. Pictures from $[104].$.	156
4.4.14	(A) Cross sections of the signal integral maps	
	taken along a horizontal cutplane parallel to	
	the x-axis. (B) Cross sections of the signal	
	integral maps taken along a vertical cutplane	
	parallel to the y-axis. Pictures from $[104]$	157
4.4.15	(A) $t_{rise_{50}}$ map for the PM 250 with layout A1.	
	(B) $t_{rise_{50}}$ map for the PM 250 with layout A2.	
	Pictures from $[104]$	158
4.4.16	Cross sections of the $t_{\rm rise_{50}}$ maps taken along a	
	horizontal cutplane parallel to the x-axis. Pic-	
	ture from $[104]$	159
5.0.1	COBBA chip micrograph	1 0 0
		163
5.0.2	(A) HG mode signal measured on a COBRA	163
5.0.2	(A) HG mode signal measured on a COBRA chip with 100 μ m substrate active thickness.	163
5.0.2	(A) HG mode signal measured on a COBRA chip with 100 μ m substrate active thickness. (B) LG mode signal measured on a COBRA	163
5.0.2	(A) HG mode signal measured on a COBRA chip with 100 μ m substrate active thickness. (B) LG mode signal measured on a COBRA chip with 100 μ m substrate active thickness.	163 164
5.0.2 5.0.3	(A) HG mode signal measured on a COBRA chip with 100 μ m substrate active thickness. (B) LG mode signal measured on a COBRA chip with 100 μ m substrate active thickness IR diode signal amplitude spectrum for in-	163 164
5.0.2 5.0.3	(A) HG mode signal measured on a COBRA chip with 100 μ m substrate active thickness. (B) LG mode signal measured on a COBRA chip with 100 μ m substrate active thickness IR diode signal amplitude spectrum for in- creasing light intensity acquired with a CO-	163
5.0.2 5.0.3	(A) HG mode signal measured on a COBRA chip with 100 μ m substrate active thickness. (B) LG mode signal measured on a COBRA chip with 100 μ m substrate active thickness IR diode signal amplitude spectrum for in- creasing light intensity acquired with a CO- BRA chip having t _{act} equal to 100 μ m	163 164 166
5.0.2 5.0.3 5.0.4	(A) HG mode signal measured on a COBRA chip with 100 μ m substrate active thickness. (B) LG mode signal measured on a COBRA chip with 100 μ m substrate active thickness IR diode signal amplitude spectrum for in- creasing light intensity acquired with a CO- BRA chip having t _{act} equal to 100 μ m Energy spectrum of the X-ray tube with W	163 164 166
5.0.2 5.0.3 5.0.4	(A) HG mode signal measured on a COBRA chip with 100 μ m substrate active thickness. (B) LG mode signal measured on a COBRA chip with 100 μ m substrate active thickness IR diode signal amplitude spectrum for in- creasing light intensity acquired with a CO- BRA chip having t _{act} equal to 100 μ m Energy spectrum of the X-ray tube with W anode for an applied anode voltage of 195 kV	163 164 166
5.0.2 5.0.3 5.0.4	(A) HG mode signal measured on a COBRA chip with 100 μ m substrate active thickness. (B) LG mode signal measured on a COBRA chip with 100 μ m substrate active thickness. IR diode signal amplitude spectrum for in- creasing light intensity acquired with a CO- BRA chip having t _{act} equal to 100 μ m Energy spectrum of the X-ray tube with W anode for an applied anode voltage of 195 kV acquired with a COBRA chip having t _{act} equal	163 164 166

6.0.1	(A) Schematic cross-section of the TJ-Monopix	
	2 chip having p-type epitaxial layer and gaps	
	in the frontside low doped n-type implant at	
	the pixel borders. (B) Schematic cross-section	
	of the TJ-Monopix 2 chip having p-type Czo-	
	chralski substrate and extra deep pwell at the	
	pixel borders	171
6.0.2	Picture of the X-ray setup employed for the	
	calibration of the injection capacitance	173
6.0.3	(A) Histogram of the ToT response as a func-	
	tion of the applied Δ VCAL. (B) Correspond-	
	ing S-curve showing the pixel occupancy as a	
	function of the applied $\Delta VCAL$	177
6.0.4	(A) Acquired fluorescence X-ray spectrum for	
	the Cu target. (B) ToT mean values extracted	
	from the gaussian fit of the characteristic fluor-	
	escence lines as a function of the corresponding	
	line energies.	179

Chapter 1

Silicon radiation detectors

1.1 Introduction

Solid state radiation detectors and, in particular, silicon radiation detectors represent nowadays the state-of-the-art technology in most radiation imaging applications ranging from medical imaging to high energy physics and space experiments. The low production costs and the excellent performance in terms of energy, position and time resolution are the main advantages provided by solid state detectors, which have replaced the previous technologies in most scientific, medical and space applications. The development of silicon-based radiation detectors takes advantage of the extensive knowledge of the properties of this material acquired in the last century and of the infrastructures and design tools developed for the commercial electronics mass production. The Technology Readiness Level (TRL) of silicon-based devices is on average the highest among the different technologies employed for the commercial electronics and radiation detector production.

An ideal radiation detector material should have a high Signalto-Noise Ratio (SNR) resulting from an intrinsic low noise level and, at the same time, a large signal generated from the interaction of the radiation with the detector material. With a low band gap energy many e⁻-h⁺ pairs can be created when a particle or a photon travels through the material and, thus, a large signal can be observed an the detector output. On the other hand, an high band gap energy limits the intrinsic carrier concentration due to thermal generation and, as a consequence, the associated detector dark current and the resulting detector noise lower. Having a band gap energy and a mean ionization energy around 1.12 eV and 3.6 eV, respectively, silicon is an indirect band gap semiconductor well suited for the detection of charged particles as well as photons with wavelengths covering the Electro-Magnetic (EM) spectrum from X-rays to visible and NIR regions. These characteristics make silicon detectors suited for room-temperature operation, except for special applications which require cryogenic cooling e.g. when the devices are exposed to extreme radiation doses. A common solution to reduce the concentration of free charge carriers in the material is to take advantage of the properties of reverse biased p-n junctions. Namely, once depleted, the dark current in the space charge region of a silicon detector reaches a level low enough to enable an efficient and reliable detection of the e⁻-h⁺ pairs resulting from photogeneration or ionization due to an incident charged particle.

1.2 Radiation types and effects

Different mechanisms explain the interaction between different radiation types and nuclear particles with the detector material. As a consequence, different detectors structures have been designed and optimized for the detection of specific radiation types. Detectors for nuclear particles can be subdivided in charged particle detectors and neutron detectors. In the first case, the interaction mechanism changes for heavy charged particle e.g. ions or protons and for light charged particles e.g. positrons or electrons. Both particle types interact through Coulomb force with the orbital electrons of the material but they show different behaviors due to their different mass. For heavy charge particles, depending on the distance of the particle from the electron orbits along its track, the Coulomb interaction can result in the ionization of the detector atoms due to complete removal of an orbital electron or in the excitation of the orbital electrons to an higher energy shell. The particle trajectory through the material remains nearly linear and unaffected from the Coulomb interactions thanks to the high momentum related to its heavy mass. The particle kinetic energy is released continuously along the track and, as a result, e⁻-h⁺ pairs are generated and the particle speed decreases. Due to the statistical nature of the energy loss phenomenon the probability distribution function of the mean energy transfer can be approximated by a Landau distribution for thin detectors. The mean energy loss per unit of distance for a charge particle traveling inside the detector material is inversely proportional to the square of the particle speed as described by the Bethe-Bloch formula (eq. 1.1), where n represents the electron density inside the material, β is the ratio between the particle speed and the speed of light c, Z is the atomic number of the ionizing particle, m_e is electron rest mass and e is the electron elementary charge and I is the mean ionization energy [1]–[3]. According to this formula and considering the proper corrections needed for low particle energies, the maximum energy loss value is located at the end of the particle track resulting in the characteristic Bragg peak.

$$-\frac{\mathrm{dE}}{\mathrm{dx}} = \frac{4\pi}{\mathrm{m_ec}^2} \frac{\mathrm{nZ}^2}{\beta^2} \left(\frac{\mathrm{e}^2}{4\pi\epsilon_0}\right)^2 \left(\ln\left(\frac{2\mathrm{m_ec}^2\beta^2}{\mathrm{I}(1-\beta^2)}\right) - \beta^2\right) \quad (1.1)$$

On the contrary, the trajectories of light charged particles inside the material are heavily affected from Coulomb interactions leading to scattering effects, which can affect the reconstruction of the particle track. Light charged particles can lose energy also due to electromagnetic radiation emission like Bremsstrahlung or braking radiation, which is relevant especially for high Z materials.

Due to their neutral charge, which prevents Coulomb interactions with the detector material, neutrons can be detected only in indirect ways by looking at the product of their interactions with specific absorber materials. These materials can be scintillators, which emit photons converting the neutron kinetic energy into electromagnetic radiations, or absorber materials able to release charged particles, for example α particles released form ⁶Li or ¹⁰B, that can be detected through one of the aforementioned mechanisms. Due to the need of a conversion medium, the detection efficiency of neutron detectors is generally lower than the one of a common detector for charged particles because the conversion efficiency of the absorber material is always ≤ 1 .

Photons interact with silicon following different mechanisms as a function of their energy (E_{ph}) and thus as a function of their wavelength (λ) according to Plank's relation

$$E_{\rm ph} = h \frac{c}{\lambda}, \qquad (1.2)$$

with h the Plank constant and c the speed of light in vacuum. While low energy photons can be transmitted, absorbed, refracted or diffracted in Si, high energy photons are instead mainly absorbed. Since Si is an indirect band gap material, photons with an energy lower than the direct gap energy of 3.6 eV require the presence of a phonon to provide the necessary momentum for the promotion of an electron to the conduction band, generating an e^--h^+ pair. Depending on the amount of energy transferred from the photon to the detector material three main interactions are more likely to occur. Considering decreasing photon energy levels, these are in the order: pair production, Compton scattering and photoelectric effect.

When the photon energy is greater than 14 MeV, pair production is the most probable interaction with Si. However, this effect can take place for lower photon energy as well, provided a minimum $E_{ph} \ge 1.022$ MeV. In pair production, an e⁻-e⁺ pair is generated from the direct interaction of a photon with the nucleus of a detector atom. Both generated particles have a kinetic energy equal to half of the difference between the E_{ph} and the minimum E_{ph} for pair production. The two particles travel inside the detector material in different directions and, as soon as an e⁺ meets an e⁻, it annihilates releasing two photons in opposite direction having each 511 keV energy.

For lower E_{ph} comprised within 50 keV and 14 MeV Compton scattering becomes the most probable effect. In this case, an electron acquires part of the E_{ph} in the form of kinetic energy and breaks its bound. The scattered photon continues its path inside the material in a different direction and, depending on the remaining E_{ph} , can interact with another weakly bounded electron causing a new Compton scattering or, if the energy is lower than 50 keV, can be finally absorbed by photoelectric effect. The recoil e⁻ travels inside the material generating new e⁻-h⁺ pairs along its path until it loses all its kinetic energy. Due to the variable amount of energy exchanged during Compton scattering, this effect results in a peculiar shape of the energy spectrum in this photon energy range called Compton continuum. Finally, for E_{ph} lower than 50 keV photoelectric effect represents the only possible interaction between the incident photon and an electron which, absorbing the photon energy, is released from its atomic shell, usually from the inner Si K-shell. As a consequence, the excited atom will try to restore its energy equilibrium through the transition of an electron of the outer shells to the vacancy in the inner shell and this process causes the characteristic emission of X-rays inside the material. The kinetic energy of the generated electron is equal to the difference between E_{ph} and the electron bond energy and the traveling electron will create e^-h^+ pairs along its path until it finally stops.

1.3 Radiation detector types

During the years many approaches have been exploited to design radiation detectors able to satisfy the needs of the different application fields. Most of the proposed solutions exploit reverse biased p-n junctions working in photoconductive mode, where the total current collected at the detector electrodes is the flux of charges generated from the interaction of the substrate material with photons or nuclear particles. The PIN diode structure is commonly exploited for the design of particle and spectroscopy detectors due to the advantages provided from a low doped intrinsic silicon bulk in terms of reduction of the applied reverse bias voltage needed to deplete the detector substrate and in terms of lower defect and trap concentrations, which can lead to the recombination of part of the generated charges, w.r.t. a standard p-n junction having same geometry.

Different strategies have been proposed during the years to design position sensitive silicon detectors, which are employed in applications where the information on the particle incident position and track are required. Most solutions exploit a geometrical approach where the readout electrode is segmented in strips or pixels. The former enable a 1D position resolution with a single detector layer and a 2D position resolution segmenting the electrodes on both the sensor substrate sides in orthogonal directions or, alternatively, employing at least two different strip layers with different orientations. The latter provide a native 2D position resolution with a single detector layer at the cost of a higher number of readout channels. Considering a squared detector structure with the readout electrode segmented in N equal areas, a detector with 2D position sensitivity needs at least $2 \times N$ readout channels for a strip array, N channels for each strip layer, or N^2 readout channels for a pixellated array to get a comparable spatial resolution. In both cases, depending on the pixel or strip size, the generated charges are likely to be collected by multiple electrodes and, exploiting this information, it is possible to enhance the spatial resolution reaching values lower than the electrode pitch. For a digital binary readout the maximum achievable spatial resolution is equal to the ratio between the electrode pitch and $\sqrt{12}$. Instead, for an analog readout the spatial resolution can be further improved exploiting the information given by the centroid of the collected charge spatial distribution.

Silicon Drift Detectors (SDD) follow instead a different approach, where the position sensitivity is provided by a combination of the temporal information contained in the acquired signals and the geometry of the collection electrode. In these peculiar sensors, first devised from Gatti and Rehak in 1984 [4], a drift electric field orthogonal to the detector substrate thickness is exploited to move the charges generated inside the depleted active volume to a small collection electrode. The drift time is function of the distance from the collection electrode to the point where the charges have been generated. Therefore, computing the electron drift velocity through eq. 1.3, where E represents the existing electric field and μ_n is the electron mobility, it is possible to get information on the interaction position by looking at the signal temporal evolution.

$$\mathbf{v}_{\mathrm{d}} = -\mu_{\mathrm{n}} \mathbf{E} \tag{1.3}$$

Considering a segmented collection electrode with known geometry, the previous information is able to guarantee the 2D reconstruction of the particle or photon incident position. Moreover, the possibility to reduce the collection electrode dimensions w.r.t. a standard PIN diode results in a excellent signal-to-noise ratio (SNR), which makes SDD one of the best solutions for spectroscopy applications still today [5].

Charge Coupled Devices (CCD) represents a third detector category, historically employed in imaging application mainly in the visible region. These devices have a peculiar structure with the frontside layout segmented as an array of pixels made of MOS gates or p-n junctions. Employing a clocked switching sequence to the voltages needed to remove the potential barrier between the wells, where the generated charges are confined, it is possible to get information on the radiation interaction point simply counting the number of clock cycles needed to collect the generated charges at the end of the pixel columns. This readout scheme provides a native 1D position resolution that can be turned into a 2D position resolution by shifting the charges in two orthogonal directions or by segmenting the readout contact so that each column can be read independently.

Another possible way to categorize silicon radiation detectors is to distinguish between hybrid sensors, where the electronics and the sensing elements are realized on different silicon substrates, and monolithic sensors, where the electronics and the sensor are instead embedded on the same silicon substrate. The first approach represented the state-of-the-art technology for decades and most X-rays or IR sensors and almost every particle detector, e.g. CMS, ATLAS, LHCb, include at least a layer of hybrid sensors [6]–[10]. The chance of optimizing independently the electronics and the sensing element is the main advantage of this technology. On the other hand, the need of connecting the two different substrates through the expensive and yield critical bump bonding process limits the potential of this sensors.

Monolithic active pixel sensors can represent a cost effective alternative to hybrid sensors thanks to the possibility to exploit the existing commercial CMOS production processes for the sensor fabrication [11]-[13]. The price to pay for this technology is the trade off in the sensor and electronics optimization. Namely, there exist contrasting requirements in terms of silicon substrate resistivity in order to reach the best performance for both the electronics and the sensing element. Moreover, a second thing to take into account is the need to deplete the substrate volume applying in many cases a high voltage bias to the sensor substrate. This voltage can be in the order of tens or hundreds of V depending on the substrate thickness and resistivity. Since the transistors of commercial CMOS electronics work usually at 1.2V or 3.3V, special solutions have been designed in order to shield the electronics and decouple it from the electrode where the bias voltage is applied. Monolithic sensors with depleted substrate thicknesses up to several hundreds of micrometers have been demonstrated in [14]-[16]. A third challenge is related to the maximization of the detector fill factor due to the unavoidable amount of space occupied from the embedded electronics, which could lead to a significant decrease in the chip total

active area.

The existing detector technologies can be also subdivided on the basis of the charge collection mechanism that is mainly exploited. In the so-called fully depleted sensors, the applied reverse bias voltage, called full depletion voltage, is high enough so that the space charge region covers the whole detector active volume. As a consequence, the generated charges are collected by drift and the resulting signals show fast collection dynamics with most of the charge collected within tens of ns or less [17]–[21]. The TJ-Monopix, the LF-Monopix and the AR-CADIA Main Demonstrator chips represent some examples of fully depleted MAPS, which are able to collect the generated charges by drift mechanism working in fully depletion condition [22]-[24]. On the contrary, when the applied reverse voltage is lower than the full depletion voltage, the charge collection speed is limited from the slower charge transport by diffusion in the non-depleted sensor volume. An example of this sensor type is the ALPIDE chip that has been selected for the ALICE ITS (Inner Tracking System) upgrade to cover with monolithic pixels a total area around 10 m^2 [25].

Finally, it is possible to distinguish between detectors with or without internal gain. Detectors with internal gain take advantage of the impact ionization mechanism leading to the avalanche multiplication of the charge carriers inside the detector substrate. The avalanche multiplication in an avalanche photodiode (APD) can take place when the electric field inside the detector material exceeds locally a threshold value. This value should be high enough to guarantee that the accelerated carrier has the energy needed to create a new e^--h^+ pair colliding with an orbital electron and breaking its bound. The charges generated from the first impact ionization are accelerated from the electric field as well and undergo the same process generating a new couple of e⁻-h⁺ pairs, leading to a chain reaction for the charge multiplication. According to [26], the minimum electric field needed to trigger the avalanche multiplication is in the order of $2-5 \times 10^5$ [V/cm] for silicon detectors. The ionization rates of electrons and holes in silicon, representing the number of e⁻-h⁺ pairs created per μ m traveled in the high field region, are both dependent on the electric field intensity, with the former showing an higher value than the latter considering the same electric field value. The gain provided by an avalanche detector can vary from a few units or tens of units to several million units. Namely, there are different operating conditions for radiation detectors working in avalanche mode. If the maximum gain value is limited in the order of some tens, corresponding to the nearly linear avalanche multiplication region, which is associated to applied bias voltages lower than the breakdown voltage, the avalanche detectors are called Low Gain Avalanche Diodes (LGADs) [27], [28]. Instead, when the applied bias voltage exceeds the breakdown voltage, an APD works in Geiger-mode condition, reaching high gain values that tend ideally to infinity. APDs working in Geiger-mode are commonly called Single Photon Avalanche Diodes (SPADs) and are usually employed in applications which require extreme sensitivity like single photon counting in the measurements of fluorescence lifetimes. Silicon Photon Multipliers (SiPMs) represent a special type of SPAD with a structure segmented in an array of micro-SPAD connected in parallel that can be used to determine the number of photons incident on the SPAD area [29]. In SiPMs, the number of photons incident on the SiPM matrix can be determined from the total collected current that is proportional to the number of micro-SPADs that are triggered from photons incident on their areas.

During the last two decades several projects were committed with the development of APD for light detection employing standard CMOS commercial technologies [28], [30]–[32]. Taking inspiration from this concept, in the last few years there were attempts to integrate a gain layer inside a MAPS structure designed for radiation imaging in order to take advantage of the characteristics of both technological solutions obtaining a cost effective detector with integrated electronics and gain amplification [33], [34]. This approach is considered a promising candidate for the new generation of sensors that will be employed in timing applications e.g. 4D particle track reconstruction in particle collider experiments.

1.4 Detectors Figures of Merit (FoM)

Looking at the characteristic parameters and FoM of a device represents a common way to evaluate its performance in comparison to the existing alternatives. Therefore, some common metrics used to describe the performance of a silicon detector will be presented in this section. As previously mentioned, reaching a low Equivalent Noise Charge (ENC) or equivalently a high SNR, larger than 10 for most applications, is commonly one of the main targets when designing a new device. The SNR can be expressed through eq. 1.4 as the ratio between the voltage amplitude V_{out} at the detector output, once that the signal has been amplified and conditioned in the preamplifier and shaping amplifier stages, and the related Root Mean Squared (RMS) output voltage noise $v_{n_{RMS}}$.

$$\frac{S}{N} = \sqrt{\frac{V_{out}^2}{v_{n_{RMS}}^2}}$$
(1.4)

Considering the signal chain of a simplified detector system that, according to [35]–[37], can be schematically represented by a sensing element, a preamplifier and a shaper, the output voltage amplitude can be computed starting from the collected charge Q, obtained by integrating the detector signal I_{det} for a given integration time t_{int}.

$$Q(t) = \int_0^{t_{int}} I_{det}(t) dt \qquad (1.5)$$

Most of the detector front-end designs exploit a charge sensitive amplifier (CSA) as input stage, which can be schematically represented as an active integrator, able to provide an output voltage $V_{pre_{OUT}}$ equal to the ratio between the charge at the preamplifier input Q_{IN} and the preamplifier feedback capacitance C_{fb} . Exceptions are represented from the ALPIDE and ARCADIA front-end architectures, where the signal is integrated on the detector input capacitance and the resulting output voltage is fed to a voltage amplifier.

In the following equations, the charge at the CSA input Q_{IN} is assumed to be equal to the total charge collected from the detector Q under the hypothesis that the effective capacitance at the preamplifier input equal to the product of C_{fb} with the premplifier gain is much larger than the detector capacitance [36].

$$V_{\rm pre_{OUT}} = \frac{Q_{\rm IN}}{C_{\rm fb}} = Q_{\rm IN} \times A_{\rm pre}$$
(1.6)

The previous equation describes the behavior of an ideal charge sensitive preamplifier having an infinite feedback resistor $R_{\rm fb}$, which makes its contribution negligible in the gain computation, and therefore represents an approximation of the transfer function able to describe the actual behavior of a real CSA.

Considering the shaper transfer function H_{shaper} , the output voltage at the end of the signal chain V_{OUT} can be computed
through eq. 1.7.

$$V_{OUT} = V_{pre_{OUT}} \times H_{shaper} = \frac{Q_{IN}}{C_{fb}} \times H_{shaper}$$
 (1.7)

The RMS output voltage noise $v_{n_{RMS}}$ is usually treated as the sum of three different noise contributions which are the 1/f noise, the parallel noise and the series noise, respectively. The 1/f noise results from the trapping and detrapping mechanism of the charge carriers and is usually related to the presence of defects at the surface of the MOSFETs which are used in the different amplification stages. Considering its frequency content through the Power Spectral Density (PSD), this noise contribution can be expressed using eq. 1.8,

$$\mathbf{v}_{1/f_{\rm RMS}} = \sqrt{\frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} \mathbf{S}_{1/f}(\omega) \, \mathbf{A}_{\rm pre}^2 \, |\mathbf{H}_{\rm shaper}(\mathbf{j}\omega)|^2 \, \mathrm{d}\omega} \quad (1.8)$$

where $S_{1/f}(\omega)$ is the PSD of the 1/f noise and A_f is the 1/f noise coefficient

$$S_{1/f}(\omega) = \frac{A_f}{\omega} \,. \tag{1.9}$$

In an analogous way, the parallel noise contribution $v_{I_{RMS}}$ can be computed from its PSD S_I using eq. 1.10.

$$v_{I_{RMS}} = \sqrt{\frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} \frac{S_I}{\omega^2 C_T^2} A_{pre}^2 |H_{shaper}(j\omega)|^2 d\omega} \quad (1.10)$$

The parallel noise contribution can be seen as a white current noise source in parallel with the amplifier input, having an equivalent total leakage current I_L . This noise component, commonly called shot noise, is related to the charge quantization, to the dielectric losses and to the presence of the feedback resistance in the charge preamplifier [38] and its PSD is usually expressed as

$$S_{I} = q I_{L} + b_{f} \omega. \qquad (1.11)$$

Finally, the third noise contribution represents the noise component in series with respect to the preamplifier input $v_{V_{RMS}}$, that can be modeled as a series voltage noise source.

$$v_{V_{RMS}} = \sqrt{\frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} S_V A_{pre}^2 |H_{shaper}(j\omega)|^2 d\omega} \qquad (1.12)$$

The PSD of $v_{V_{RMS}}$ is inversely proportional to the transconductance of the transistor at the preamplifier input and directly proportional to the temperature and to an empirical coefficient α that depends on the device characteristics and belongs to the range [0.7, 1] for MOSFETs or to the range [0.5, 0.7] for JFETs [38], [39].

$$S_{V} = \alpha \frac{2kT}{g_{m}} \,. \tag{1.13}$$

The Equivalent Noise Charge (ENC) can be alternatively used to express the noise performance of a detector. Namely, it is strictly related to the SNR since it is defined as the minimum number of charges that need to be collected in order to guarantee an SNR equal to 1.

Considering the hypothesis of the abrupt p-n junction model, the extent of the space charge region (SCR) in the detector substrate can be easily estimated using eq. 1.14,

$$d = \sqrt{\frac{2\varepsilon_s}{q} \left(\frac{1}{N_A} + \frac{1}{N_D}\right) \left(\Psi_0 - V_{Bias}\right)}, \qquad (1.14)$$

where Ψ_0 represents the built-in potential and N_A and N_D are the concentrations of ionized acceptors and ionized donors, respectively.

The thickness of the depleted region is inversely proportional to the detector capacitance 1.15 and thus, since the detector capacitance influences both the noise and the charge collection dynamics, the previous equation is commonly employed to have a first indication of the voltage bias V_{bias} to be applied to guarantee the optimal depletion depth.

$$C_{det} = \frac{\epsilon_s}{d} \tag{1.15}$$

For spectroscopy application the detector energy resolution is another fundamental metric since this application requires to precisely measure the energy spectrum of an incident radiation. The detector ability to discriminate between different radiations with similar energies represents its energy resolution. The output of an ideal spectroscopy detector should

provide a single impulse on the charge histogram, if the incident radiation is produced from a mono-energetic source. However, due to their statistical nature, the generation of e^--h^+ pairs inside the detector material and the electronics noise cause fluctuations in the amplified signals and, as a consequence, the resulting output spectrum of a spectroscopy detector shows a distribution of events around the peak mean value also for a mono-energetic radiation source having a specific energy (E). In X-ray spectroscopy, the statistical variation of the generated e⁻-h⁺ pairs can be described using a Poisson statistics with a correction term called Fano factor (F) that should be taken into account to match the experimental results. Usually, the intrinsic energy resolution is defined as the Full Width at Half Maximum $(FWHM_{lb})$ of the Gaussian shape representing the detector line broadening. Therefore, considering its standard deviation $\sigma_{\rm lb}$, that is proportional to the square root of the average number of generated e⁻-h⁺ pairs N and the needed correction term F, the energy resolution can be expressed with eq. 1.16, where E_i is the ionization energy [2].

$$FWHM_{lb} = 2.35 \cdot \sigma_{lb} = \frac{dE}{E} \cdot N \cdot \sigma_{lb}$$
(1.16)

with

$$\frac{\mathrm{dE}}{\mathrm{E}} = 2.35 \cdot \sqrt{\mathrm{F}\frac{\mathrm{E}_{\mathrm{i}}}{\mathrm{E}}} \tag{1.17}$$

In addition to this component, the detector energy resolution is affected from the noise associated to the detector electronics and the charge collection efficiency as well. Therefore, the actual FWHM corresponding to its energy resolution can be computed as the quadrature sum of the FWHM associated to the different noise contributions.

Talking about photodetectors, the quantum efficiency represents another relevant FoM, describing the ratio between the photo-generated electrons and the number of photons incident on the device. The counting efficiency can be considered the equivalent FoM for particle detectors, representing the ratio between the number of incident particles revealed by the detector and the number of incident particle emitted by the radioactive source. In photodetectors for visible, IR and NUV radiation, eq. 1.18 is commonly employed to estimate the quantum efficiency η as a function of the detector responsivity R, which is defined as the ratio between the photogenerated current (I_{ph}) and the incident optical power (P_{opt}). The remaining terms in the equation represent the photon wavelength λ , the speed of light c, the electron elemental charge q and the Plank constant h.

$$\eta = \frac{\frac{l_{\rm ph}}{q}}{\frac{P_{\rm opt}\lambda}{hc}} = R\frac{hc}{\lambda q}$$
(1.18)

The quantum efficiency depends on different factors that are influenced by the detector design, which are the transmission efficiency, the absorption efficiency and the collection efficiency, respectively. The transmission efficiency measures the amount of photons that are able to reach the detector active volume, crossing the passivation and Anti Reflective Coating (ARC) layers that are usually included on top of the detector optical window surface. The fraction of photons that are absorbed in the detector material represents the absorption efficiency of the detector. Finally, the collection efficiency can be measured as the fraction of photo-generated e^--h^+ pairs that are collected at the detector electrodes and, therefore, takes into account the recombination and trapping mechanism occurring inside the detector material.

The dark current I_{dark} in a reverse biased p-n junction can be computed as the sum of two different contributions related to the thermal generation in the depleted volume J_{gen} and to the diffusion of the free carriers coming from the neutral regions in the surroundings J_{diff} . Usually, the major contribution comes from the thermal generation for silicon detectors and can be estimated using eq. 1.19, where d is the width of the detector depletion region, n_i is the intrinsic concentration of free carriers and τ_0 is the mean carrier lifetime.

$$J_{gen} = qd \frac{n_i}{2\tau_0}$$
(1.19)

Minimizing this current contribution is essential to limit both the noise floor of the detector and increase its SNR as well as to decrease the static power consumption of the device and, thus, avoid possible thermal heating issues and fulfill the requirement related to the finite energy availability typical of space applications.

Talking about detectors for timing applications, the charge collection time $\tau_{\rm cc}$ and the timing resolution $\sigma_{\rm t}$ become the most relevant FoM. The time constant of the detector can be estimated from eq. 1.20 as the quadrature sum of three different contributions $\tau_{\rm drift}$, $\tau_{\rm diff}$ and $\tau_{\rm RC}$.

$$\tau_{\rm cc} = \sqrt{\tau_{\rm drift}^2 + \tau_{\rm diff}^2 + \tau_{\rm RC}^2} \tag{1.20}$$

 $\tau_{\rm drift}$ represents the time needed from the generated charges to travel in the depletion region, which can be computed as a first approximation using eq. 1.21.

$$\tau_{\rm drift} = \frac{\rm d}{\rm v_d} = \frac{\rm W^2}{\mu \rm V_{\rm Bias}} \ge \frac{\rm d}{\rm v_{\rm d_{sat}}}$$
(1.21)

The diffusion time of the charges generated in the non depleted region can be instead estimated from eq. 1.22, where D stands for the diffusion coefficient. $\tau_{\rm diff}$ usually represents the main contribution responsible for the slow components in the signal dynamics associated to the signal tail.

$$\tau_{\rm diff} = \frac{d_{\rm undepleted}^2}{2D} \tag{1.22}$$

The last component is related the RC time constant associated to the detector capacitance C_{det} and to the load resistance R_L and can be computed using eq. 1.23.

$$\tau_{\rm RC} = 2.2 R_{\rm L} C_{\rm det} \tag{1.23}$$

The timing resolution of a detector becomes fundamental in specific applications e.g. 4D particle track reconstruction and Time of Flight (ToF) measurements, which require pileup rejection [40]. It depends both on the intrinsic timing characteristics of the sensors and on the time jitter associated to the readout electronics. In particular, the first term takes into account the fluctuations in the signal shape or, if present, in the detector gain as well as the contribution related to the unavoidable Landau fluctuations in the number of generated charges [41]. Common strategies to enhance the timing resolution of a silicon detector include the use of thin detector substrates in the order of few tens of micrometers trying at the same time to keep the pixel capacitance as low as possible to maintain a favorable SNR. However, thinner sensor substrates correspond to a lower number of generated charges leading to lower SNR. Decreasing the pixel dimension can be a strategy to decrease the C_{det} value but, at the same time, it leads to non-uniform weighting field and weighting potential resulting in a degraded charge collection speed. Attempts have been made to maximize the timing performance of MAPS with small electrodes for example using peculiar pixel layouts like in the Fastpix project [42]. Considering an internal amplification obtained by embedding a gain layer in the detector can be a possible solution to overcome the aforementioned limitation in terms of SNR given by the usage of thin substrates. Namely, some of the best results in terms of timing resolution obtained so far have been demonstrated by using LGADs [27], [40]. According to [43] the timing resolution of an LGAD can be computed as the quadrature sum of three terms representing the jitter, the time walk and the TDC binning (eq. 1.24).

$$\sigma_{\rm t} = \sqrt{\sigma_{\rm j}^2 + \sigma_{\rm tw}^2 + \sigma_{\rm TDC}^2} \tag{1.24}$$

Finally, for detector with internal amplification the provided gain value is one of the most relevant parameters. Usually, the detector gain can be evaluated as the ratio between the signal or the amount of charges collected from a device with internal gain layer and the corresponding one collected from a device without gain, considering the same active volume and the same illumination or irradiation conditions. Due to its relation with the electric field, the gain varies as a consequence of the applied voltage bias. TCAD simulations and experimental results have demonstrated the dependence of the LGAD gain on the amount of generated charges. Namely, the space charge effects related to higher carrier concentrations lead to a local weakening of the electric field peak in correspondence of the gain layer and thus to a decrease in the avalanche multiplication [44]. A similar effect can be noticed considering increasing radiation damage levels, which lead to a decrease in the gain value after the sensor irradiation in the same test conditions [45]–[47].

1.5 State-of-the-Art of MAPS

The scientific community is always at the search of novel solutions able to guarantee better detector performance in terms of radiation hardness, power consumption and collection dynamics and, at the same time, to decrease the fabrication costs exploiting the existing commercial electronics production processes. To this end, different collaborations have been involved with the development of MAPS based on different commercial CMOS processes with technology node size ranging from 350 nm [48] to the most advanced chip designed in a 65 nm CMOS technology [49]–[51]. Thanks to their growing TRL and their advantages in terms of production cost and bonding easiness, MAPS have started to replace hybrid pixels that have represented the state-of-the-art detectors in most radiation imaging applications for decades.

The most known examples of a MAPS currently employed in a large Physics experiment is the ALPIDE chip developed for the ALICE upgrade exploiting the 180 nm CMOS Imaging Sensor process of TowerJazz [25]. The ALPIDE modules are mounted in the ALICE detector Inner Tracking System covering a total area in the order of 10 m². Figure 1.5.1 represents a schematic cross section of an ALPIDE pixel, where the main sensor layout characteristics are depicted.



Figure 1.5.1: Schematic cross-section of an ALPIDE pixel.

The main advantages of this sensor are represented by the possibility to embed a full CMOS electronics, hosted in the frontside deep pwell implants, which shield the electronics from the high resistivity p-type epitaxial layer; by the lower production costs in comparison to the standard hybrid pixels and by its excellent spatial resolution in the order of 10 μ m. Moreover, its small collection electrode size enable to reach a low C_{det} ($\simeq 2.5$ fF @ -6V), which guarantees an excellent SNR. The embedded frontend electronics has been designed to be low power, reaching an overall power consumption in the order of less than 40 mW/cm². The main limitation of this device is the use of the diffusion mechanism to collect the charges generated in the thin epitaxial layer, which leads to slow collection times and, as a result, this device is forced to operate at maximum rates of few MHz. The second relevant issue is the limited radiation hardness of this sensor concept, which is able to withstand a maximum Non-Ionizing Energy Loss (NIEL) fluence only slightly higher than $10^{13} n_{eq}/cm^2$ with 1 MeV energy or a Total Ionizing Dose (TID) of 2700 krad [52].

The TJ-Monopix1 and TJ-Monopix2 represent CMOS sensors designed for the upgrade of the ATLAS ITS that can be seen as an evolution of the ALPIDE sensor since these chips are realized on the basis of the same 180 nm TowerJazz production process. In order to work in full depletion conditions, the TJ-Monopix chips have been designed employing a modified 180 nm TowerJazz Sensor Imaging process, which includes a low doped n-type layer under the pixel area [18], [53], [54]. This low doped layer enables to reach the full depletion of the p-type epitaxial substrate applying a small negative voltage bias to the sensor substrate in the order of -20V. A schematic cross section of this sensor concept is reported in Figure 1.5.2.

A full CMOS electronics is embedded in the frontside pwells and nwells, which are shielded from deep pwells in order to avoid competitive charge collection from the electronics nwells. Collecting the generated charges by drift, these devices are able to operate at much higher rates w.r.t. the ALPIDE chip. Namely, a detector operating frequency of 40 MHz can be achieved from these chips meeting the requirement set for the



Figure 1.5.2: Schematic cross-section of a TJ-Monopix chip having p-type epitaxial layer.

upgrade of the ATLAS ITS [55]. Moreover, the experimental results proved the radiation hardness of these sensor concepts, which proved a detection efficiency of 98.6% after an irradiation with a neutron fluence up to $10^{15}n_{eq}/cm^2$ for a TJ-Monopix2 chip with a high resistivity Czochralski substrate having 300 μ m thickness [23]. However, as a consequence of the layout with a small collection electrode size and due to the presence of the frontside deep pweel, the charge collection results slower at the pixel borders which feature low electric field regions. Special design solutions have been implemented to solve this issue including an additional p-implant below the deep pwell or a small gap in the n-type epitaxial layer between the collection electrodes to reshape the electric field lines at the pixel borders (see Figure 6.0.1).

The LF-Monopix1 and LF-Monopix2 chips have been instead fabricated exploiting the 150 nm CMOS production process of LFoundry [56] and the sensor layouts have been designed following an alternative approach based on the sensor concept proposed by Perić [48]. As can be seen in Figure 1.5.3, in these chips the nwells and the pwells, where the electronics is embedded, are realized inside a large nwell, which works also as collection electrode.



Figure 1.5.3: Schematic cross-section of a LF-Monopix pixel.

As a result, the layout of the sensors guarantees a larger fill factor and a more uniform electric field inside the sensor ptype substrate. At the same time, the design proved to guar-

antee an excellent radiation hardness in terms of TID and NIEL and the depletion of sensor substrates with thickness up to several hundreds of micrometers has been achieved. In particular, irradiation studies have been performed on the LF-Monopix1 chip using an x-ray tube and the JSI TRIGA reactor to reach a TID of 100 Mrad and a neutron fluence of $10^{15} n_{eq}/cm^2$, respectively. The experimental results showed an increase in the detector noise lower than 25% as a consequence of the TID and a hit detection efficiency higher than 99% for the considered NIEL [57]. The main drawbacks of this approach consist of the large sensor capacitance, which is related to the large collection electrode size, and of the possible interaction between the sensor and the embedded electronics. Moreover, the significantly larger pixel size leads to a worse position resolution w.r.t. the TJ-Monopix chips, which can be potentially employed in the same applications.

The Silicon On Insulator technology represents a third alternative, where two different substrates containing the sensing element and the frontend electronics are connected through a buried oxide layer [58]. Usually, the sensing element and the electronics are realized on a thick high resistivity silicon substrate and on a thin microelectronics grade silicon layer, respectively. This enables the independent optimization of both the sensor and the electronics and gives to the designers the opportunity to change the high resistivity substrate thickness depending on the requirements of the considered application, enabling the depletion of regions with thickness up to 500 μ m [59]. On the other hand, this sensor design implies some issues related to the accumulation of positive charges in the buried oxide after irradiation. According to [60] this effect becomes relevant for TID larger than a few hundred krad. To mitigate this effect, a thin silicon buried layer is included below the buried oxide layer and a second buried oxide layer is created below this additional silicon layer. Then, a voltage bias is applied to the buried Si layer in order to compensate the effect of the accumulated charges. This modification characterizes the sensors implemented in the Double-SOI technology, that is schematically represented in Figure 1.5.4.



Figure 1.5.4: Schematic cross-section of a Double-SOI sensor.

Moreover, a buried p-well is needed to shield the CMOS electronics due to the presence of a high voltage bias applied to the high resistivity substrate that can affect the threshold of the CMOS electronics and thus have a detrimental effect on the electronics performance. The need of these additional modifications to the standard CMOS production processes makes having cost effective production on a large scale difficult and, as a consequence, makes this approach less convenient from the economic point of view and similar to the expensive special technologies used to design the standard hybrid pixels.

A selection of relevant Figures of Merit has been reported in Table 1.1 to provide a comparison of the presented MAPS technologies. As shown in the Table, the size of the pixels included in the ARCADIA Main Demonstrator (MD) chip is in line with the ones employed in the most advanced MAPS prototypes. The 110 nm technology node of the CMOS electronics embedded in the MD chip is the smallest among the considered chips and one of the most advanced implemented in a large area MAPS prototype so far. The ARCADIA technology offers a wide range of active substrate thickness that can be properly fully depleted resulting in a versatile sensor that is suitable for several different applications. Exploiting the drift mechanism to collect the charges generated in the depleted active volume the collection time of the ARCADIA sensors ranges from a ten to about a hundred of nanoseconds depending on the considered substrate thickness. The MD chip has been designed to guarantee a radiation hardness in terms of TID and NIEL that is comparable with the ones of the ALPIDE and Double-SOI chips and, therefore, much lower

than the ones achieved by the TJ- and LF-Monopix2 chips. At the same time, the maximum event rate that the MD chip can withstand in the order of 100 MHz/cm² is slightly less than the rate guaranteed by the TJ- and LF-Monopix2 chips. According to the literature, the ALPIDE chip and the derived TJ-Monopix2 chip show exceptional performance in term of noise with a measured ENC lower than $10 e^-$ and, thus, represent currently the references used as term of comparison to evaluate the noise level of the other MAPS detectors.

	ALPIDE [25], [52], [61]	TJ- Monopix2 [23], [62]	LF- Monopix2 [23], [57]	Double- SOI [58], [59]	ARCADIA MD [24], [63], [64]
$\begin{array}{c} \text{Pixel} \\ \text{Size} \\ [\mu\text{m}] \end{array}$	28	33	50×150	18	25
CMOS Tech. [nm]	180	180	150	200	110
${ m t_{act}}{ m [\mu m]}$	~ 25	~ 25 or ~ 300	100 - 750	~ 300	48 - 500
Coll. Time [ns]	> 20	< 10	< 25	~ 150	$\sim 10 - 100$
TID [Mrad]	2.7	100	> 100	~ 10	~ 10
$\begin{array}{c} \text{NIEL} \\ \left[1 \text{MeV} \cdot \right. \\ \left. \frac{n_{\text{eq}}}{\text{cm}^2} \right] \end{array}$	$\sim 10^{13}$	$\sim 10^{15}$	$\sim 10^{15}$	-	$\sim 10^{13}$
Event Rate $\left[\frac{MHz}{cm^2}\right]$	< 10	> 100	> 100	-	~ 100
ENC $[e^-]$	< 10	< 10	~ 100	-	tbd

Table 1.1: State-of-the-Art MAPS main characteristics

Chapter 2

The ARCADIA project

The ARCADIA (Advanced Readout CMOS Architectures with Depleted Integrated sensor Arrays) project targeted the development of a novel platform for the design and fabrication of MAPS based on the commercial 110 nm CMOS production process of LFoundry [63]. The project has been founded by the Istituto Nazionale di Fisica Nucleare (INFN) - CSN5 and the ARCADIA collaboration included working groups from different INFN sections and Italian Universities. A detailed description of the contribution to the project provided by the different working groups can be found in [63], [65]. Exploiting the experience and the knowledge acquired with the previous SEED (Sensor with Embedded Electronics Development) project, the ARCADIA collaboration was able to deliver three different production runs, that have been designed, fabricated and tested between 2020 and 2023. The Sensor Design working group, including the TIFPA-UNITN and the INFN Torino groups, was in charge of the device electrical simulations used to design the sensing elements of the different ARCADIA active chips and of the passive test structures. Moreover, the Trento group had the task to perform the electrical and optical characterization of the passive test structures and the optical and functional characterization of the active COBRA chips.

The main derivable of the project was a pixelated monolithic CMOS sensor, realized in a commercial 110 nm CMOS technology with 1.2 V transistors, able to work in full depletion condition and thus to exploit the drift mechanism for the collection of the generated charges. The readout electronics is based on a scalable and modular architecture design and is able to operate in low power mode in order to meet the power consumption requirements needed in the low event rate and low power environment of space applications. Figure 2.0.1 shows the pixel layout, that is based on a small collection electrode realized with an n-type implant. A pwell and a deep pwell surround the n-type sensor and can host the embedded frontend electronics, shielding it from the sensor substrate.

The small dimension of the collection electrode and the full depletion of the substrate result in a small pixel capacitance value, which can potentially lead to an excellent SNR. Different nominal substrate thicknesses ranging from 48 μ m up to 200 μ m have been included in the produced wafers and the possibility to fully deplete substrates with 300 μ m thickness was experimentally proved measuring the IV characteristics of the test structures of the SEED project [16], [24]. While thinner substrates are required to speed up the charge collection and to maximize the timing performance of the device,



Figure 2.0.1: Schematic representation of a pixel array.

thicker substrates can provide a higher amount of generated charges when MIPs are crossing the detector and an enhanced efficiency which is required for the detection of X-rays with energies in the range from 1 to 20 keV. Wafers with two different substrate types and three different nominal thicknesses have been employed for the sensor production in the three engineering runs. Wafers characterized by an active region with a nominal thickness of 48 μ m were realized starting from p⁺ substrates, where a n-type epitaxial layer and a second n-type epitaxial layer with higher doping concentration were grown in sequence to create the active volume. Using high resistivity n-type substrates, sensors with two different active thicknesses equal to 100 and 200 μ m were realized. The former have a homogeneous p⁺ implantation on the backside surface created by laser annealing which forms the device pn junction, the latter needed a dedicated backside lithographic step in order to create the backside p^+ implants corresponding to the diode pn junction and the surrounding floating guard rings. The presence of the floating guard rings avoids issues related to the breakdown at the junction borders and thus enable the application of the negative voltage bias needed to deplete the substrate from the backside p-type contact. Namely, the guard rings lower the electric field peak located in correspondence of the junction border, reducing the gradients in the electrostatic potential.

2.1 Main Demonstrator and active chips

The wafer reticle (Figure 2.1.1) included several active detectors with embedded electronics as well as a group of passive test structures used to characterize the production process and arrays of pixels and strips with different pitch and layouts so as to evaluate their performance independently from the CMOS electronics.

Although the wafer reticle has been modified in the different engineering runs, two different versions of the main demonstrator chip with different electronics design were always present inside the reticle. The ARCADIA Main Demonstrator (MD) chip has been designed with an active matrix composed of a 512 × 512 pixels array with 25 μ m pixel pitch. This corresponds to an active area of the pixel matrix equal



Figure 2.1.1: ARCADIA wafer reticle floorplan (Courtesy of Marco Mandurrino).

to $1.28 \times 1.28 \text{ cm}^2$ with an integrated custom low power frontend electronics. The electronics has been designed to ensure the scalability of the sensor matrix up to a maximum size of 2048×2048 pixels. An analog front-end, a comparator and a digital readout circuitry have been included in the pixel and, in order to minimize the power consumption, a clock-less matrix with an event driven readout scheme has been envisaged. The chip is organized in 16 Sectors composed of 32×512 pixels with a dedicated serialiser and a custom LVDS transceiver for each Sector. Each Sector contains 16 Double Columns made of

 2×512 pixels, that can be further subdivided in 16 2×32 pixel Cores [66]. The chip can work selecting between two different electronics operating Modes called High Rate Mode, which enables to cope with a maximum event rate of 100 MHz/cm^2 targeting a maximum power consumption of 20 mW/cm^2 , and Low Rate Mode, which should further reduce the maximum power consumption to about 5 mW/cm^2 by switching off 15 out of 16 Sector serialisers and LVDS transceivers [67]. To ensure the lower power consumption, the second Mode implies a reduction of the maximum event rate that can be detected and processed from the chip to 10 MHz/cm^2 . Since the design of a full-custom electronics from scratch is extremely challenging, a few small issues have been noticed in the proper functionality of the MD chip produced in the first and second engineering run. As a consequence, the origins of these problems have been deeply investigated, detected and solved leading to a fully functional chip in the third production run that is currently under test (Figure 2.1.2).

Apart from the MD, several different active chips have been included in the wafer reticle of the different engineering runs. Two Mini Demonstrator (MiniD) chips having the same periphery and frontend electronics of the MD but a smaller pixel matrix have been produced as a backup chip, in case of critical problems in the MD chip design to still provide a chance to test the in-pixel and periphery electronics.

A group of 32 active microstrips with integrated electron-



Figure 2.1.2: ARCADIA Main Demonstrator picture [68].

ics was contained in the ASTRA-VI (Adaptable Space sTrip Readout ASIC) chip, which covers a total area of $16 \times 4 \text{ mm}^2$. Each strip column is composed of 2×256 pixel with 50 μ m pitch connected in parallel and is read out by a dedicated channel. The chip architecture allows to select between two different values for the channel gain and two different readout modes i.e. analog or digital. Four different peaking times between 1.5 μ s and 9 μ s can be selected in the RC-CR analog shaper depending on the needs of the considered application. Different versions of a simple fully depleted monolithic active sensor designed for brachytherapy composed of a pad diode with integrated electronics have been included in the wafer reticle of the three production runs. These chips called COBRA are characterized by a small total area of $1 \times 1 \text{ mm}^2$. Namely, the chips have been designed to be mounted on a prostate catheter that will be used to check the proper position and orientation of the radioactive seeds used in the brachytherapy treatment in order to ensure the delivery of the intended radiation dose, following the concept proposed in [69]. In a brachytherapy treatment a group of radioactive seeds, usually 125 I or 103 Pd, are directly placed inside the patient body near the target cancer cells, therefore a precise monitoring of the released dose is essential for the success of the medical treatment. In the first prototype (Figure 2.1.3) the sensor active region covers a total area of $460 \times 340 \ \mu\text{m}^2$ leaving the remaining space to the embedded electronics, composed of a dual gain frontend amplified and a buffer, and to the pads needed to apply the analog and digital voltage bias [70].



Figure 2.1.3: Picture of the silicon tile containing in the top section the ASTRA chip and in the bottom right corner the COBRA chips.

2.2 Passive Test Structures

A group of passive test structures has been included in two dedicated chips (Figure 2.2.1) in the first and second production runs and in a single chip in the third run to characterize the production process and evaluate the performance of the different pixel and strip layouts. Passive pixel arrays with the pixel n-type collection electrodes connected in parallel have been used to investigate the effect of different pixel layouts and pitches on the static IV and CV characteristics and on the charge collection dynamics. In an analogous way, an array of passive strips with different layout has been realized for the same purpose. Other test structures e.g. MOS capacitors and gated diodes have been used to get information on the concentration of charges in the passivation layer and on the surface generation velocity at the interface between the backside surface passivation layer and the silicon substrate. Backside diodes with different floating guard rings numbers have also been produced to determine the minimum guard ring number and the optimal guard ring pitch able to prevent the early breakdown of the backside junction.

Test structures with integrated gain layer have been designed and included in the third engineering run of the project targeting the possible use of MAPS with internal gain in timing applications. The design effort was supported from the ALICE 3 timing layers Working Group, in particular from INFN Torino



Figure 2.2.1: Picture showing the two chips containing the designed passive test structures highlighted with the red boxes.

and PoliTo, and the experimental results proved the feasibility of the gain layer integration inside the production process by a single process add-on. In the schematic cross section of a device with integrated gain layer reported in Figure 2.2.2, it is possible to notice that this layer has been realized by an additional p-type implantation below the n-type collection electrode.

The internal gain enables to increase the device SNR needed to improve the performance in terms of timing resolution. The targeted timing resolution for the ALICE Time of Flight layers is less than 20 ps and the required radiation hardness in terms



Figure 2.2.2: Schematic cross section of a monolithic LGAD.

of NIEL and TID is in the order of 10^{13} 1 MeV n_{eq} cm⁻² and 1 Mrad, respectively [71]. The study of the charge collection dynamics performed with TCAD simulations, lead to the choice of a large size of the pixel pads with two possible pixel layouts, squared $250 \times 250 \ \mu m^2$ or rectangular $250 \times 80 \ \mu m^2$ pixels, to guarantee a uniform electric field shape which enables to speed up the charge collection. In order to achieve the desired timing resolution, the performed TCAD and MonteCarlo simulations showed that substrates thicknesses lower than 50 $\ \mu m$ are needed. In the future production that will be dedicated to timing test structures for the ALICE 3 upgrade, the fore-

seen active substrate thicknesses will be in the order of 25 and $15\,\mu{\rm m}.$

Chapter 3

Introduction to TCAD simulations

Nowadays, almost every engineering project exploits Computer Aided Design (CAD) tools in the design phase to make savings in terms of time and economic resources. The use of this powerful tools enables the numerical solution of complex and non trivial engineering design problems, which in many cases cannot be solved analytically in a closed form, employing the principles of Finite Elements Modeling. However, despite their potentiality, these software should be used with care and only specifically trained users are able to fully exploit their capabilities. If the user is not aware of the physical principles at the base of the design problem, the CAD simulation may be set improperly leading to a misinterpretation of the obtained results or to the belief in the correctness of a completely wrong solution. This can lead to expensive and time consuming mistakes in the design phase that jeopardize the possible advantages of the CAD tool employment. Talking about bottom-up electronics design projects, the most common approach is the use of Technology CAD tools for the simulation of the actual device physical behavior on the basis of its layout and of the employed production process characteristics. In this way, it is possible to evaluate the dependence of the device performance on the design choices in terms of geometry and technology solutions without the need of testing an actual prototype. Moreover, exploiting a multi-parametric design approach, it is possible to get information on the most promising design solutions considering different combinations of the design parameters. Another common feature of TCAD software is the possibility to implement custom SPICE models reproducing the characteristics of the designed devices, which can be imported and employed in the simulations of complex circuits or electronics systems.

3.1 TCAD modeling principles

The Synopsys^(R) - SentaurusTM TCAD software has been employed to perform the electronics device simulations reported in this work. Most TCAD software follow a common procedure in the simulation definition that can be schematically described in the following steps:

• first of all, the geometry of the device structure has to be carefully defined. To this end, it is mandatory to assign the proper dimensions to the different doping regions, material layers and electrodes and to specify the values of the doping concentrations for the different regions. If needed, a TCAD software allows the definition and thus the modeling of the sequence of production process steps employed to create the device;

- once the device structure has been defined, it is mandatory to define a suitable mesh discretization for the simulation domain selecting the proper element dimensions and types;
- then, the physical models used in the simulations to describe the device behavior must be selected among the available ones or, alternatively, can be defined and implemented from scratch, if needed;
- afterwards, one should select the numerical methods needed to solve the discretized version of the equations describing the physical behavior of the device;
- employing the selected numerical method, a TCAD software computes the numerical solution of the aforementioned equations at the mesh nodes and, to guarantee the continuity of the computed solution, the program interpolates the nodal values inside each mesh element and between the neighboring elements on the basis of the chosen shape functions;
- finally, the obtained nodal values are saved in binary files, having the characteristic .tdr file extension in Sentaurus[™], which store also the information on the position

of the nodes and elements in the mesh. In an analogous way, at the end of each simulation step a set of output quantities related to the device electrodes can be stored in dedicated files, e.g. the .plt files in SentaurusTM, which represent the overall device behavior in terms of voltage, current and charges at the different electrodes.

In the following subsections the main step of this procedure will be explained in detail with reference to the specific characteristics of the SentaurusTM TCAD environment. To have a more detailed explanation of the software commands and characteristics, one can refer to [72].

3.1.1 Device structure and mesh definition

Defining the materials of the different device layers and assigning them the proper dimensions represents the first step in the device structure definition. Depending on the complexity of the device geometry, it is usually convenient to exploit potential symmetry planes or periodicity in the layout in order to reduce the size of the simulation domain and thus decrease the total simulation time. Moreover, if the device structure is characterized from a constant layout in one direction, like in the case of strip arrays, which present a constant geometry along the strip direction, it is convenient to reduce the simulation domain to a 2D case representing a slice of the device in the direction orthogonal to the strip length. Once defined the
overall sizes of the device structure, if specific production steps are needed to realize the device geometry, SentaurusTM allows the selection of the sequence of production process employed for the device creation. This feature results particularly useful in the design of Micro Electro-Mechanical Systems (MEMS), which require dedicated fabrication steps as the etching treatments for the creation of complex 3D geometries e.g. microcantilevers or thin membranes.

The following step in the simulation domain creation is usually related to the definition of the contact and doping region areas. In the case of 2D simulation domains, this corresponds to the definition of segments on the device surface where the electrodes will be placed or the ion implantations will be performed. Non contiguous segments can be assigned to the same electrode to simulate the connection to a common readout channel. Constant doping regions as well as 1Dand 2D-doping profiles, representing the concentration and spatial distribution of the chosen dopants, can be defined on the basis of the available built-in function already implemented in the software. Sentaurus[™] provides built-in Gaussian or Error Function functions to describe the doping profiles and allows also the implementation of custom analytic functions. Moreover, the doping profiles can be imported from external files, where the doping concentration are listed as a function of their depth w.r.t. the device surface. These files can be provided directly from the silicon foundries, which have commonly an excellent control on the dopant implantation. This fact is beneficial for the reliability of the simulation results since the simulated device structures can represent more precisely the fabricated ones.

Choosing the proper mesh to be applied to a simulation domain is one of the most relevant and tricky task in the definition of a TCAD simulation. Namely, the simulation time and computational resources required from a simulation are function of the total number of elements and nodes in the simulation domain mesh. Moreover, the accuracy of the simulation results is strictly related to the unavoidable error associated to the approximated numerical solution of the discretized equations describing the physical behavior of the device, which is also dependent on the mesh element size. Triangular elements and tetrahedral elements represent the default element types employed by Sentaurus^{\mathbb{M}} for the mesh generation in the 2D and 3D case, respectively. Usually, assigning a coarse general mesh to the whole simulation domain represents the first step in the mesh definition. Then, finer mesh refinements are assigned to specific regions of the device, where the element dimensions of the general coarse mesh would not be able to represent properly the device characteristics. This procedure enables to limit the total number of nodes and elements increasing the element and node densities only in the critical regions of the simulation domain. The mesh refinement regions are commonly selected on the basis of the following general criteria:

- regions characterized by high gradients in the electric field or by high electric field values;
- regions having high gradients in the doping concentration of the device material;
- regions showing high current densities;
- regions close to charge generation centers e.g. due to optical generation or charged particles incident on the simulation domain.

In Sentaurus^{\mathbb{M}} the minimum and maximum element sizes along the different directions are assigned to the general mesh and to the different refinement regions and additional specific rules can be defined and employed in the mesh generation. In the simulations described in the following chapter, a local mesh refinement based on doping concentration gradients was used. As a consequence, the element size decreases in correspondence of a sharp gradient in the doping concentration or, alternatively, the mesh is relaxed in regions with constant doping.

Once created a first tentative mesh on the basis of the aforementioned conditions, the mesh generator applies a Delaunay algorithm to the mesh draft to avoid the generation of critical mesh elements [73]. To this end, the algorithm evaluates the generated mesh elements trying to maximize the size of the smallest angle inside each mesh element. The algorithm considers the circumcircle of each triangular element in the 2D case or the circumsphere of each tetrahedron in the 3D case and accommodates the mesh so that only the nodes associated to the considered elements are contained inside the circumcircle or circumsphere. This enables to avoid the presence of critical centers within the generated mesh and thus improves the simulation robustness against non-convergence problems as well as the simulation results reliability.

3.1.2 Physical models and numerical methods

The definition of the physical models and numerical methods to be employed in the simulation usually follows the device structure creation and the mesh generation. TCAD simulations of semiconductor electronic devices are based on the solution of the semiconductor model equations, which are a combination of the Poisson, transport and continuity equations. The Poisson equation (eq. 3.1) expresses the relation of the electric field with the concentration of charge carriers inside the material in a mono-dimensional device case, which can be easily extended to the multidimensional case using eq. 3.2.

$$\frac{\partial^2 \Psi}{\partial x^2} = -\frac{q(N_D + p - N_A - n)}{\varepsilon_s}, \quad 1D \text{ case} \qquad (3.1)$$

$$abla^2 \Psi = -\frac{q(N_D + p - N_A - n)}{\varepsilon_s}, \quad \text{multi-D case}$$
(3.2)

In the previous equations Ψ stands for the electrostatic potential, ε_s for the silicon dielectric constant and N_A, N_D, p and n for the concentrations of ionized acceptors, of ionized donors, of holes and of electrons, respectively.

Different formulations for the transport equations are already implemented and thus available in SentaurusTM. The available models give the possibility to choose among the Boltzmann transport equations, Hydrodynamics equations, quantum approaches or the classical Drift-Diffusion model, which has been used in the performed simulations.

The Drift-Diffusion equations (eq. 3.3) describe the total electron (J_n) and hole (J_p) current densities as the sum of two different current components related to the drift and diffusion mechanisms. These relations can be extended to their multidimensional formulation (eq. 3.4), where μ_n and μ_p represent the electrons and holes mobility and D_n and D_p the electrons and holes diffusion coefficients.

$$\begin{cases} J_{n} = qn\mu_{n}E + qD_{n}\frac{\partial n}{\partial x} \\ J_{p} = qp\mu_{p}E - qD_{p}\frac{\partial p}{\partial x} \end{cases}, \text{ 1D case} \qquad (3.3) \\ \begin{cases} \mathbf{J}_{n} = qn\mu_{n}E + qD_{n}\nabla n \\ \mathbf{J}_{p} = qp\mu_{p}E - qD_{p}\nabla p \end{cases}, \text{ multi-D case} \qquad (3.4) \end{cases}$$

Finally, the continuity equations (eq. 3.5 for 1D and eq. 3.6 for multi-D cases) ensure the respect of the law of conservation of charges, that guarantees the balance between the input and output charge fluxes and the changes in the charge carrier concentrations inside the material. These equations take into account the contributions related to the external generation phenomena (G_{ext}) and to the net recombination rate R.

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\partial n}{\partial t} = G_{ext} - R + \frac{1}{q} \frac{\partial J_n}{\partial x} \\ \frac{\partial p}{\partial t} = G_{ext} - R - \frac{1}{q} \frac{\partial J_p}{\partial x} \end{cases}, 1D \text{ case} \qquad (3.5)$$
$$\begin{cases} \frac{\partial n}{\partial t} = G_{ext} - R + \frac{1}{q} \nabla J_n \\ \frac{\partial p}{\partial t} = G_{ext} - R - \frac{1}{q} \nabla J_p \end{cases}, \text{ multi-D case} \qquad (3.6)$$

The system of partial differential equations obtained by combining these three sets of equations enables the description of the electrical behavior of the simulated devices. However, the closed-form analytic solution of the problem can be obtained only in few simple cases with proper boundary conditions, thus requiring numerical approaches to get an approximated solution in most cases. The formulation of the Drift-Diffusion model implemented in the TCAD software relies on a discretized version of these equations that, applying a generalization of the finite difference method called box method, can be expressed through eq. 3.7, 3.8, 3.9 [74]–[77]. In the derived discretized equations, the partial time derivatives of the electrons and holes concentrations have been considered equal to zero and, therefore, this formulation does not hold for transient simulations, which have time dependent boundary conditions. Applying this method, the system of partial differential equation is transformed in a system of N algebraic equations having N+2 unknowns representing the nodal values of the elements in which the simulation domain is subdivided. The formal mathematical description of the box method and a more detailed explanation of this topic can be found in [74], [75], [77].

Figure 3.1.1 shows a schematic representation of a simulation domain detail, where a single box has been sketched on a group of neighboring triangular elements. Looking at the Figure, it is possible to find a visual representation of the apex and pedex notation employed in the discretized equations. Namely, the pedex i and the apex e refer to the i-th control region of the box method and to the e-th element of the mesh, respectively, and the pedex j represents the j-th node belonging to the considered e-th mesh element and contained in the i-th control region Λ_i . Moreover, this sketch enables to get an idea of the physical meaning of the t_{ij}^e and f_{ij}^e terms, which show up in the aforementioned equations.



Figure 3.1.1: Box region in a 2D mesh with triangular elements [78].

Looking in the details at the box method working principle, it is possible to notice that the derivatives are converted in the corresponding incremental ratios and the complex functions are approximated with numerical successions. The continuity of the obtained nodal solutions, representing the field variables, is guaranteed by using properly chosen shape functions, that interpolate the nodal values within each mesh element and among the neighboring elements.

$$\sum_{e \in element(\Lambda_i)} \varepsilon_s \left(\sum_{\substack{j \neq i \\ j \in vert(e)}} \frac{f_{ij}^e}{t_{ij}^e} \left(\Phi_i^e - \Phi_j^e \right) \right) + \Lambda_i^e q \left(n_i^e - p_i^e - N_i^e \right) = 0$$

$$(3.7)$$

$$\begin{split} \sum_{e \,\in\, element(\Lambda_i)} & \left(\sum_{\substack{j \,\neq\, i \\ j \,\in\, vert(e)}} \frac{f^e_{ij}}{t^e_{ij}} \left(n^e_i \,B(\Phi^e_i - \Phi^e_j) - n^e_j \,B(\Phi^e_j - \Phi^e_i) \right) \right) + \\ & + \Lambda^e_i \,q \left(R^e_i - G^e_i \right) = 0 \end{split} \tag{3.8}$$

$$\begin{split} \sum_{e \in element(\Lambda_i)} & \sum_{\substack{j \neq i \\ j \in vert(e)}} \frac{f_{ij}^e}{t_{ij}^e} \left(p_i^e B(\Phi_i^e - \Phi_j^e) - p_j^e B(\Phi_j^e - \Phi_i^e) \right) \right) + \\ & + \Lambda_i^e q \left(R_i^e - G_i^e \right) = 0 \end{split}$$

$$(3.9)$$

The Bernoulli function B(x) (eq. 3.10) applied to the electrostatic potential Φ has been employed to simplify the notation in the previous equations.

$$B(x) = \frac{x}{e^{x} - 1},$$
 (3.10)

Since the system results undetermined, having a number of unknowns greater than the number of derived algebraic equations, boundary conditions are needed to decrease the number of unknowns and, thus, get a numerical solution of the system at the element nodes. The Dirichlet and Von Neumann boundary conditions represent the two different families of boundary conditions that can be imposed to the problem [76]. The former set a specific condition on the semiconductor potential at the contact surfaces Φ_s , which is assumed to be equal to the external applied voltage V_{ext} and thus representing an Ohmic contact (3.11).

$$\Phi_{\rm s} = V_{\rm ext} \tag{3.11}$$

The latter prevent the flow of any current component in the direction normal to the device surfaces (N) and, as a consequence, are also known as reflective boundary conditions, which can be expressed in terms of the electrons (J_n) and holes (J_p) current densities by eq. 3.12.

$$\begin{cases} J_n \cdot N = 0 \\ J_p \cdot N = 0 \end{cases}$$
(3.12)

Usually, iterative Newton based solvers are employed to obtain the numerical solution of the system of equations on the basis of the imposed boundary conditions [79], but there is also the possibility to choose a different numerical method among a set of available algorithms already implemented in the software. Common parameters that can be modified to control the numerical methods are the maximum number of solver iterations that the algorithm is allowed to perform before changing the step size or the number of iterations which triggers the modification of the Newton based solver on the base of the Rose-Bank damping scheme [79], [80]. The size of the relative error, which is related to the solution accuracy, represents another control parameters, whose modification acting on the number of precision digits influences the convergence rate of the solution as well.

In the performed simulations, the Shockley-Read-Hall (SRH) model has been employed to describe the trap assisted generation and indirect recombination effects inside the detector material [81], [82]. According to the model, the traps induce the presence of additional energy levels in the band gap between valence and conduction bands, where the charge carriers can recombine following an indirect process and thus release thermal energy in the form of phonons resulting in lattice vibrations. Eq. 3.13 represents the relation between the net generation-recombination rate and the carrier concentrations and carrier lifetimes (τ) .

$$R_{SRH} = \frac{np - (n_i)^2}{\tau_p(n + n_I) + \tau_n(p + p_I)}$$
(3.13)

The terms n_i , n_I and p_I , employed in the previous equation, represent the intrinsic carrier density and the electrons and holes concentrations associated to a trap energy equal to E_t . These concentrations can be described by eq. 3.14 and 3.15 according to [74].

$$n_I = n_i \, e^{\frac{E_t - E_i}{kT}} \tag{3.14}$$

$$p_{I} = n_{i} e^{\frac{E_{i} - E_{t}}{kT}}$$
(3.15)

The doping dependence of the carrier lifetimes has been considered in the simulations using a modified version of the Scharfetter relation, which can be expressed by eq. 3.16 according to [83], [84].

$$\tau = \tau_{\min} + \frac{\tau_{\max} - \tau_{\min}}{1 + \left(\frac{N_{A} + N_{D}}{N_{ref}}\right)^{\beta}}$$
(3.16)

Several built-in models are available to describe the dependence of the electron and hole mobility on the total concentration of dopants and on the temperature variation [85], [86]. For example, eq. 3.17 represents the relation describing the dependence of the carrier mobility on the total concentration of dopants (N_{tot}) according to the Arora model [85].

$$\mu_{n,p} = \mu_{n,p_{\min}} + \frac{\mu_{n,p_0}}{1 + \left(\frac{N_{tot}}{N_0}\right)^{\alpha}}$$
(3.17)

In this model the values of $\mu_{n,p_{min}}$, μ_{n,p_0} , N₀ and α show a non-linear dependence on the temperature variation according to eq. 3.18, thus representing the empirical relation describing the mobility variation as a function of the temperature.

$$\mathbf{x}(\mathbf{T}) = \mathbf{x}(300\mathrm{K}) \left(\frac{\mathrm{T}}{300}\right)^{\beta}$$
(3.18)

The tunneling effect has been also considered including, among the different available models [87]–[89], the one described by Fowler and Nordheim in [87], which can be summarized in eq. 3.19, where c_1 and c_2 represent tabulated experimental coefficients and E is the electric field at the pn junction.

$$J_{tun} = c_1 E^2 e^{-\frac{c_2}{E}}$$
(3.19)

The presence of charge multiplication and of the possible breakdown of the junction has been included in the simulations. Two models, the van Overstraeten–de Man and the Okuto–Crowell, have been tested and compared in order to determine the most reliable one in predicting the actual breakdown voltage of the designed devices [90], [91].

Models specifically implemented for describing the optical generation and the e^-h^+ pairs generation due to the silicon interaction with different radiation types are available in the software. Therefore, these models have been exploited to predict the sensor response in different illumination condition and its possible interaction with different charged particle types. In the optical simulations, a light pulse from a monochromatic source was employed to evaluate the charge collection dynamics of sensors with different pixel pitches, pixel layouts and substrate thicknesses. The obtained results have been compared with the experimental measurements performed in an optical setup with a near-IR or a red laser source with 1060 nm and 660 nm wavelength, respectively. The optical characteristics of the monochromatic source were specified in term of optical power, shape and sizes of the illumination window and temporal characteristics of the light pulse.

On the other hand, the presence of an incident charged particle was used to predict the sensor response to an external particle flux. The employed model enabled to define the amount of e^--h^+ pairs deposed along the particle track per unit of path length inside the detector material. Dedicated features of the model were available to control the dimension of the radius of the cylindrical volume around the particle track, where the charges were generated, and thus to monitor the spreading of the generated electron cloud, as well as to define the position of incidence of the particle on the simulation domain and the particle track direction. The Linear Energy Transfer (LET) between the particle and the detector material was set to be constant along the particle track, modeling the charge deposition of different particles ranging from Minimum Ionizing Particles to heavy ions.

The radiation hardness of the designed sensors has been evaluated employing the so-called New-Perugia model that has been implemented from scratch in the TCAD software and tuned on the basis of the experimental results [67], [92], [93]. Both the bulk damage specified in terms of Non Ionizing Energy Loss (NIEL) and the surface damage represented by Total Ionizing Dose (TID) have been considered and evaluated for the different layouts and pitches.

Chapter 4

ARCADIA test structures

4.1 TCAD simulations

TCAD design principles Following the illustrated in Chapter 3, preliminary simulations have been performed before submitting the final wafer reticle to the foundry. In this way, only the active and passive structures with the most promising layouts were fabricated and then tested experimentally. This step enabled to spare resources from the economical point of view and, at the same time, allowed the reduction of the total amount of time spent in the experimental characterization of the produced devices, testing only a subset of the possible strip and pixel layouts and pitches. In particular, these layouts were selected on the basis of the following evaluation criteria: the minimization of the pixel or strip capacitance, the optimization of the timing performance and the expected radiation hardness estimated on the basis of the employed radiation damage model. The results of the TCAD simulations performed to determine the optimal pixel and strip layouts for the three considered pitches equal to 50, 25 and 10 μm were reported in [24], [67], [78] and in [94], respectively.

First of all, simulations with 2D domains were performed to get a preliminary fast evaluation of the considered layouts. Namely, the use of simplified 2D domains, representing a cross section of the device along a cut plane parallel to the device thickness, allows the allocation of a limited amount of computation resources thanks to the usually lower total number of mesh elements and nodes in comparison to whole 3D simulation domains. However, this fact represents at the same time a limit to the reliability of the simulation results since possible 3D-related spatial effects are neglected or badly modeled. As a consequence, simulations on complete 3D domains have been performed as well in all the cases when the accuracy of 2D simulations could result too poor. The results presented in the following Sections refer to simulations in which a temperature of 300 K has been considered, if not stated otherwise.

4.1.1 IV and CV

As a rule of thumb, preliminary 2D simulations followed by more accurate 3D simulations have been used to evaluate the punch through V_{PT} and full depletion V_{depl} voltages and the pixel or strip capacitance C_{pix} from the obtained IV and CV characteristics, respectively. Simulations in quasi-stationary regime have been used to estimate the IV characteristics of the considered pixel pitches and layouts acting on multiple design parameters like the substrate and epitaxial layer thicknesses and doping concentrations [67], [78], [94]. In these simula-

tions a small voltage unbalance equal to 10 mV was applied between the collection electrodes of two neighboring pixels, see Figure 4.1.1, in order to enable a current flow between the two n-type electrodes. A negative voltage sweep was applied to the backside p-type electrode (V_{bias}) to gradually deplete the sensor substrate until the full depletion was reached. Finally, the internal pwell contact was set to 0 V and used as ground reference. V_{PT} and V_{depl} represent the upper and lower voltage limits in the definition of the operating voltage range ΔV of the designed pixels. In particular, the extracted full depletion voltage corresponds to the voltage bias at which the n-type collection electrodes become isolated due to the space charge region growing from the sensor backside which chokes the conductive path between the needle. Instead, the punch through voltage represents the bias voltage able to reduce the potential barrier between the frontside and backside p-type implants and thus enabling the flow of a hole current. Looking at the simulated pwell and n-type collection electrode currents displayed in Figure 4.1.1, it has been possible to estimate V_{PT} and V_{depl} , taking as a reference the dips in the curves associate to the change of sign in the pwell and nwell current, respectively. In the graph it is possible to notice the effect of the voltage applied to the collection electrode (V_n) on the extracted value of the full depletion voltage, which decreases for increasing V_n values. The simulations proved that at the foreseen operating voltage V_n equal to 0.8 V, the punch through voltage occurs at higher $\rm V_{bias}$ w.r.t. the full depletion voltage.



Figure 4.1.1: Simulated IV characteristics of 25 μ m pixels with 100 μ m active thickness for different V_n values. The results refer to TCAD simulations performed on 3D domain composed by two pixel halves.

The preliminary simulation predicted a different operating voltage range for the pixel arrays with 10 μ m pixels with respect to the pixel arrays with 25 and 50 μ pixels [67]. As a consequence, the passive pixel arrays with the 10 μ m pixel layouts have been included on a different test chip in order to avoid possible issue related to the application of the backside voltage bias. Namely, the punch through voltage of the pixel arrays with larger pitches was in most cases lower than the full depletion voltage of the 10 μ m pixel arrays.

The pixel CV characteristics were estimated through small signal AC analysis performed in mixed mode TCAD simu-

lations, where the device nodes have been connected in a SPICE-like netlist [72]. 3D domains composed of a single pixel with an oxide layer included on top of the pixel frontside have been employed in these simulations, considering an initial concentration of positive charges at the Si-SiO₂ interface equal to 6.5×10^{10} cm⁻² before irradiation, chosen according to the Hamamatsu parametrization described in the "new Perugia model" [64], [67], [95]. A fixed negative voltage bias greater than V_{depl} was applied to the backside electrode and, at the same time, a voltage sweep was applied to the frontside internal pwell thus changing the extension of the depletion region inside the epitaxial layer [95]. An example of the CV curves obtained from the simulations of three different pixel layouts is shown in Figure 4.1.2.



Figure 4.1.2: Simulated and measured pixel capacitance as a function of the frontside pwell voltage for 50 μ m pixels with different pixel layouts and 48 μ m active thickness.

In these curves it is possible to observe a plateau for applied pwell voltages greater than 1 V, that is linked to the full depletion of the epitaxial layer. A good agreement for bias voltages larger than 0.5 V was found between the simulated and measured pixel capacitance values, proving the reliability of the models employed in the design phase. As expected, larger capacitance values were obtained for the pixel layout characterized by larger collection electrode size and smaller gap between the frontside nwell and pwell.

4.1.2 Radiation hardness

The evaluation of the foreseen radiation hardness for the different pixel layouts to a Total Ionizing Dose up to 1000 Mrad has been performed through simulations on 3D domains, where the radiation damage model known as "new Perugia model" was implemented. The same passivation layer composed of silicon dioxide considered also in the aforementioned CV simulations was included on top of the simulation domains to take into account its effects on the pixel capacitance and the dark current values due to the accumulation of positive charges at the interface between silicon and silicon dioxide for increasing TID values [67]. Figure 4.1.3 shows the simulated CV characteristic of a 50 μ m pixel with standard pixel layout and 50 μ m substrate thickness for increasing TID values. In these simulations a voltage sweep between 0 and -45 V was applied to the pixel backside electrode to observe the variation in

the pixel capacitance for increasing bias voltages. In the plot, it is possible to observe the increase in the pixel capacitance related to the accumulation of positive oxide charges at the Si-SiO₂ interface. An initial small concentration of acceptor and donor trap states equal to 2×10^9 cm⁻² was included in the simulations to account for possible recombination centers at the detector material interface. Moreover, the employed "new Perugia" model considered also the non ionizing radiation damage occurring in the silicon bulk introducing three trap levels in the silicon bandgap [67].



Figure 4.1.3: Pixel capacitance for different TID levels for a 50 μ m pixel with 50 μ m active thickness. Picture from [67] (CC BY 4.0).

4.1.3 Backside junction terminations

The backside termination structures needed to guarantee the possibility to apply the negative bias voltage to the backside electrode avoiding the breakdown at the junction borders have been designed exploiting 2D simulation domains with 300 μ m substrate thickness and variable guard ring number and guard ring pitch [16]. These simulations enabled to determine the minimum floating guard ring number and the optimal guard ring pitch able to prevent the breakdown of the junction for applied bias voltages lower than the foreseen operating voltage range. The cross section of a 2D simulation domain, together with the associated electric field and electrostatic potential profiles is reported in Figure 4.1.4 [16]. In the cross section, the blue regions represent the p-type implants of the backside diode p-n junction and of the surrounding floating guard rings, while the low doped n-type silicon substrate and the passivation layer are shown in green and light blue, respectively. Three different concentrations of positive charges at the interface between silicon and the passivation layer made of silicon dioxide equal to 0.5, 1 and $2 \times 10^{12} \,\mathrm{cm}^{-2}$ have been considered in the performed simulations to ensure the reliability of the termination structures for different oxide charge concentrations. According to the mean value extracted from the measurements performed on a group of process control structures, a surface generation velocity in the order of 200 cm/s at the interface between silicon and silicon dioxide has been included in the simulations. Finally, metal field plates were included on top of the floating guard rings to smooth out the local peaks in the electric field and thus guarantee an higher breakdown voltage [16]. A comparison between the breakdown voltages predicted from TCAD simulations and the actual values obtained from the experimental measurements on a group of backside diodes with variable guard ring number and pitch will be presented in the following Section.



Figure 4.1.4: (a) Cross section of a 2D simulation domain showing the designed guard ring structure. (b) Electrostatic potential profile. (c) Electric field profile. Picture from [16] (CC BY 4.0).

4.1.4 Transient simulations with charged particles

The evaluation of the charge collection dynamics of the devices has been performed by mean of transient simulations on 3D domains or, if possible, 2D domains with cylindrical coordinates. 3D multi-pixel domains have been employed to evaluate the charge sharing between neighboring pixels and possible blooming effects associated to the voltage drop at the collection electrodes concurring to the collection of the deposed charges. In particular, the planes of symmetry in the pixel matrix were exploited to decrease the total simulation domain size and thus to reduce the simulation time in the transient simulations performed on large multi-pixel domains. The charge sharing among neighboring pixels was evaluated for increasing Linear Energy Transfer (LET) values of the incident charge particle and three increasing substrate active thicknesses equal to 50, 100 and 300 μ m. In the computation of the cluster size, a threshold corresponding to 10% of the charge deposed from a MIP in an equivalent silicon thickness was considered to decide whether a pixel had to be considered fired and thus included in the pixels of the cluster. Three different positions of incidence for the charged particle have been considered, corresponding to the pixel center, the border between two pixels or the corner among four pixels. A dedicated simulation domain was built for each case in order to exploit in the best way the symmetry planes of the pixel matrix and thus create a reduced simulation domain with minimum size corresponding to a quarter of the whole considered domain. The created simulation domains are shown in Figure 4.1.5, where the position of the incident particle has been highlighted with a red dot in the top right corner of the domains.



Figure 4.1.5: Reduced simulation domains created for the three considered positions of the incident particle.

According to the mesh principles explained in Chapter 3, an additional mesh refinement was included in correspondence of the particle track in order to properly model the charge generation localized in the surrounding cylindrical volume with $1 \,\mu\text{m}$ diameter. Figure 4.1.6 shows the pixel cluster size as a function of the particle LET for the three considered substrate thicknesses of an array with 10 $\,\mu\text{m}$ pixels. A threshold corresponding to 10% of the charge deposed from a MIP in an equivalent silicon thickness was chosen to consider a pixel fired and thus included in the cluster. In the simulations a voltage of 1.2 V was applied to the frontside collection elec-

trodes, the pwell was grounded to 0 V and a negative bias voltage larger than the full depletion voltage was applied to the backside p-type electrode. As expected, the cluster size increased for increasing particle LET values and for increasing substrate thicknesses, reaching a maximum size of 45 pixels for the considered extreme case with LET equivalent to 100 MIP and substrate thickness of 300 μ m.



Figure 4.1.6: Simulated pixel cluster size for increasing particle LET value and three different substrate thicknesses.

The same simulations were employed to evaluate the collection dynamics of the pixels with 10 μ m pitch as a function of the amount of generated charges and of the active substrate thickness. Namely, decreasing the pixel size was considered a promising strategy to improve the charge collection speed since the distance between the collection electrodes is reduced.

The time needed to collect 99% of the generated charge (t₉₉) in the cluster pixels is reported in Figure 4.1.7 for the three active substrate thicknesses equal to 50, 100 and 300 μ m and the three aforementioned positions of the incident particle. The simulated collection time increases nearly linearly as a function of the particle LET for the thinner substrate thicknesses and, on the contrary, shows a non linear increase in the results of the simulations with 300 μ m substrate thickness. The observed increase in the t₉₉ for increasing particle LET values is related to the higher density of charges generated around the particle track, which leads to space charge effects, reducing the effective electric field and thus slowing the charge collection speed down.



Figure 4.1.7: Simulated t_{99} of 10 μ m pixels for increasing particle LET value and three different substrate thicknesses.

Transient simulations were also used to evaluate the possible presence of blooming effects, which can lead to an increase of the pixel cluster size. In the ARCADIA readout, the voltage at the pixel collection electrodes is not fixed to a constant value. Namely, when the generated charge is collected at the sensor node, the signal is integrated directly on the pixel capacitance leading to an instantaneous drop in the voltage at the collection electrode. Then, a bias transistor restores the voltage at the sensor node to its initial nominal value. To reproduce this effect, a bias resistor with a resistance of $10 \,\mathrm{M}\Omega$ was connected in series to the needles, resulting in a drop in the voltage applied to the collection electrodes associated to the collection of the generated charges. The same simulations were also conducted using a low-valued 1Ω resistor for comparison. The simulations were performed on multi-pixel 3D domains composed of 9 pixels with 25 μ m pitch and same layout of the MD pixels, considering two active substrate thicknesses equal to 48 or 200 μ m. The charge generation was modeled through a charged particle incident in the central pixel of the domain, labeled as Pix5 in Figure 4.1.8, using variable LET value equal to 0.5, 1, 2 MIPs and 1, 2, 8 MIPs for the 200 and 48 μ m thick substrates, respectively.

A drop in the voltage of the n-collection electrode equal to 28 mV, corresponding to the voltage difference resulting from the collection of 800 e^- in a MD pixel, was selected as threshold in order to consider a pixel as fired. This threshold is of the



Figure 4.1.8: (a) Charge collected from the pixels of the domain for three particle LET values equal to 0.5, 1 and 2 MIPs.
(b) Voltage at pixel collection electrodes for three particle LET values equal to 0.5, 1 and 2 MIPs.

same order of magnitude to the one that can be applied to the ARCADIA MD pixels. The cluster sizes provided by the simulations with different resistance values have been compared to determine whether the number of fired pixels was actually related to the collection of an amount of charges higher than the chosen threshold or represented an artifact due to blooming effects. The difference in the extracted cluster size, that is a direct consequence of blooming, can be observed comparing Figures 4.1.8a and 4.1.8b, showing the charges collected and the voltage drop at the collection electrode as a function of the time for the simulated pixels with 1 Ω and 10 M Ω series resistors, respectively.

Looking at the charge collected from the domain pixels, a single pixel is firing when the generated charge corresponds to the one released from an half or a single MIP and, instead, considering a particle LET equal to two MIPs, five pixels collect a number of electrons greater then the chosen threshold and thus can be considered part of the cluster. On the contrary, looking at the inner voltage drop, when the 10 M Ω resistor is connected in series to the pixel electrodes, five pixels are firing in both cases with a charge generation corresponding to a single or two MIPs. Table 4.1 summarizes the cluster sizes obtained from the simulations with 200 μ m thick domains for the two different thresholds and the three particle LET values. This leads to the conclusion that, choosing a threshold associated to a drop in the inner voltage measured at the pixel collection electrodes, can result in a larger cluster size due to possible blooming effects.

Table 4.1: Cluster size (CS) for 25 μ m pixels with t_{act} 200 μ m according to the charge collection and the inner voltage drop thresholds

threshold	$800~{\rm e^-}$	$28 \mathrm{~mV}$
\mathbf{CS}	# pixels	# pixels
0.5 MIP	1	1
$1 \mathrm{MIP}$	1	5
2 MIP	5	5

4.1.5 Transient simulations with optical stimulus

A high charge density due to generation within the detector material can result in space charge effects, which spoil the detector performance in terms of charge collection dynamics and, at the same time, lower the gain value that LGADs can provide [44]. Therefore, we used transient simulations to appraise the optical response of the aforementioned and several others pixel variants having different layouts and pitches with sizes up to 250 μ m to a light pulse with adjustable optical power. 2D simulations are not suitable to model space charge effects, since they do not account for charge carrier diffusion in the third dimension. Thus, a 3D domain should be used, increasing the computation time and complexity. As a consequence, 2D domains with cylindrical coordinates have been exploited in the simulations of the region around the pixel center for the pixels with 250 μ m size to reduce the simulation time and to guarantee an higher accuracy w.r.t. 2D simulations in terms of space charge effects related to the spread of the generated e⁻-h⁺ cloud.

The optical generation was modeled through a near Infra-Red (IR) or a red light pulse with wavelengths of 1060 nm and 660 nm, respectively, and sub-nanosecond pulse lengths. A constant optical generation covering the whole simulation domain or a focused light spot with a diameter of 10 μ m have been employed in the simulations to get information on the overall pixel response resulting from the contributions coming from the different pixel regions or to disentangle these signal components. A comparison of the results obtained from the performed simulations with the experimental measurements acquired in an optical setup will be presented in Section 4.4.

4.1.6 Design of pixels with integrated gain layer

Finally, an additional set of transient simulations has been implemented to evaluate the effect on the charge multiplication and on the timing response of different layouts of the terminations at the edges of the pixels with integrated gain layer. The schematic cross sections of the two considered layouts for the pixel borders are reported in Figure 4.1.9, where it is possible to observe the main features of the designed LGADs. In particular, the pixels with layout A2 present a design of the borders with a gap region between the frontside p-type implants corresponding to the deep pwell and the gain layer. Instead, the pixels having layout A1 and G1 are characterized by the same design of the terminations with the deep pwell that forms a continuous p-type implantation with the gain layer below the n-type collection electrode of the pixel.



Figure 4.1.9: Schematic cross sections of the pixels with integrated gain layer and different layouts of the terminations at the collection electrode borders.

Due to their large sizes, $250 \times 250 \ \mu m^2$ for the squared or $250 \times 100 \ \mu m^2$ for the rectangular pixels, 2D domains corresponding to a horizontal cross section of two neighboring pixels have been exploited to get a fast estimation of the layout influence on the charge collection dynamics. The position of the incident focused laser spot was varied along the domain

backside surface to extract the amount of generated charges collected from the two domain pixels and from the n-guard ring placed in the inter-pixel region. The comparison of the charge collected from the three different n-type electrodes, corresponding to the two pixels and the guard ring, for the two considered layouts is shown in Figure 4.1.10a. The two termination layouts differ for the absence or the presence of a gap region between the p-type implants of the gain layer and of the frontside deep pwell.

The layout A1 has no gap region between the frontside p-type implants and, as a consequence, all the generated charges that are collected from the pixel electrodes have to travel through the gain layer region and are multiplied through impact ionization. On the contrary, the presence of a small gap region in the layout A2 creates an alternative path for the collected charges, which enables the collection of a part of the electrons generated in the inter-pixel region directly by the border of the pixel collection electrode without traveling in the gain layer region. Therefore, this second option was expected to provide a lower charge multiplication at the pad borders but, at the same time, a faster operation. Namely, the electrons can follow a shorter path to the collection electrodes and do not have to travel through regions characterized by a low horizontal electric field. The experimental results obtained from the characterization of the pixel arrays with these two termination layouts will be presented in Section 4.4.



Figure 4.1.10: (a) Charge collection comparison for the two considered termination layouts of the rectangular pixels with integrated gain layer. (b) Details of the employed simulation domains.

4.2 Electrical characterization

4.2.1 Process control structures

In order to characterize the employed technology, a group of process control structures was included on the backside of the passive test chips fabricated within the SEED project. In particular, a gated diode was used to evaluate the surface generation velocity at the interface between the silicon substrate and the backside passivation layer and a MOS capacitor was employed to determine the equivalent SiO_2 thickness of the passivation layer and the concentration of positive charges in the silicon dioxide [16].

A probe station with needle connectors connected to a Keithley 4210 Parameter Analyzer was used to perform most of the measurements that will be presented in this Section. Instead, in the measurements where an high bias voltage exceeding 400 V was needed, a Keithley 2410 or alternatively a Keithley 2470 were employed to bias devices under test through a script developed with Matlab.

Measuring the IV characteristics of the gated diode through the procedure explained in [96], [97], it was possible to estimate the characteristic surface generation velocity s_0 of the devices analyzing the current component associated to the surface leakage current of the gated diode. The following biasing scheme was employed in the measurements: the backside surface region was reverse biased applying a negative voltage of -5 V to the diode cathode and, at the same time, the diode gate voltage was swept from accumulation to strong inversion and backwards. The acquired IV characteristics, showing the diode current as a function of the applied gate voltage, are reported in Figure 4.2.1 for a positive and a negative sweep of
the gate voltage.



Figure 4.2.1: Gated diode anode current as a function of the voltage applied to the gate. Picture from [16] (CC BY 4.0).

From the IV curve of the gated diode, it is possible to extract the current component associated to the surface generation I_s computing the difference between the maximum diode current measured in depletion condition I_1 and the diode current in strong inversion I_2 . Namely, in depletion condition the diode leakage current represents the sum of the currents due to the bulk and surface generation and the metallurgical junction leakage. Instead, when the applied gate voltage sets the diode in strong inversion, the current contribution due to the surface generation is strongly reduced [16]. According to [96], [97], the surface generation velocity can be estimated applying eq. 4.1, where n_i represents the intrinsic carrier density at room temperature and A_g is the total gate area resulting from the sum of the finger areas of the comb-like structure of the gated diode.

$$s_0 = \frac{I_1 - I_2}{qn_i A_g} \tag{4.1}$$

The extracted surface generation velocities have been reported in a boxplot (Figure 4.2.2), where the values have been grouped according to the wafer from which the samples were extracted. The following conventions hold for all the boxplots reported in this manuscript: the boxes represent the data contained in the range between the 25th and the 75th percentiles, the whiskers include all the valid data points and the red lines and crosses stand for the median values of the measured data and for the outliers, respectively.

The obtained s_0 values were in the order of hundreds of cm/s and therefore higher than the values usually obtained for nonirradiated devices with thermally grown oxides [16]. According to these results, a value of the surface generation velocity equal to 200 cm/s was employed in the TCAD simulations with the passivation layer included on the backside surface.

In a similar way, the measured CV characteristics of the MOS capacitors have been used to estimate the concentration of positive charges trapped in the surface oxide and the thickness of the passivation layer. In the performed measurements, the gate voltage was swept from accumulation to strong inversion and backwards and a probe signal with a frequency of 10 kHz and an amplitude of 100 mV was employed for the



Figure 4.2.2: Surface generation velocity boxplot for the measured SEED wafers. Picture from [16] (CC BY 4.0).

AC analysis. The concentration of oxide charges, extracted according to eq. 4.2 from the measured capacitance in accumulation C_{ox} , have been reported in Figure 4.2.3, where the results have been subdivided in the boxplot according to the sample wafers.

$$Q_{ox} = \frac{\left(\Phi_{ms} - V_{fb}\right) C_{ox}}{qA_g}$$
(4.2)

In the above equation Φ_{ms} , V_{fb} and A_g represent the alu-

minum to n-type silicon workfunction, the MOS flatband voltage and the gate area, respectively.



Figure 4.2.3: Boxplot of the oxide charge concentrations extracted from the different SEED wafers. Picture from [16] (CC BY 4.0).

All the extracted Q_{ox} values were in the interval between 1×10^{12} and 1.5×10^{12} cm⁻² and showed a low variability among the samples extracted from the same wafer.

4.2.2 Termination structures

Backside termination structures

In addition to the aforementioned test structures, a group of backside diodes with variable guard ring number and guard ring pitch was included in the SEED and ARCADIA test chips to determine the effect of the termination geometry on the backside bias voltage associated to the junction breakdown. The results obtained from the simulations of the different termination structures, where an oxide charge concentration within the range estimated experimentally was considered, have been included in the following boxplots. In these two Figures 4.2.4 and 4.2.5, a comparison between the simulated and measured breakdown voltages for the SEED backside diodes with different guard ring number and guard ring pitch is shown [16].

In the Figures, the boxes represent the breakdown voltages measured on the backside diodes of 22 different samples extracted from 7 wafers produced within the SEED project, while the dashed orange lines represent the simulated breakdown voltages for an oxide charge concentration equal to $1 \times 10^{12} \text{cm}^{-2}$. As expected from TCAD simulations, which provided an excellent agreement with the experimental data, an higher guard ring number guarantees a higher breakdown voltage and, at the same time, a guard ring pitch between 6 and 7 μ m is able to provide the highest breakdown voltages



Figure 4.2.4: Boxplot of the breakdown voltages measured on the SEED backside diodes with variable guard ring number. Picture from [16] (CC BY 4.0).

[16].

Frontside termination structures

The sensors realized on the thin n-type epitaxial substrates and on the high resistivity n-type substrates with 100 μ m thickness do not have any termination structures on the device backside and, as a consequence, the backside junction reaches the chip borders. The wafer dicing, which was performed



Figure 4.2.5: Boxplot of the breakdown voltages measured on the SEED backside diodes with variable guard ring pitch. Picture from [16] (CC BY 4.0).

through the mechanical action of a diamond saw, left a damaged lateral surface at the chip borders corresponding to the cut planes. Therefore, a high concentration of defects is present at the chip sides, which act as a source of $e^{-}h^{+}$ pairs. The charges generated in those regions can lead to high currents, which affect the proper chip behavior. On the other hand, the border conductivity can be exploited to bias the chip backside electrode applying a negative bias to the frontside external pwell. To enable the application of a negative voltage in the order of a few tens of volts to the external pwell, dedicated frontside termination structures have been designed. Figure 4.2.6 shows a schematic cross section of these structures realized at the chip borders. In the cross section, it is possible to observe the p-type floating guard ring that has been included to increase the breakdown voltage associated to the frontside external pwell and the n-type guard ring that can be biased to increase the bias voltage associated to the onset of the punch-through between external and internal pwells.

Test structures designed with different layouts of the frontside terminations have been also included in the test chips of the first ARCADIA engineering run to evaluate their capability to avoid possible issues related to breakdown or punch through effects, when the test structures were biased from the frontside external pwell.

The performance of the different layouts of the frontside test structures have been evaluated measuring the current on the frontside internal pwell electrode as a function of the negative bias voltage applied to frontside external pwell. Three different values for the voltage applied to the frontside n-type guard ring equal to 0, 1 and 2 V have been considered in the performed measurements. The measured internal pwell currents for the three guard ring voltages and three different n-guard ring width equal to 20, 30 and 40 μ m have been reported as an example in Figure 4.2.7. As expected, the exponential in-



Figure 4.2.6: Schematic cross section of the frontside termination structures.

crease in the measured current related to the punch through appears at higher bias voltages for increasing n-guard ring thicknesses. In an analogous way, an increase in the applied guard ring voltage guarantees a higher punch-through onset voltage.

The extracted voltages at the onset of the punch through for the three considered test structures included in the test chips originating from different wafer positions have been reported in the boxplot of Figure 4.2.8.

The non linear dependence of the punch through voltage on the guard ring width can be clearly observed in the Figure,



Figure 4.2.7: Measured internal pwell currents for three guard ring voltages (V_{GR}) and three termination layouts.

where it is also possible to notice the almost linear increase in the punch through voltage for increasing V_{GR}. The obtained results enabled to determine the minimum guard ring width and, thus, the resulting minimum dead area surrounding the device active region, corresponding to the termination structure width, for the two different substrate thicknesses of 48 and 100 μ m that were expected to have the possibility be biased both from the backside and from the frontside.



Figure 4.2.8: Extracted punch through voltages (V_{PT}) for three guard ring voltages (V_{GR}) and three termination layouts.

4.2.3 Passive pixel arrays

Most of the passive test structures fabricated within the SEED and ARCADIA project were composed of passive pixel arrays having rectangular or squared pixels with pitch sizes ranging from 10 to 250 μ m. In these structures, the n-type collection electrodes of the pixels were connected in parallel to a common readout electrode. In addition to the collection electrode, two additional electrodes were present on the frontside of these test structures to contact the frontside n-type guard rings and the frontside pwell. Finally, an additional fourth frontside electrode was available on the ARCADIA passive pixel arrays to apply the negative bias voltage to the external pwell. Figure 4.2.9 shows the micrographs of two ARCADIA passive pixel arrays with $0.5 \times 0.5 \text{ mm}^2$ matrix area, where the four different electrodes have been pointed out.



Figure 4.2.9: Micrographs of two passive arrays with 50 and 25 μ m pixels and 0.5×0.5 mm² active area.

The comparison between the measured and simulated IV characteristics of the passive pixel arrays with 25 and 50 μ m pixel pitch and standard pixel layout, that were included in the SEED test structures, showed an good agreement between the experimental and simulation results [16]. The experimental measurements proved that it was possible to apply a bias voltage able to fully deplete sensor substrates with thicknesses up to 300 μ m from the backside electrode without any breakdown issue. As expected, the backside termination structures included around the SEED passive pixel array and composed of 20 floating guard rings with 6 μ m pitch were able to guarantee a breakdown voltage higher than the operating voltage range of the devices [16].

The punch through (V_{PT}) and full depletion (V_{depl}) voltages have been extracted from the measured SEED nwell and pwell currents, according to the procedure explained in [16], and then compared with the values estimated from TCAD simulations performed on domains with same substrate thickness and pixel pitch. The obtained values of V_{PT} and V_{depl} have been reported in Figures 4.2.10a and 4.2.10b, for a substrate thickness of $100 \,\mu\text{m}$ and $300 \,\mu\text{m}$, respectively [16]. As expected from simulations, an increase in the applied V_n resulted in a decrease in the full depletion voltage, while the punch through voltage remained almost unaffected from the variation in the applied nwell voltage.

In an analogous way, the IV characteristics of the ARCADIA passive pixel arrays have been measured and compared with TCAD simulations, see Figure 4.2.11. As previously mentioned, devices with three different substrate thicknesses have been produced in the three ARCADIA production runs delivered in 2021, 2022 and 2023. The tested passive pixel arrays included the different layouts of the 50, 25 and 10 μ m pixels selected on the basis of preliminary TCAD simulations. In addition to the several small pixel arrays with active area equal to 0.5×0.5 mm², that were labeled as SPM, two pixel arrays with larger matrix area equal 1.5×1.5 mm², called PM, have been realized. Having a smaller total capacitance, the



(b) Substrate thickness $300 \ \mu m$

Figure 4.2.10: V_{PT} and V_{depl} as a function of the applied frontside neell voltage V_n . Pictures from [16] (CC BY 4.0).

pixel arrays with smaller area can provide a better response in the measurements with a fast laser pulse. On the other hand, the larger arrays are easier to characterize electrically due to their larger total capacitance and the higher currents measured at the pwell and at the collection electrodes. The pixels included in the two PM and in the two SPM having 50 and 25 μ m pixels labeled with the flag 1A present the same layout of the pixels in the SEED test structures. The SPM presenting pixel layouts designed to enhance the charge collection speed, characterized by the largest dimensions of the charge collection electrode, have been labeled with the flag 3A and, instead, the ones having the layouts with smallest collection electrode size, which are expected to provide the smallest pixel capacitance values, have been called 2F and 2C for the 50 and 25 μ m pixel arrays, respectively. Finally, two SPM with 50 μ m pixels having same collection electrode size of the layouts 1A and 2F but different pwell dimension have been also considered to provide a complete picture of the influence of these design parameters on the pixel performance. A pad diode with same area of the small pixel arrays, named PAD 500, was also included to provide a comparison with the pixel arrays and to determine the operating voltage range of the COBRA chip.

Comparing the results of TCAD simulations with the measured IV characteristics of the ARCADIA passive pixel arrays, it was possible to notice a further improvement in the already good agreement level reached with the experimental data of the SEED samples. Figure 4.2.11 shows the mean value and the associated standard deviation computed from the pwell and nwell currents measured on four PM with 50 μ m pixels contained on four samples coming from different wafer positions. If not stated differently, in the IV measurements a positive voltage equal to 0.8 V has been applied to the collection electrode of the pixel arrays (V_n) in combination with a slightly higher guard ring voltage equal to $0.81 \text{ V} (V_{\text{GR}})$ to enable a small current flow in the resulting resistive path between the pixels and the guard ring surrounding the pixel array. Monitoring this current, it is possible to get information on the negative bias voltage needed to choke the conductive path and thus able to isolate the pixels from the guard ring, when the backside space charge region reaches the frontside electrodes. The measurements of the PAD diode IV characteristics represented special cases, where higher neell and guard ring voltages up to 3 V have been applied. Namely, the electronics embedded in the COBRA chip has been designed to be biased at 3.3 V and, as a consequence, the PAD diodes have been tested in similar bias condition to extract the operating voltage range that were expected to be the same of the COBRA chips. The IV characteristics reported in Figure 4.2.11 were measured on four samples extracted from a wafer with a nominal active thickness of 48 μ m and, therefore, an active thickness within the variability range provided from the foundry was considered in the performed TCAD simulation, that has been reported in the comparison.

An excellent match can be observed between the simulated pwell current and the mean value of the corresponding exper-



Figure 4.2.11: Simulated and measured pwell and nwell IV characteristics for 50 μ m pixels with layout 1A and 48 μ m nominal substrate thickness.

imental data and, instead, a small difference is still present in the collection electrode currents, where the measured pixel dark current showed to be lower than the simulated one. This meant that the real minority carrier lifetime was lower than the value considered in the simulations.

Applying the procedure explained in [98], the full depletion and punch through voltages have been extracted from the IV curves for for pixel and PAD diode test structures with different layout and substrates, produces in the first two runs of ARCADIA. The extracted $V_{\rm PT}$ and $V_{\rm depl}$ for the passive matrices with 25 μ m pixels (PM 25) have been compared in Figure 4.2.12, where the boxplots of the punch through and the full depletion voltages have been reported in the first row and second row panels, respectively [98].



Figure 4.2.12: Boxplots of the measured V_{PT} and V_{depl} for the PM 25 with different substrate types.

The extracted values have been subdivided in three columns showing the boxplots of V_{PT} and V_{depl} measured on devices with three different substrate types. Type 1 wafers were produced starting from a p⁺ substrate, where two n-type epitaxial layers with increasing doping concentrations were grown in sequence. These wafers are characterized from the lowest nominal active thickness equal to 48 μ m resulting from the sum of the n-type epitaxial layer thicknesses [98]. Type 2 and 3 wafers were instead realized using n-type high resistivity substrates with nominal active thicknesses of 100 and 200 μ m, respectively. An additional backside lithography step has been performed on the 200 μ m thick wafers in order to create the backside floating guard rings needed to prevent the junction breakdown, when the backside bias voltage is applied [98]. A lower variability in the extracted V_{PT} and V_{depl} values has been observed for the wafers having type 1 substrate produced in the second run. As expected, the larger variability in the extracted voltage values was observed in the thickest samples, while the significant difference in the median V_{PT} and V_{depl} values obtained from the different wafers having type 2 and 3 substrates is related to different thicknesses of the n-type epitaxial layer or to different doping concentration of the high resistivity n-type substrate [98].

The previous V_{PT} and V_{depl} values were also compared with the ones extracted from the IV characteristics of devices from type 1 and 2 wafers biased from the frontside. An example of this comparison has been reported in [98] for the tested PM 25, where it was experimentally proved that the two biasing schemes provided similar results and, therefore, can be independently used to bias the designed sensors for substrate thicknesses up to 100 μ m.

In an analogous way, the operating voltage range (ΔV) of the considered PM 25, computed as the difference between V_{PT} and V_{depl} [98], have been compared in the boxplots of Figure 4.2.13. In these graphs, it is possible to observe the expected increase in the median value of the operation voltage range

and in the associate variability for increasing substrate thicknesses. Moreover, the operating voltage range showed a small variability for the wafers produced with same substrate type and demonstrated to be almost constant for different epitaxial layer thicknesses. Therefore, this proves that a variation in the epitaxial layer thickness results in a simple shift of both $V_{\rm PT}$ and $V_{\rm depl}$ to higher or lower values [98].



Figure 4.2.13: Boxplots of the operating voltage range for the measured PM 25 with different substrate types.

A comparison of the V_{PT} and V_{depl} extracted from the passive pixel arrays with different pixel pitch and standard layout 1A is shown in Figure 4.2.14. Again the experimental results confirmed the trend predicted by the preliminary simulations with a higher operating voltage range for the 10 μ m pixels. Namely, the median value of the full depletion voltages for the smaller pixels is higher than the median values of the punch through voltages for the larger pixel pitches and, thus, these structures cannot be biased properly if included on the same chip.



Figure 4.2.14: Boxplots of the extracted V_{PT} and V_{depl} for the passive pixel arrays with 50, 25 and 10 μ m pitch.

In a similar way, the pixel dark currents have been extracted from the plateau in the nwell currents appearing for applied bias voltages higher than V_{depl} [98]. The boxplots in Figure 4.2.15 show the dark current of a single pixel with 25 μ m pitch for an applied bias voltage equal to V_{PT} [98]. These values came again from the measurements performed on the PM 25 of the wafers produced in the first and second silicon run. As expected, an increase in the pixel dark current can be observed in the wafers of the first silicon run with increasing substrate thickness. The dark current increase is related to the increasing current contribution related to the thermal generation in the larger depleted volumes as a consequence of the thicker active substrates [98]. Lower dark current values have been reported for the PM 25 measured from the wafers of the second ARCADIA production with similar median values for the type 1 wafers and the only tested type 2 wafer.



Figure 4.2.15: Boxplot of the pixel dark current for the PM 25 with different substrate types.

The pixel leakage current measured on a LF-Monopix2 chip having 100 μ m substrate thickness for an applied voltage bias ~ 100 V, which is in the order of 5 × 10⁻¹³ A at room temperature [99], is comparable or slightly higher than the dark current of a group of 12 ARCADIA 25 μ m pixels with same substrate thickness (Type 2), which together cover a total area equal to the one of a single LF-Monopix2 pixel.

Once determined the operating voltage range of the different test structures, the CV characteristics of the devices have been measured at the probe station to retrieve the value of the pixel capacitance for the different layouts. In the performed tests, a fixed negative bias voltage larger than the measured V_{depl} was applied to the backside electrode or, alternatively,

to the external pwell. At the same time, the collection and the n-guard ring electrodes were biased at 0 V and, finally, a negative voltage sweep was applied to the frontside internal pwell to deplete the sensor epitaxal layer [95]. An AC probe signal with a RMS amplitude of 100 mV and a frequency of 100 kHz was applied between the pwell and the collection electrode to perform the AC analysis. The pixel capacitance values obtained from the small passive pixel arrays with different layouts of the 50 and $25 \,\mu m$ pixels have been reported in Table 4.2 and Table 4.3. The values reported in the Tables have been estimated from the CV characteristics for an applied pwell voltage of -0.8 V and represent the mean value and the associated standard deviation computed on a group of four samples extracted from different wafer positions. The parasitic capacitance contributions due to the metal pads and to the metal lines has been estimated and subtracted from the estimated C_{pix} reported in the Tables. According to [100], this parasitic contribution has been computed using the empirical expression derived by Meijs and Fokkema [101] on the basis of the Sakurai's approach.

As expected, the lowest capacitance values have been measured on the pixel arrays with layout designed to minimize the pixel capacitance i.e. 2F and 2C for the 50 and 25 μ m pixels. These layouts were characterized by the smallest collection electrode sizes for both pixel pitches. Instead, the pixel layouts with the largest collection electrode sizes, labeled as 3A,

Layout	1A	$1\mathrm{C}$	2A	2F	3A
$t_{act}~[\mu m]$	[fF]	$[\mathrm{fF}]$	[fF]	$[\mathrm{fF}]$	$[\mathrm{fF}]$
48	$15.1{\pm}0.4$	$11.6 {\pm} 0.2$	$12.3 {\pm} 0.4$	$3.5 {\pm} 0.4$	$17.8 {\pm} 0.5$
100	15.5 ± 1.1	$11.5 {\pm} 0.5$	$12.2 {\pm} 0.8$	$3.5 {\pm} 0.3$	$18.2 {\pm} 0.6$

Table 4.2: Measured C_{pix} for the different SPM 50 layouts

Table 4.3: Measured C_{pix} for the different SPM 25 layouts

Layout	1A	$2\mathrm{C}$	3A
$t_{act} \ [\mu m]$	$[\mathrm{fF}]$	$[\mathrm{fF}]$	$[\mathrm{fF}]$
48	4.4 ± 0.3	2.5 ± 0.1	9.1 ± 0.2
100	4.7 ± 0.4	2.7 ± 0.2	10.5 ± 2.8

that were designed to improve the charge collection speed at the pixel corners, provided the largest pixel capacitance values and thus confirmed the simulation predictions as well.

In comparison to other MAPS technology, which follow a similar pixel design characterized by a small collection electrode, the measured capacitance value for the 25 μ m pixels having layout 1A, i.e. the same layout of the pixels included in the MD chip, is slightly higher than the capacitance of the 28 μ m pixels included in the ALPIDE chip and of the 33 μ m pixels included in the TJ-Monopix2 chip equal to ~ 2.5 fF and ~ 3 fF, respectively [102], [103]. The ALPIDE and the TJ-Monopix2 pixel capacitance values are instead comparable with the one measured on the $25 \,\mu m$ pixels with layout 2C.

4.2.4 Passive pixel arrays with gain layer

The IV characteristics of the passive pixel arrays with integrated gain layer and large pixel sizes, that were included in the third production run, have been also measured to estimate V_{PT} and on the nwell voltage associated to the breakdown of the frontside junction (V_{bd}). Figure 4.2.16 shows in the first row the measured pwell currents as a function of the negative bias voltage (V_{bias}) applied to the backside p-type contact of two pixel arrays having rectangular pixels with layout A1. In the second row, the collection electrode currents measured on the same test structures as a function of the voltage applied to the n-type electrode (V_n) are reported. As usual, the dip in the pwell current has been employed to estimate the punch through voltage, while the voltage associated to the breakdown of the frontside junction can be clearly established from the abrupt increase in the collection electrode current.

CV measurements have been also performed on the passive pixel arrays with large pixel size and integrated gain layer to estimate the gain layer profile from the measured CV characteristics. Namely, gain values lower than the ones expected from TCAD simulations were observed in the preliminary results obtained from the optical characterization of the passive pixel arrays. This was a first indication of a possible mismatch



Figure 4.2.16: Measured pwell and nwell currents as a function of the applied V_{bias} and V_n [104].

between the actually implanted gain profile and the one designed in the simulations. According to [105], the relationship described in eq. 4.3 can been exploited to compute the doping concentration N(x) of a generic abrupt pn junction as a function of its depth (x) inside the substrate material, that can be also characterized by a non uniform doping concentration. The value of x, which represents the depth of the doping concentration profile, can be instead computed using 4.4 [105].

$$N(\mathbf{x}) = \frac{2}{q\epsilon_{s} \frac{d(1/C^{2})}{dV}}$$
(4.3)

$$\mathbf{x} = \frac{\epsilon_{\rm s}}{\mathbf{C}(\mathbf{V})} \tag{4.4}$$

The gain layer profiles estimated using the previous equa-

tions confirmed the hypothesis of a mismatch in the implanted gain layer. A final check performed by the foundry confirmed that the profiles used in the design phase were obtained with a different energy w.r.t. the ones actually implanted. The TCAD simulations performed with a new gain layer profile with the correct implantation implant energy reached again a good agreement with the experimental data providing a gain value ranging from 2 to 4. Further details on this topic and on the obtained results can be found in [106].

4.3 X-ray irradiation studies

An extensive irradiation campaign has been performed to evaluate the radiation hardness of the different pixel layouts and pixel pitches to increasing TID resulting from their irradiation with an X-ray tube with tungsten anode. The results obtained from the experimental measurements of the pixel arrays IV and CV characteristics have been compared with the corresponding TCAD simulation and were published in [64], [95]. The employed X-ray tube, which is located at University of Padova, is characterized by a peak photon energy of 10 keV and is able to deliver 2 Mrad/h in standard conditions at room temperature [107]. The samples used for the irradiation studies were extracted from wafers of both the SEED and the ARCADIA productions having nominal active substrate thicknesses of 48 and 100 μ m. The devices were irradiated in

four steps corresponding to doses of 0.01, 0.1, 1 and 10 Mrad. After each irradiation step an annealing treatment was performed, keeping the samples inside a climatic chamber for 10 min at 80 °C [95]. An X-ray source emitting photons with such low energy is able to contribute only to the surface damage of the irradiate devices, creating positive charges in the passivation layer and traps at the interface between silicon and silicon dioxide [95]. As explained in Chapter 3, the radiation damage for increasing X-ray TID has been modeled employing the 'new Perugia' radiation model and the initial concentrations of surface traps and positive charges in the oxide were chosen according to the Hamamatsu parametrization [95]. As expected from the preliminary simulations, an increase was observed in both the pixel leakage current and the pixel capacitance for increasing radiation doses. The increase in the measured leakage current is related to the effect of the surface traps that behave as generation centers when subjected to an electric field and, thus, contribute to the increase in the surface current component [95]. A clear example of this effect can be observed in Figure 4.3.1, where the number of and puell currents of a pixel array with 50 μ m pixels and 48 μ m active substrate have been reported as a function of the applied bias voltage. The pixel dark current, that before the irradiation was in the order of few fA, increased by orders of magnitude reaching a level in the pA range for a TID of 10 Mrad.

In an analogous way, the expected increase in the pixel capa-



Figure 4.3.1: Measured pwell and nwell currents as a function of the applied V_{bias} for increasing TID values.

citance (C_{pix}) was observed for increasing radiation doses and the collected CV characteristics have been reported in Figure 4.3.2 for the measured pixel arrays with 50 μ m pixels having the same layout and extracted from the same wafer of the device mentioned above. The simulations showed that the increase in the pixel capacitance is related to the concentration of positive charges in the silicon dioxide layer, which attract electrons from the epitaxial layer resulting in an accumulation of negative charges below the Si-SiO₂ interface. This leads to the appearance of an additional surface capacitance contribution and, as a consequence, to an increase in the measured C_{pix} [95].

After an initial small increase in the measured capacitance for



Figure 4.3.2: Measured pixel capacitance for increasing TID values.

X-ray doses up to 100 krad, it is possible to notice a significant jump in the plotted curves with the pixel capacitance that nearly doubles considering a TID of 1 Mrad. Finally, for the highest radiation dose equal to 10 Mrad no significant increase can be observed in $C_{\rm pix}$ with the capacitance value that saturates around the level reached for a TID of 1 Mrad.

The complete and detailed comparison of the measured C_{pix} values for all the considered layouts of the irradiated 25 and 50 μ m pixel arrays can be found in [64], [95].

4.4 Optical characterization

4.4.1 Laser setup

Once characterized from the electrical point of view, the dynamics response of the small passive pixel arrays and of the PAD diodes, having same active areas equal to $0.5 \times 0.5 \text{ mm}^2$, have been tested in an optical setup with a fast pulsed IR or, alternatively, red laser. The employed IR and red laser diodes have wavelengths equal to 1060 and 660 nm and are able to provide a pulse length at FWHM in the order of less than 100 ps and 350 ps, respectively. Figure 4.4.1 shows a picture of the optical setup together with a simplified schematic representation of the laser focusing system [20]. The light pulse is launched into a single-mode optical fiber connected to an achromatic collimator mounted at the entrance of the focusing system. Once collimated, the optical pulse reaches a 2 inches beam expander and goes through 90-10 beam splitter crystal cube. The beam splitter sends 90% of the incident light to a plano-convex lens having a focal length of 100 mm. The lens focuses the incident light in a spot with a diameter in the order of 10 μ m at FWHM on the focal plane where the Device Under Test (DUT) is placed. A second 2 inches beam expander is attached to the beam splitter and mounted coaxial to the optical column. On top of the beam expander, a camera with tunable focal length is present and can be used to acquire images of the DUT and to adjust the laser spot position on the focal plane acting on two step motors, which control the x-y position of the optical column [20]. The step motors can be controlled remotely using a dedicated script developed in Matlab, which enables the simultaneous and synchronous control of an oscilloscope (Tektronix MDO3102) having a bandwidth of 1 GHz, that has been used to acquire the amplified detector signals.



Figure 4.4.1: (A) Picture of the optical setup showing the focusing system with the embedded coaxial camera. (B) Schematic representation of the focusing system. Picture from [20] (CC BY 4.0).

Two different commercial charge amplifiers have been em-

ployed in the performed measurements to amplify the signals coming from the pixel matrices and from the PAD diodes. In particular, a MiniCircuits ZFL-1000LM amplifier with a gain of 23 dB and a bandwidth of 1 GHz was used in the optical test of the passive test structures without gain layer. Instead, a Hamamatsu C5594 amplifier with a cutoff frequency of 1.5 GHz and a gain of 36 dB has been employed in the characterization of the test structures with integrated gain layer designed for timing applications and in the measurements of the PAD diodes and of the pixel arrays with pad-like layout.

The optical characterization of the passive test structures has been performed illuminating the backside surface of the samples through a hole drilled in the PCBs, where the chips have been glued and wire bonded. In the measurements of the pixel arrays without gain layer, custom designed passive PCBs have been used to properly bias the bonded sensors, filtering the noise components of the power supplies, and to hold the sensors in the proper position. These PCBs were mounted in a metal box made of aluminum in order to shield the tested device from the environmental EM noise and a hole in the box lid was realized to enable the illumination of the sensors with the laser source. Measurements have been performed both focusing or unfocusing the laser spot. The former enable to get information on the different response of the considered pixel layouts as a function of the laser spot position inside the pixel area. Namely, with a spot diameter in the order of 10 μ m the generated charges are contained in a small volume and, as a consequence, this enables the evaluation of the charge collection dynamics in a specific pixel area. The latter provide an overall response of the test structures that represents the sum of the contributions related to the collection of the charges generated all over the pixel volume [20].

4.4.2 ARCADIA passive pixel arrays

TCAD simulations have been performed to disentangle the contributions of the different pixel areas from the overall pixel signal, confining the charge generation within small selected pixel volumes. According to the simulations, the charges generated in the volume below the collection electrode are collected quickly due to the presence of an uniform and high electric field and, therefore, represent the main contribution in the first part of the acquired signals. On the contrary, the charges generated in the pixel periphery are forced to travel through regions with lower electric field and, as a consequence, represent the main contribution to the slower charge collection associated to the signal tail [20].

The effect of the applied bias voltage (V_{bias}) on the signal dynamics has been investigated using an unfocused laser spot covering most of the area of the tested passive pixel arrays. In Figure 4.4.2 the signals measured on a pixel array with 50 μ m pixels and t_{act} equal to 100 μ m are reported for different V_{bias} values. As expected, increasing the applied backside

bias voltage resulted in faster signals characterized by a higher peak amplitude shifted to an earlier time instant and an associated lower tail amplitude. The bias voltage increase led to a steeper signal rising edge that is a consequence of the higher electric field at the backside junction, which causes a faster acceleration of the charges generated in that region close to the backside electrode [20]. The applied voltage bias was varied inside a wide range that included both the full depletion and the punch through voltage. Namely, a voltage bias slightly higher than the punch through voltage can be still safely applied without damaging the sensor, if the total power dissipation is under control and the total current remains in the μ A range [20].



Figure 4.4.2: Acquired signals for the 50 μ m pixels with layout 1A as a function of the applied V_{bias}.

In an analogous way, the charge collection dynamics of all

the produced passive pixel arrays with different layouts and pitch have been measured and compared with the behaviors expected from TCAD simulations. In order to provide a better comparison with the experimental results, a digital low pass filter reproducing the combined transfer function of the charge amplifier and of the oscilloscope was applied to the simulated data. Moreover, in order to further reduce the EM noise affecting the measurement setup, the bandwidth of the oscilloscope was limited to 250 MHz in the measurements of the passive pixel arrays with 50 μ m pitch, which provided the smallest signals characterized by the slowest signal components. For these devices, it was noticed that neglecting the fastest signal components affected only marginally the final signal shape for those pixel arrays [20]. As a consequence, to provide a fair comparison with the corresponding TCAD simulations, a second digital filter tuned on this lower cutoff frequency was designed and employed in the comparison with the signals measured on the pixel arrays with 50 μ m pixels. In this way, a good agreement was reached between the measured and simulated signals, providing an experimental confirmation of the reliability of the performed simulations. Figure 4.4.3 shows the comparison of the simulated and measured signals for three pixel arrays with 50 μ m pitch having three different pixel layouts and a substrate active thickness equal to 100 μ m.

In the first row, the results for the nominal layout (1A) having a medium size of the collection electrode are reported.


Figure 4.4.3: Acquired and simulated signals for the 50 μ m pixels with nominal (1A), minimum capacitance (2F) and optimized charge collection (3A) layouts.

Instead, in the second and third row the results for the pixel layouts designed to minimize the pixel capacitance (2F) and improve the charge collection speed (3A) are displayed. As expected, the slowest signals have been acquired from the matrix with layout 2F designed to minimize the pixel capacitance and therefore characterized by the smaller collection electrode size and the larger pwell and deep pwell width. A significant signal tail amplitude is still present after 70 ns from the signal pulse, thus meaning that the charges generated at the pixel periphery are still slowly moving towards the collection electrodes. On the contrary, similar signals have been measured for the remaining layouts having larger collection electrode dimensions and almost same pwell and deep pwell width [20]. Similarly, the acquired and simulated signal for the pixel arrays with nominal active thickness of 100 μ m and layout 1A having three decreasing pixel pitches equal to 50, 25 and 10 μ m are compared in Figure 4.4.4.



Figure 4.4.4: Acquired and simulated signals for the pixel arrays with nominal layout 1A and 50, 25 and 10 μ m pixel pitch.

Again, it is possible to notice a good agreement in the displayed data and a faster charge collection associated to a decreasing pixel size [20]. This effect is related to the shorter distance among the collection electrodes in the pixel matrices with smaller pitch, which results in a shorter path to the collection nodes for the charges generated at the pixel sides or corners. As reported in the plot, a higher V_{bias} was applied in the test performed on the pixel array with smallest pixel size due to its different operating voltage range, shifted to higher bias voltages.

The integral of the measured signals was computed to evaluate the time needed to collect the total amount or a fraction of the generated charges [20]. The obtained normalized integrated signals have been again compared in Figure 4.4.5 and in Figure 4.4.6 for the considered 50 μ m pixel layouts and for the three pixel pitches, respectively. Looking at the comparison of the signal integrals for the pixel arrays with different layouts, the slower charge collection of the pixels with minimum capacitance layout (2F) is evident. Instead, the charge collection dynamics of the matrices with nominal (1A) and optimized charge collection (3A) layouts proved to be similar, with the latter providing a faster charge collection after the first nanoseconds [20]. This effect is related to the faster collection of the charges generated farther from the collection electrode, which move in a region with higher electric field for this second layout. In a similar way, the expected faster charge collection can be noticed comparing the integrated signals of the pixel arrays with decreasing pixel size. Looking at the time needed to collect 50% of the generated charges, the value decreases from around 8 ns for the larger pixels to 4.2 and 2.6 ns for the 25 and 10 μ m pixels, respectively [20]. The same optical measurements were performed on several other test structures extracted from the wafers of the first and second ARCADIA silicon run.

The slow signals generated at the periphery of the sensor



Figure 4.4.5: Normalized signal integrals for the 50 μ m pixels with nominal (1A), minimum capacitance (2F) and optimized charge collection (3A) layouts.



Figure 4.4.6: Normalized signal integrals for the pixel arrays with nominal layout 1A and 50, 25 and 10 μ m pixel pitches.

electrodes should be minimized for high-precision timing applications, and thus a device with a large area to perimeter ratio can provide a faster charge collection. On the other hand, if compared to a stand-alone PIN detector, the vertical field in the proposed integrated detector is not uniform and the charge-carrier velocity is not saturated in all the detector volume. Relevant information on the ultimate charge collection speed of a layout optimized for timing applications has been obtained on the PAD diodes with $0.5 \times 0.5 \text{ mm}^2$ included in the test chips of the first ARCADIA production [108]. These structures showed the best timing performance with most of the generated charges collected within a few ns thanks to the more uniform electric field guaranteed by the larger collection electrode size. This led to the choice to include a few small passive pixel arrays with modified pixel design in the test chips of the second ARCADIA engineering run. Pixel pitches equal to 100 and 50 μm were chosen for these structures and the pixel layout was modified to maximize the n-type collection electrode size keeping a minimum pwell size able to guarantee the possibility to host the embedded frontend electronics. In Figure 4.4.7, it is reported a comparison of the normalized integrals computed from the signals of these structures connected to the faster Hamamatsu charge amplifier and acquired with a digital oscilloscope with 6 GHz bandwidth. The results refer to samples extracted from wafers with $48 \ \mu m$ nominal active thickness, which are expected to provide the best timing performance due to the shorter drift path to the collection electrodes for the generated charges.



Figure 4.4.7: Normalized signal integrals for the PAD diode and the pixel arrays with PAD-like layout having 100 and 50 μ m pitches.

The experimental data confirmed the expected behavior for these structures, which provided faster collection times in comparison to the pixel arrays with smaller pixel sizes. The time needed to collect 50% of the generated charges (t_{50}) estimated for the PAD diode and the pixel arrays with 100 and 50 μ m pitch were in the order of 0.6, 0.75 and 0.9 ns, respectively, and therefore much lower than the t_{50} obtained with the previously tested arrays with smaller pixel sizes. This led to the conclusion that pixel sizes greater than or equal to 100 μ m are needed in order to achieve the best timing performance and, thus, the three layouts of the pixel arrays with integrated gain layer, that were designed trying to further improve the achievable timing resolution, were characterized by a minimum pixel size of 100 μ m.

To evaluate the variation in the pixel response related to the collection of charges generated in different pixel positions, scans of the focused laser beam on the surface of the passive pixel arrays have been performed [20]. The preliminary acquisitions performed with the IR laser showed a positiondependence of the total integrated signal due to the back reflection of the IR light in the frontside metals and, therefore, a red laser with 660 nm wavelength, that is absorbed within a few tens of μm in silicon, was employed in the following acquisitions [20]. When the scan covered the whole backside matrix area, a motor step size of 10 μ m was used, while in the scans performed on a smaller part of the array area, a finer step size equal to 5 μ m was employed to capture smaller details increasing the spatial resolution [20]. An example of the acquired maps, showing the maximum peak amplitude as a function of the laser spot position on a whole passive pixel array area of $0.5 \times 0.5 \text{ mm}^2$ or on a quarter of the total array area, are reported in Figure 4.4.8A and in Figure 4.4.8B for a pixel array having 50 μ m pixels with layout 1A.

Looking at the signal map displayed in Figure 4.4.8B, performed with a finer motor step of 5 μ m on a matrix quarter, it is easy to identify the position of the pixel centers corresponding to the yellow areas, where a higher signal was acquired. At the same time, the lower peak amplitude measured at the pixel borders and corners and the presence of the frontside guard



Figure 4.4.8: (A) Map of the maximum signal peak amplitude for a motor step of 10 μ m. (B) Detail of the maximum signal peak amplitude map for a motor step of 5 μ m. (C) Map of the charge collected for an integration time of 50 ns and a motor step of 10 μ m. (D) Cross section of the signal integral map taken in a cut plane parallel to the x-axis. Pictures from [20] (CC BY 4.0).

ring around the pixel arrays can be clearly identified with the green and light blue areas [20]. Figure 4.4.8C shows the maps of the signal integral and thus the charge collected considering an integration time of 50 ns. A uniform charge collection can be observed within the matrix area with a decrease in the

signal at the matrix border due to the competitive charge collection of the frontside guard ring. Finally, a cross section of the signal integral map generated considering a cut plane parallel to the x-axis is displayed in Figure 4.4.8D [20]. Here, the competitive charge collection between pixels and guard ring can be noticed looking at the collected charge profile, which sharply decreases moving to the matrix border in the areas corresponding to the first and last pixel columns.

4.4.3 Passive pixel arrays with gain layer

As mentioned in Chapter 2, passive pixel arrays with integrated gain layer, designed to improve the timing resolution increasing the SNR of the sensor, have been included in a test chip contained in the wafers of the third ARCADIA production run. These matrices embed large pixels with squared or rectangular shape having $250 \times 250 \ \mu m^2$ and $250 \times 100 \ \mu m^2$ pixel areas, respectively. In order to achieve the desired timing resolution in the order of less than 20 ps, required for the detectors to be included in the ALICE 3 upgrade timing layers, the performed TCAD and Monte Carlo simulations predicted the need of a gain value ranging from 10 to 30 and of a detector active thickness lower than 50 μ m [34]. As mentioned in Section 4.2.3, due to the different energy employed in the ion implantation performed to realize the embedded gain layer, low gain values ranging from 2 to 4 have been estimated from the optical characterization of the fabricated pixel arrays. The gain was estimated by computing the ratio between the total amount of charges collected from a test structure with integrated gain layer and the ones collected from a reference passive pixel array without gain layer under the same illumination conditions.

The designed test structures represent essentially possible implementations of monolithic LGADs, where the frontend electronics and the LGADs can be embedded on the same substrate with the collection electrodes AC-coupled to the frontend preamplifiers that can be placed at the pixel edges [34]. AC-coupling will be needed to enable the application of the high bias voltage at the sensor collection electrode, which guarantees the presence of a high electric field in the gain layer region needed to trigger the charge multiplication through impact ionization and the full depletion of the gain layer [34]. In comparison to a standard LGAD structure, the layout of the designed test structures enables the control of the gain value and of the drift field intensity acting on the positive and negative bias voltages applied to the frontside and backside electrodes, respectively [34].

Figures 4.4.9 and 4.4.10 show the effect of the variation of these voltages on the measured signals and on the corresponding total amount of collected charges derived from the signal integrals of a pixel array with squared 250 μ m pixels, called PM 250 G1, having an active thickness of 48 μ m. Due to the presence of the p⁺ substrate, which represents a 250

 μm thick inactive region at the chip backside, the IR laser with 1060 nm wavelength was the only one suitable to reach the active volume illuminating the sensor from the backside with a focused laser spot. However, due to its absorption length in the order of 1 mm inside silicon, the measurements were unavoidably affected from the back reflection of the IR light due to the presence of metal lines and contacts at the frontside. Therefore, these measurements gave only an indication of the possible gain value due to the uncertainty in the amount of collected charges related to the back reflection phenomena. A precise estimate of the gain value can be provided only through the characterization of the structures in a test beam, where the amount of generated charges can be estimated more accurately knowing the energy released from the impinging charged particles. Looking at the left plots in the two Figures, it is possible to observe that the measured signals were affected from noise generated by the EM interference coming from the laser driver and the non optimal shielding of our setup. The plots on the right hand side of the Figures, showing the corresponding integrated charge, prove that acting on the voltage applied to the frontside collection electrode has a greater impact on the resulting charge multiplication rather than changing the applied backside bias voltage. This effect was also noticed in the results of the preliminary TCAD simulations and is related to the major impact of the frontside voltage on the electric field strength in the gain layer region

[34]. A maximum gain value around 4 was estimated from the ratio between the charges collected from the considered PM 250 and a reference structure without gain, displayed with a red dashed line in the charge collection plots. Finally, the tests showed that both the frontside and the backside voltages affect similarly the charge collection speed acting on the strength of the drift field inside the sensor active volume.



Figure 4.4.9: (A) Measured signals on a PM 250 G1 as a function of the applied V_{bias} . (B) Corresponding signal integrals as a function of the applied V_{bias} . Pictures from [104].

To evaluate the charge collection dynamics and the charge multiplication at the collection electrode sides for the pixel arrays with different layouts of the terminations at the pixel borders, scans of the matrix area have been performed changing the position of the focused IR laser spot. A motor step size



Figure 4.4.10: (A) Measured signals on a PM 250 G1 as a function of the applied V_n . (B) Corresponding signal integrals as a function of the applied V_n . Pictures from [104].

of 5 μ m has been employed in the acquisitions, which covered a total area of 350×350 μ m². The pixel arrays with different termination layouts are composed by rectangular pixels having a pixel area of 250×100 μ m² and are characterized by the presence of a gap between the deep pwell and the gain layer implants in the so-called layout A2 or from the absence of this gap in the layout A1. As explained in Section 4.1, the former enables a faster charge collection at the pixel borders, while the latter provides a higher charge multiplication in the interpad region. Figures 4.4.11A and 4.4.11B show the maps of the maximum signal amplitude for the two measured pixel arrays having layouts A1 and A2. Due to the same issue mentioned above, related to the back reflection of the IR laser at the frontside metal and contacts, which are characterized from different refractive indexes, both signal maps show an unexpected significant variation in the measured signal amplitude within the collection electrode regions.



Figure 4.4.11: (A) Map of the maximum signal peak amplitude for the PM 250 with layout A1. (B) Map of the maximum signal peak amplitude for the PM 250 with layout A2. Pictures from [104].

Namely, considering a horizontal cut plane parallel to the xaxis, it is possible to extract a cross section of the signal maps, which represents the variation of the maximum signal amplitude as a function of the x-coordinate for the two different layouts. Looking at this plot, reported in Figure 4.4.12, it is easy to identify the positions of the frontside contacts and frontside guard rings with the dips in the profile present at the pad centers and in the interpad regions. Similar maximum signal amplitude can be observed comparing the two profiles, with only small differences in the height of the profile shoulders corresponding to the pad borders, where, as expected, the layout A1 provides slightly higher signal amplitudes.



Figure 4.4.12: Cross sections of the maximum signal maps taken along a horizontal cutplane parallel to the x-axis. Pic-ture from [104].

The difference becomes more evident looking at the derived maps showing the total amount of collected charges computed from the acquired signals within an integration time window of 30 ns for the two considered pixel arrays. These maps are displayed in Figures 4.4.13A and 4.4.13B for the PM with layout A1 and A2, respectively. As expected, a higher amount of charges is collected in the interpad regions by the pixel arrays having layout A1 i.e. without gap regions at the pad borders.

This effect can be clearly noticed in Figure 4.4.14A and even better in Figure 4.4.14B, that show the comparison of the sig-



Figure 4.4.13: (A) Charge collection map for the PM 250 with layout A1. (B) Charge collection map for the PM 250 with layout A2. Pictures from [104].

nal integral profiles extracted from two different cross sections of the two signal integral maps. In the first case, the profiles reported in the plot represent the variation of the signal integral along the same horizontal cut plane considered above. Instead, the profiles reported in the second plot show the variation in the charge collection along a vertical cut plane parallel to the y-axis lying at the center of the collection electrodes. In this second case, since there are not n-guard rings running horizontally in the interpad regions, the charge collection at the pad borders highlights the differences in the performance in terms of charge multiplication for the different termination layouts and provides an experimental confirmation of the different behaviors expected from TCAD simulation.

Finally, a comparison of the timing response of the two pixel arrays is shown in Figure 4.4.15, where the time needed to



Figure 4.4.14: (A) Cross sections of the signal integral maps taken along a horizontal cutplane parallel to the x-axis. (B) Cross sections of the signal integral maps taken along a vertical cutplane parallel to the y-axis. Pictures from [104].

reach the 50% of the signal rising edge $(t_{rise_{50}})$ is reported as a function of the laser spot position. In these maps the faster and more uniform response at the pixel borders provided by the array with layout A2 is evident. Namely, the extracted $t_{rise_{50}}$ results more than doubled at the interpad regions characterized by the presence of the guard ring for the pixels with termination layout A1. On the contrary, a much smaller increase in $t_{rise_{50}}$ can be observed in the same regions for the pixel array with layout A2.



Figure 4.4.15: (A) $t_{rise_{50}}$ map for the PM 250 with layout A1. (B) $t_{rise_{50}}$ map for the PM 250 with layout A2. Pictures from [104].

The plot in Figure 4.4.16, showing the comparison of the profiles obtained considering the usual horizontal cross section in the $t_{rise_{50}}$ maps for the two different pixel arrays, proves that the layout without gap region is able to guarantee the best timing performance in terms of uniformity in the measured timing response. This lead to the conclusions that the proper layout design should be selected on the basis of the application needs: the layout A1 should be preferred when a higher charge multiplication is needed at the pixel borders and, instead, layout A2 is the proper choice when a more uniform and faster timing response all over the matrix is needed.



Figure 4.4.16: Cross sections of the $t_{rise_{50}}$ maps taken along a horizontal cutplane parallel to the x-axis. Picture from [104].

The knowledge on the behavior of the designed monolithic LGAD acquired through these measurements will be exploited to select the termination layouts and the dose splittings for the new gain layer profile to be included in the test structures of a new silicon run, entirely dedicated to timing applications, that will be fabricated in 2024.

Chapter 5

COBRA sensor

The response of the COBRA sensor, a monolithic active sensor chip designed for dosimetry in High Dose Rate brachytherapy applications, has been tested employing both EM-radiations and charged particles [109]. A pad diode covering a total area of $460 \times 340 \ \mu m^2$ constitutes the sensing element of the chip, which was designed to work in full depletion condition. The frontend electronics is realized at the periphery of the chip active region using the 110 nm CMOS technology developed in the ARCADIA project and provides two possible operating modes of the embedded dual gain amplifier called High-Gain (HG) and Low-Gain mode (LG), respectively. The integrated electronics consists of a preamplifier followed by a buffer able to provide two nominal gain values equal to 1 in LG mode or 10 in HG mode. The two operating modes correspond to different signal time constants at the chip output with a reset time in the order of 4 μ s and several hundreds of μ s in HG and LG mode, respectively. The logic values of three configuration bits can be modified to switch between the two preamplifier and buffer operating modes. The default configuration sets the sensor electronics in HG mode and can be overwritten

connecting the pads of the configuration bits to V_{DD} , i.e. the nominal voltage equal to 3.3 V representing the logic high level or to the ground reference (GND) corresponding to the logic low level. A custom PCB was designed to properly apply the required analog and digital voltage bias to the dedicated chip electrodes that are shown in Figure 5.0.1. The chosen PCB layout gave the possibility to switch between the two chip operating modes simply changing the positions of three jumpers.

The tested chips were extracted from wafers produced in the first and second ARCADIA silicon run and characterized by nominal active thicknesses equal to 48 and 100 μ m using epitaxial and high resistivity substrates, respectively. The negative voltage bias was applied to the p-type backside electrode in order to fully deplete the sensor substrate. The value of the bias voltage was selected using as a reference the operating voltage range measured on the passive pad diodes extracted from the same wafers of the tested COBRA chips and biased in the same conditions. A micrograph of the COBRA chip showing the frontside pads dedicated to the analog and digital bias voltages is reported in Figure 5.0.1. The picture shows the overall chip dimensions in comparison to the pad diode active area and of the compact design of the sensor, which made it suitable to be mounted on the tip of a prostate catheter.

The IR laser mounted in the optical setup and an IR LED were used to evaluate the response of the chip to an optical



Figure 5.0.1: COBRA chip micrograph.

stimulus acquiring both the waveforms and the charge spectrum of the sensor at different light intensities. Acquisitions were performed with the sensors illuminated from the frontside or the backside surface. The waveforms obtained setting the frontend amplifier in HG and LG mode are reported in Figure 5.0.2A and Figure 5.0.2B, respectively. The signals were acquired with the Tektronix MDO3102 digital oscilloscope exploiting its full bandwidth equal to 1 GHz. The chip was reverse biased applying to the backside electrode a negative voltage equal to -34 V, higher than the full depletion voltage according to the preliminary measurements performed on the passive pad diodes. In order to avoid the saturation of the frontend electronics and to limit possible space charge effects related to an excessive amount of optically generated charges, two different neutral density filters with optical densities equal to 4 and 2 were used to limit the optical power of the incident IR laser in the acquisitions in HG and LG mode, respectively.



Figure 5.0.2: (A) HG mode signal measured on a COBRA chip with 100 μ m substrate active thickness. (B) LG mode signal measured on a COBRA chip with 100 μ m substrate active thickness.

The measured signals complied with the behavior expected from the simulations performed by the electronics designers. The signals acquired in HG mode showed a main signal peak with a rise time in the order of 200 ns followed by the expected undershoot and a damped oscillation, while the sensor response in LG mode was characterized by a fast rise time around 10 ns and a recovery time in the order of hundreds of microseconds.

A CAEN 5780 MCA (Multichannel Analyzer) was employed to acquire the charge spectrum provided by the COBRA chips in the different test conditions. The MCA has a 14 bit resolution and adjustable input dynamic range, which was set equal to 0.6 V or 1.4 V according to the needs of the performed acquisition. An example of the acquired signal amplitude spectra obtained changing the current, and thus, the optical intensity provided by the IR LED, which was used to illuminate the chip on the frontside surface, is reported in Figure 5.0.3. In these acquisitions the HG mode of the sensor amplifier was selected and the input dynamic range of the MCA was set equal to 1.4 V. The plot showed that the sensor was able to provide a nearly linear response, with the mean values extracted from the gaussian fit of the acquired peaks that increased along with the increasing LED light intensity. The charge resolution of the detector estimated through the FWHM of the gaussian peaks improved for increasing light intensities. Namely, the ratio between the FWHM of the gaussian fits and the corresponding mean values showed a decrease from an initial value around 16% to approximately 11% for the increasing optical powers of the IR LED reported in the plot.

An X-ray tube with tungsten anode was used to irradiated the COBRA chip with 100 μ m active thickness in order to test its performance in the detection of X-rays with energies



Figure 5.0.3: IR diode signal amplitude spectrum for increasing light intensity acquired with a COBRA chip having t_{act} equal to 100 μ m.

up to 200 keV and, at the same time, to perform a reliable estimate of the amplifier gain exploiting the characteristic K_{α} and K_{β} emission lines of the tungsten anode. The CAEN Multichannel Analyzer was used to acquire the X-ray energy spectrum measured with the sensor configured in HG mode. Figure 5.0.4 shows the measured energy spectrum for the Xray tube with a copper filter mounted in front of the tungsten anode for an applied anode voltage of 195 kV and an anode current of 1 mA. A total irradiation time of 2 minutes was considered in order to obtain a number of recorded events able to provide a good statistics. To better identify the characteristic K_{α} and K_{β} lines of W included in the energy spectrum, the background related to the Bremsstrahlung radiation was subtracted and the channels were binned together in groups of 10. In this way, it was possible to improve the reliability of the gaussian fit performed on the data belonging to the K_{α} and K_{β} peaks.



Figure 5.0.4: Energy spectrum of the X-ray tube with W anode for an applied anode voltage of 195 kV acquired with a COBRA chip having t_{act} equal to 100 μ m.

The mean values extracted from the gaussian fits were in the order of 161 mV and 190 mV for the W K_{α} and K_{β} peaks with associated standard deviations $\sigma_{\rm K}$ in the order of 7.6 mV for the former and 5.9 mV for the latter. Using as a reference the tabulated mean energy values of the tungsten K-lines, in the order of 58.5 keV for the K_{α} line and around 67 keV for the K_{β} line, it was possible to estimate the corresponding number of electrons generated on average within the sensor active volume. Combining this information with the voltage values obtained from the gaussian fit of the two emission lines

identified in the acquired spectrum, it was possible to obtain an estimate of the sensor gain that was equal to 63 mV/fCwith an associated uncertainty of 2 mV/fC.

The value of the feedback capacitance of the integrated preamplifier was computed as the inverse of the estimated gain value in HG mode, that was scaled by a factor 10 representing the nominal value of the buffer gain in this mode. As a consequence, the estimated amplifier feedback capacitance was equal to 159 ± 4 fF.

Chapter 6

TJ-Monopix2 chip

Calibration of the injection capacitance

This chapter describes a calibration activity performed on the depleted MAPS TJ-Monopix2. The knowledge of the injection capacitance value was needed to perform the calibration of the injection circuit, which is used to estimate the chip noise level and get comparable results between different detector technologies.

The TJ-Monopix2 chip represents an advanced fully depleted monolithic chip realized in the 180 nm TowerJazz CMOS technology, having a total area of $2\times 2 \text{ cm}^2$. The chip integrates an array composed of 512×512 pixels with a pitch of 33.04 μ m [23], which has been subdivided in four vertical sectors characterized by different designs of the frontend electronics. The two sectors having frontend design called "normal" and "cascode normal" are both composed of 224 pixel columns, where the pixels are DC-coupled to the frontend electronics. The cascode frontends are characterized by an additional transistor in the preamplifier circuit that guarantees a higher gain value. Instead, the remaining front ends, called "High Voltage (HV)" and "cascode HV" are used in 32 pixel columns, where the pixel collection electrodes are AC-coupled to the frontend preamplifiers [62]. The embedded electronics includes also a 3-bit tuning DAC that can be used to locally adjust the pixel threshold reducing the threshold dispersion within the matrix [22], [62]. A 7-bit gray counter, which works at a frequency of 40 MHz, is used to provide the BCID timestamp. The Time-over-Threshold (ToT) value is computed as the difference between the BCID timestamps associated to the Trailing Edge and to the Leading Edge [62]. As a consequence, the pixel and the cluster ToT can provide an information with a 7-bit resolution on the amount of charges collected by a single pixel and a cluster of pixels, respectively. These values are expressed as multiple of the BCID clock time period equal to 25 ns.

The tested chips have been extracted from wafers with two substrate types: a p-type epitaxial layer grown on top of a p⁺ substrate or a thick Czochralski high resistivity p-type substrate both characterized by a resistivity larger than $1 \text{ k}\Omega \cdot \text{cm}$ [23]. To improve the charge collection at the pixel periphery, the pixels included in the TJ-Monopix2 chips have the two modified layouts shown in Figure 6.0.1 already tested in the TJ-Monopix1 chips, which reshape the electric field at the pixel borders. The devices extracted from the epitaxial wafers have pixels with gaps in the frontside low doped n-type implant at the pixel borders and, instead, an additional deep pwell implant is realized below the deep pwell at the periphery of the pixels included in the chips with Czochralski substrate. Both design solutions, already tested in the TJ-Monopix1 chips, proved to be able to speed up the charge collection in the regions at the pixel borders, improving at the same time the charge collection efficiency after irradiation [23].



Figure 6.0.1: (A) Schematic cross-section of the TJ-Monopix 2 chip having p-type epitaxial layer and gaps in the frontside low doped n-type implant at the pixel borders. (B) Schematic cross-section of the TJ-Monopix 2 chip having p-type Czo-chralski substrate and extra deep pwell at the pixel borders.

The results presented in this Chapter will focus on the calibration of the injection capacitance performed on the pixels of the chip Sectors having DC-coupled frontends for two chips with different substrate types.

The characteristic $K_{\alpha,\beta}$ and $L_{\alpha,\beta}$ lines present in the X-ray

spectrum obtained by X-ray fluorescence induced on a group of targets made of different materials have been exploited to estimate the value of the injection capacitance $\mathrm{C}_{\mathrm{inj}}$ included in the charge injection circuit of the TJ-Monopix2 chip. X-ray fluorescence represents the emission of secondary X-rays having specific energy levels, which change inducing this physical effect on targets made of different elements. A Hamamatsu microfocus X-ray tube with tungsten anode installed on the floor of a Phoenix X-ray bench mate 90 cabinet has been employed to generate the primary X-rays, which hitting the target material resulted in the emission of the characteristic secondary X-rays exploited for the calibration. Targets made of seven different materials (Al, Ti, 90MnCrV8 steel, Cu, Nb, Mo and Ta) were available for the X-rays fluorescence setup. The targets were cylindrical plates made of pure materials with 1" diameter, that fit with the dimension of the hole in the target holder placed in an adjustable position above the X-ray microtube. Figure 6.0.2 shows a picture of the X-ray fluorescence setup, where it is possible to identify the target holder placed above the X-ray tube and the DUT mounted on the cabinet side wall.

According to the physical principles at the basis of X-ray fluorescence, the probability of emission of a secondary Xray decreases for materials having lower Z-values due to the increasing contribution of the Auger effect, which leads to the emission of a secondary electron. Moreover, the prob-



Figure 6.0.2: Picture of the X-ray setup employed for the calibration of the injection capacitance.

ability of a photon emission from an excited K-shell electron is higher than the corresponding emission probability of an X-ray photon belonging to the characteristic energy lines associated to the electrons in the material outer shells [110]. As a consequence, the acquired spectra showed only the characteristic K-lines for the targets made of low Z-elements and both the K- and L-lines for the target realized with high Zelements. As expected, the acquired X-ray energy spectra included the unavoidable background component related to Bremsstrahlung and the peak related to the tungsten anode characteristic emission lines. The cabinet itself represents a source of additional background components, which sum into the total background radiation, related to the scattering of the primary and secondary X-rays and to the emission of secondary X-rays from the cabinet materials.

The presence of the background radiation in the X-ray setup set a lower limit to the energy of the emission lines that can be exploited in the calibration procedure, since the K-lines of the available low Z-targets, i.e. Al and Ti, were masked by the background in the acquired spectra. Moreover, a saturation in the Time over Threshold (ToT) value, provided in output from the chip, was observed already for the X-rays energies associated to the characteristic K-lines of Mo and Nb in the order of 16.5 and 17.5 keV, respectively. As a consequence, only the K_{α} lines of Cu, of the iron contained in the steel target and the L-lines of Ta had an energy within the exploitable range and, therefore, could be employed in the capacitance estimate and were reported in Figure 6.0.4b. An additional point, that was exploited in the calibration, was provided from a 55 Fe source with an activity of 6 MBq, that emitted X-rays with the characteristic peak of Mn at an energy of 5.89 keV. The calibration procedure can be summarized in the following steps, that were performed to estimate the value of the injection capacitance:

1. the so-called "global threshold tuning" and "local

threshold tuning" routines were executed in a sequential way on the pixels of the chosen number of columns within the considered matrix Sector. This routines provided the optimal values for the global and the local registers, which guarantee the possibility to reduce the threshold dispersion around the chosen threshold level and to minimize the pixel noise level.

- 2. a "threshold scan" was performed on the tuned pixel columns in order to get the S-curve and the related histogram of the pixel ToT response as a function of the applied injection voltage steps Δ VCAL for the pixels in the considered columns. During a "threshold scan", the Δ VCAL value applied to the injection circuit of the enabled pixels was varied within the chosen range of values. In this script a dedicated variable was used to define the number of repeated injections, that were performed on the pixels of the selected columns for each Δ VCAL value in the considered range.
- 3. the injection circuitry was able to provide a maximum charge limited to around 1.8 ke⁻, which was even smaller than the lowest point available for the calibration corresponding to the characteristic peak in the ⁵⁵Fe charge spectrum. As a consequence, a fitting function was applied to the aforementioned histogram considering the weighted mean of the pixel ToT values as a function of

the applied injection voltage steps. The fitting function was then employed to get an estimate of the amplitude of the injection voltage difference needed to get a ToT value higher than the maximum one achievable with the injection circuit capability.

- 4. the K- and L-lines of the X-ray fluorescence spectra acquired in terms of cluster ToT response were fitted with a gaussian function. The mean value of the cluster ToT response obtained from the gaussian fit was linked to the mean value of the corresponding characteristic Xray line energy expressed in keV. The simple relation existing between the energy of a photon and the resulting number of electrons generated on average in silicon was exploited to get the relation between cluster ToT values and number of collected charges.
- 5. the information on the number of collected charges for a specific ToT value and on the injection voltage difference needed to get the same ToT output were combined and the injection capacitance value was estimated.

Additional information on the script employed for the threshold tuning, the threshold scan and the following data analysis, that were developed by the members of the SiLab group, can be found in [111].

According to the procedures explained above, once executed the 'global' and 'local' threshold tuning routines, a 'threshold
scan' was performed on the enabled pixel columns to get information on the threshold dispersion and on the noise distribution for the considered pixels. The plot showing the histogram of the pixel ToT response as a function of the applied injection voltage steps (Δ VCAL) and the corresponding Scurve, showing the pixel occupancy as a function of Δ VCAL applying 100 injections, are reported in Figure 6.0.3 for the pixels in the first 32 columns of the Sector with normal frontend design for the tested sensor having Czochralski substrate.



Figure 6.0.3: (A) Histogram of the ToT response as a function of the applied Δ VCAL. (B) Corresponding S-curve showing the pixel occupancy as a function of the applied Δ VCAL.

The histogram in Figure 6.0.3A shows clearly that the maximum amount of charges that can be generated exploiting the whole linear range of the charge injection circuit, in the range between 20 and 140 Δ VCAL steps, corresponds to a low ToT code around 20. Therefore, a fitting function able to represent the relation between ToT code and Δ VCAL for higher To T values was implemented. This enabled to extract the Δ VCAL values corresponding to the ToT codes obtained from the X-ray fluorescence spectra. At the same time, the S-curve displayed in Figure 6.0.3B, obtained after running the tuning algorithms, shows a low threshold dispersion for the selected pixels with the pixel occupancy that sharply increases around the selected threshold level.

Using the same register configuration employed in the 'threshold scan', the X-ray fluorescence spectra of the targets made of different material were collected in the X-ray setup. According to [110], the current and the voltage applied to the anode of the X-ray tube were changed on the basis of the target material trying to improve the detectability of the characteristic line peaks for the following gaussian fitting algorithm. An example of an acquired X-ray spectrum for the tuned pixel columns with normal FE design of the Czochralski substrate sensor is shown in Figure 6.0.4A, where it is possible to identify the characteristic peak associated to the K_{α} line generated by the induced X-ray fluorescence of the copper target. In this acquisition, an anode voltage of 50 kV and an anode current of 60 μ A were applied to the X-ray tube for a total irradiation time of 350 s. The obtained ToT values representing the mean values extracted from the gaussian fit of the characteristic fluorescence peaks for the available target materials and the ⁵⁵Fe source have been reported in Figure 6.0.4B as a function of the corresponding characteristic emission line energies.



Figure 6.0.4: (A) Acquired fluorescence X-ray spectrum for the Cu target. (B) ToT mean values extracted from the gaussian fit of the characteristic fluorescence lines as a function of the corresponding line energies.

As can be clearly noticed in Figure 6.0.4B, the data points corresponding to the ToT values obtained from the gaussian fit of the K_{α} lines of Nb and Mo lie outside the linear region of the ToT response and therefore cannot be employed in the estimation of the injection capacitance.

The relationship between ToT code and Δ VCAL obtained by the fit of the histogram shown in Figure 6.0.3A was exploited to convert the ToT mean values extracted with the gaussian fit in the corresponding Δ VCAL values. The value of a single Δ VCAL step, equal to 7.03 mV according to [62], was then used to express the obtained Δ VCAL values in volt. In an analogous way, the considered characteristic emission line energies were converted in the mean number of electrons and, then, in the corresponding amount of charge expressed in coulomb, that are generated within silicon from a photon with those specific energy levels. Finally, exploiting the information on the voltage and on the charge values associated to the emission lines of the different targets, the mean value of the injection capacitance of the considered pixel columns was estimated employing two different approaches, which provided slightly different results in agreement with respect to the error margins. A first estimate of the injection capacitance was obtained using the capacitance definition itself, i.e. the ratio between charge and electric potential. The injection capacitance mean value and the associated standard deviation were estimated from the C_{inj} values obtained for the different target materials and have been reported in Table 6.1 for the normal and cascode FE Sectors of the two tested chips.

Table 6.1: Estimated C_{inj} mean value and standard deviation for the pixels of the normal and cascode FE Sectors of the TJ-Monopix2 chips

Substrate	Normal FE	Cascode FE
	[aF]	[aF]
Epitaxial	182 ± 7	201 ± 3
Czrochralski	215 ± 9	212 ± 7

An alternative estimate of C_{ini} was obtained considering the

angular coefficient of the linear fit passing through the data points considered above, representing the relation between the deposed charge and the injection voltage estimated for the considered characteristic emission lines of the targets. In this second case, an additional data point was considered to take into account the threshold level, expressed in Δ VCAL steps, that was chosen in the tuning phase. This additional point represents the positive offset in the injection voltage value associated to a ToT code equal to 0, that can be observed in Figure 6.0.3A. The C_{inj} values estimated through the angular coefficient of the linear fit and the associated uncertainty are reported in Table 6.2 for the considered columns of the normal and cascode FE Sectors of the two chips with epitaxial and Czochralski substrates, respectively.

Table 6.2: Estimated C_{inj} from the linear fit and associated uncertainty for the pixels of the normal and cascode FE Sectors of the TJ-Monopix2 chips

Substrate	Normal FE	Cascode FE
	[aF]	[aF]
Epitaxial	200 ± 12	204 ± 9
Czrochralski	240 ± 17	238 ± 16

Looking at the C_{inj} values reported in the Tables, it is possible to notice the slightly higher capacitance values estimated

through the fitting function, which are closer to the one expected from the design equal to 230 aF [62]. This difference is related to the smaller angular coefficient obtained considering in the linear fit the additional data point representing the positive offset in the Δ VCAL values corresponding to a ToT output equal to 0.

Chapter 7

Conclusions

Several active and passive sensors together with a large-area monolithic active pixel sensor, representing the main derivable of the collaboration, have been designed and then fabricated using a commercial 110 nm CMOS production process with only a few needed add-ons in three different production runs within the INFN ARCADIA project. The produced wafers were characterized by three different nominal substrate thicknesses equal to 48, 100 and 200 μ m in order to meet the different requirements in terms of material budget, charge collection speed and sensor active thickness set by the different application fields of the designed sensors.

Preliminary TCAD simulations were employed to design the sensing elements of the active and passive pixel and strip arrays, choosing only the most promising pixel or strip layouts and dimensions to be included in the produced wafers. TCAD simulations were also exploited to design the test structures and the process control structures that were used to characterize the developed sensor technology. These structures were also needed to verify the behavior of the frontside and backside terminations included to guarantee the application of the voltage bias needed to deplete the sensor without breakdown or punch through issues for substrate thicknesses up to several hundreds of micrometers.

The characteristics of the backside interface in terms of surface generation velocity and concentration of positive charges trapped in the passivation layer were extracted from the measurements performed on gated diodes and MOS capacitors. Instead, frontside and backside diodes with different termination structure layouts were tested to identify the optimal guard ring number and geometry able to prevent the breakdown of the junction, where the voltage bias is applied, and at the same time avoid issues related to the early onset of punch through.

In parallel, the produced passive arrays with different strip and pixel layouts were characterized both electrically and optically using a pulsed IR laser. In particular, the IV and CV characteristics of the passive pixel arrays were measured to quantify the operating voltage range, the dark current and the capacitance value characterizing the different layouts and pitches. The extracted punch through and full depletion voltages, pixel dark current and capacitance values were compared with the ones predicted from TCAD simulations. The comparison showed an excellent agreement between the experimental data and the simulation results, which proved the reliability of the physical models employed in the design simulations. The estimated capacitance for the 25 μ m pixels included in the ARCADIA Main Demonstrator (MD) chip in the order of 4.5 fF is in line with the values reported in literature for the pixels included in the ALPIDE and TJ-Monopix2 chips, which represent two state-of-the-art MAPS with pixel sizes comparable with the MD pixels.

The radiation hardness of the different pixel layouts was evaluated through dedicated irradiation studies, where the sensors have been irradiated with X-rays following a precise sequence of dose steps up to a TID of 10 Mrad. The variation in the measured IV and CV curves for increasing X-ray doses was compared with the one expected from TCAD simulations, where the 'new Perugia' radiation damage model was implemented. The experimental data confirmed that the sensor technology was able to withstand the considered TID and, moreover, the measured increase in the pixel capacitance value after irradiation proved to be lower than the one predicted from TCAD simulations. Instead, a detailed study of the NIEL effects on the fabricated MD chips is still missing and will be required to assess the maximum fluence that the technology can withstand guaranteeing the proper chip functionality. This information will be fundamental to determine the potential cases in which the designed chip could be employed in future HEP experiments.

At the same time, the charge collection dynamics of the fabricated pixel arrays was assessed exploiting an external optical stimulus generated with fast sub-nanosecond pulsed laser diodes having red or IR wavelengths. Optical scans of the pixel arrays were also performed changing the position of the focused laser spot within the matrix active area and the acquired waveforms were used to disentangle the signal contributions related to the collection of the charges generated in different pixel regions. The obtained results showed charge collection times in the order of few ns or tens of ns depending on the considered pixel size and substrate thickness, which are in line with the goal of the project.

Also the test structures with integrated gain layer fabricated within the third ARCADIA production run were designed by means of TCAD simulations and characterized from the electrical and dynamic point of view. The data proved the feasibility of integrating a gain layer in the monolithic sensor technology, paving the path to a new wafer production, where the acquired knowledge has been exploited to fine tune the gain layer doping concentration, in order to achieve the timing resolution required by the timing layers of the ALICE 3 Upgrade. The signal dynamics of the sensors fabricated in the future production will be evaluated exploiting optical setups with fast pulsed laser sources and also particle beams in order to validate the TCAD simulation models and check the actual timing resolution that can be achieved with this novel technology.

The behavior of the COBRA chip, which represents a singlechannel monolithic active sensor designed for brachytherapy, has been evaluated exploiting different radiation and optical sources. The characteristic emission lines of an X-ray tube with tungsten anode were used to estimate the gain provided by the sensor in High Gain mode, which was in the order of $63\pm2\,\mathrm{mV/fC}$, and the value of the associated feedback capacitance of the dual gain preamplifier integrated within the chip, which was equal to $159\pm4\,\mathrm{fF}$.

Finally, the calibration of the injection capacitance of the TJ-Monopix2 chip, a full scale monolithic active pixel sensor realized in the TowerJazz 180 nm CMOS technology, was performed exploiting X-ray fluorescence techniques. The estimated capacitance values proved to be in agreement with the one expected from the chip design and provided a calibration of the charge injection mechanism, which will be exploited to obtain an accurate estimate of the chip noise level.

A detailed characterization of the noise level of the ARCADIA MD chip is still missing and represents one of the open tasks that should be completed in the near future in order to provide a complete picture of the chip performance.

Perspectives and future work

The realized Main Demonstrator chip showed the great potential of the developed sensor technology and represents a starting point for the future development of novel large area prototypes based on the modified 110 nm CMOS production process of LFoundry. Reducing the pixel pitch in order to improve the space resolution as well as decreasing the chip power consumption w.r.t. the ones guaranteed by the MD chip can represent interesting developments of this large area prototype for particle tracking applications in HEP experiments and space applications, respectively.

Moreover, the possibility to reach the full depletion of substrate thicknesses in the order of $300-500 \,\mu\text{m}$ makes this technology appealing also for X-ray imaging applications requiring the detection of X-rays with energy up to $\sim 15 \,\text{keV}$.

Looking at the possible application of this technology in the medical field the COBRA and the MD chips can be attracting solutions for the fabrication of compact probes for dosimetry monitoring in HDR brachitherapy treatments and of medical scans for Proton Computed Tomography (PCT), respectively. Finally, the development of the monolithic LGAD concept will be pursued by the ALICE 3 timing layers WG trying to improve the achievable timing resolution by tuning doping concentration of the integrated gain layer and decreasing the active substrate thickness down to $25 - 15 \,\mu\text{m}$. If the devices of the new production will be able to guarantee a timing resolution in the order of few tens of ps, they will become attractive also to implement time-tagging hodoscopes for protontherapy applications. In this case, the sensors will be exploited to perform time-of-flight measurements on the emitted protons and, as a consequence, retrieve information on the particle energy and the related particle range.

Bibliography

- H. Bethe and W. Heitler, 'On the stopping of fast particles and on the creation of positive electrons,' Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series A, Containing Papers of a Mathematical and Physical Character, vol. 146, no. 856, pp. 83–112, 1934. DOI: 10.1098/ rspa.1934.0140.
- [2] G. F. Knoll, Radiation detection and measurement. John Wiley & Sons, 2010.
- [3] H. Kolanoski and N. Wermes, *Particle Detectors: Fundamentals and Applications*. Oxford University Press, USA, 2020.
- [4] E. Gatti and P. Rehak, 'Semiconductor drift chamber—An application of a novel charge transport scheme,' Nuclear Instruments and Methods in Physics Research, vol. 225, no. 3, pp. 608–614, 1984. DOI: 10.1016/0167-5087(84)90113-3.
- [5] L. Giuntini, L. Castelli, M. Massi, M. Fedi, C. Czelusniak *et al.*, 'Detectors and Cultural Heritage: The INFN-CHNet Experience,' *Applied Sciences*, vol. 11, no. 8, 2021. DOI: 10.3390/app11083462.

- [6] Y. Allkofer, C. Amsler, D. Bortoletto, V. Chiochia, L. Cremaldi *et al.*, 'Design and performance of the silicon sensors for the CMS barrel pixel detector,' *Nucl. Instrum. Methods Phys. Res., Sect. A*, vol. 584, no. 1, pp. 25–41, 2008. DOI: 10.1016/j.nima.2007.08.151.
- [7] A. Kornmayer, 'The CMS pixel luminosity telescope,' Nucl. Instrum. Methods Phys. Res., Sect. A, vol. 824, pp. 304–306, 2016, Frontier Detectors for Frontier Physics: Proceedings of the 13th Pisa Meeting on Advanced Detectors. DOI: 10.1016/j.nima.2015.09. 104.
- [8] M. Backhaus, 'The upgraded Pixel Detector of the ATLAS Experiment for Run 2 at the Large Hadron Collider,' Nucl. Instrum. Methods Phys. Res., Sect. A, vol. 831, pp. 65–70, 2016, Proceedings of the 10th International "Hiroshima" Symposium on the Development and Application of Semiconductor Tracking Detectors. DOI: 10.1016/j.nima.2016.05.018.
- K. Hennessy, 'LHCb VELO upgrade,' Nucl. Instrum. Methods Phys. Res., Sect. A, vol. 845, pp. 97–100, 2017, Proceedings of the Vienna Conference on Instrumentation 2016. DOI: 10.1016/j.nima.2016.04.077.
- [10] M. Garcia-Sciveres and N. Wermes, 'A review of advances in pixel detectors for experiments with high rate and radiation,' *Reports on Progress in Physics*, vol. 81,

no. 6, p. 066 101, May 2018. DOI: 10.1088/1361-6633/ aab064.

- M. Mager, 'ALPIDE, the Monolithic Active Pixel Sensor for the ALICE ITS upgrade,' Nucl. Instrum. Methods Phys. Res., Sect. A, vol. 824, pp. 434–438, 2016. DOI: 10.1016/j.nima.2015.09.057.
- W. Snoeys, 'CMOS monolithic active pixel sensors for high energy physics,' Nucl. Instrum. Methods Phys. Res., Sect. A, vol. 765, pp. 167–171, 2014. DOI: 10. 1016/j.nima.2014.07.017.
- [13] N. Wermes, 'Pixel detectors ... where do we stand?' Nucl. Instrum. Methods Phys. Res., Sect. A, vol. 924, pp. 44–50, 2019. DOI: 10.1016/j.nima.2018.07.003.
- [14] W. Snoeys, J. D. Plummer, S. Parker and C. Kenney, 'PIN detector arrays and integrated readout circuitry on high-resistivity float-zone silicon,' *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 41, no. 6, pp. 903–912, Jun. 1994. DOI: 10.1109/16.293300.
- S. Lauxtermann, J. Fisher and M. McDougal, 'A monolithic 640x512 CMOS imager with high-NIR sensitivity,' in *Infrared Technology and Applications XL*, B. F. Andresen, G. F. Fulop, C. M. Hanson and P. R. Norton, Eds., International Society for Optics and Photonics, vol. 9070, SPIE, 2014, p. 907 002. DOI: 10.1117/12. 2053449.

- [16] T. Corradino, C. Neubüser, G.-F. Dalla Betta, L. De Cilladi and L. Pancheri, 'Design and Characterization of Backside Termination Structures for Thick Fully-Depleted MAPS,' *Sensors*, vol. 21, no. 11, 2021. DOI: 10.3390/s21113809.
- [17] L. Pancheri, J. Olave, S. Panati, A. Rivetti, F. Cossio *et al.*, 'A 110 nm CMOS process for fully-depleted pixel sensors,' *Journal of Instrumentation*, vol. 14, no. 06, p. C06016, 2019.
- [18] W. Snoeys, G. Aglieri Rinella, H. Hillemanns, T. Kugathasan, M. Mager *et al.*, 'A process modification for CMOS monolithic active pixel sensors for enhanced depletion, timing performance and radiation tolerance,' *Nucl. Instrum. Methods Phys. Res., Sect. A*, vol. 871, pp. 90–96, 2017. DOI: 10.1016/j.nima.2017.07.046.
- [19] I. Perić, M. Prathapan, H. Augustin, M. Benoit, R. C. Mohr et al., 'A high-voltage pixel sensor for the AT-LAS upgrade,' Nucl. Instrum. Methods Phys. Res., Sect. A, vol. 924, pp. 99–103, 2019, 11th International Hiroshima Symposium on Development and Application of Semiconductor Tracking Detectors. DOI: 10.1016/j.nima.2018.06.060.
- [20] T. Corradino, G.-F. Dalla Betta, C. Neubüser and L. Pancheri, 'Charge Collection Dynamics of the ARCA-DIA Passive Pixel Arrays: Laser Characterization and

TCAD Modeling,' *Frontiers in Physics*, vol. 10, 2022. DOI: 10.3389/fphy.2022.929251.

- [21] J. D. Segal, C. J. Kenney, S. I. Parker, C. H. Aw, W. J. Snoeys et al., 'Second generation monolithic fulldepletion radiation sensor with integrated CMOS circuitry,' in *IEEE Nuclear Science Symposuim Medical Imaging Conference*, Oct. 2010, pp. 1896–1900. DOI: 10.1109/NSSMIC.2010.5874104.
- [22] C. Bespin, I. Berdalovic, I. Caicedo, R. Cardella, J. Dingfelder et al., 'Development and characterization of a DMAPS chip in TowerJazz 180 nm technology for high radiation environments,' Nucl. Instrum. Methods Phys. Res., Sect. A, vol. 1040, p. 167189, 2022. DOI: 10.1016/j.nima.2022.167189.
- [23] J. Dingfelder, M. Barbero, P. Barrillon, I. Berdalovic, C. Bespin *et al.*, 'Progress in DMAPS developments and first tests of the Monopix2 chips in 150 nm LFoundry and 180 nm TowerJazz technology,' *Nucl. Instrum. Methods Phys. Res., Sect. A*, vol. 1034, p. 166 747, 2022. DOI: 10.1016/j.nima.2022.166747.
- [24] L. Pancheri, R. A. Giampaolo, A. Di Salvo, S. Mattiazzo, T. Corradino *et al.*, 'Fully Depleted MAPS in 110-nm CMOS Process With 100–300-µm Active Substrate,' *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*,

vol. 67, no. 6, pp. 2393–2399, 2020. DOI: 10.1109/ TED.2020.2985639.

- [25] M. Mager, 'ALPIDE, the Monolithic Active Pixel Sensor for the ALICE ITS upgrade,' Nucl. Instrum. Methods Phys. Res., Sect. A, vol. 824, pp. 434–438, 2016, Frontier Detectors for Frontier Physics: Proceedings of the 13th Pisa Meeting on Advanced Detectors. DOI: 10.1016/j.nima.2015.09.057.
- [26] I. Wegrzecka, M. Wegrzecki, M. Grynglas, J. Bar, A. Uszynski *et al.*, 'Design and properties of silicon avalanche photodiodes,' *Opto-Electron. Rev*, vol. 12, no. 1, pp. 95–104, 2004.
- [27] G. Pellegrini, P. Fernández-Martínez, M. Baselga, C. Fleta, D. Flores et al., 'Technology developments and first measurements of Low Gain Avalanche Detectors (LGAD) for high energy physics applications,' Nucl. Instrum. Methods Phys. Res., Sect. A, vol. 765, pp. 12–16, 2014, HSTD-9 2013 Proceedings of the 9th International "Hiroshima" Symposium on Development and Application of Semiconductor Tracking Detectors. DOI: 10.1016/j.nima.2014.06.008.
- [28] A. Rochas, A. Pauchard, P.-A. Besse, D. Pantic, Z. Prijic *et al.*, 'Low-noise silicon avalanche photodiodes fabricated in conventional CMOS technologies,'

IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices, vol. 49, no. 3, pp. 387–394, 2002. DOI: 10.1109/16.987107.

- [29] M. Petasecca, B. Alpat, G. Ambrosi, P. Azzarello, R. Battiston *et al.*, 'Thermal and Electrical Characterization of Silicon Photomultiplier,' *IEEE Transactions on Nuclear Science*, vol. 55, no. 3, pp. 1686–1690, 2008. DOI: 10.1109/TNS.2008.922220.
- [30] L. Pancheri, M. Scandiuzzo, D. Stoppa and G.-F. Dalla Betta, 'Low-Noise Avalanche Photodiode in Standard 0.35-µm CMOS Technology,' *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 55, no. 1, pp. 457–461, 2008. DOI: 10.1109/TED.2007.910570.
- [31] L. Pancheri, G.-F. D. Betta and D. Stoppa, 'Low-Noise Avalanche Photodiode With Graded Junction in 0.15µm CMOS Technology,' *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 35, no. 5, pp. 566–568, 2014. DOI: 10.1109/LED. 2014.2312751.
- [32] B. Steindl, W. Gaberl, R. Enne, S. Schidl, K. Schneider-Hornstein *et al.*, 'Linear Mode Avalanche Photodiode With 1-GHz Bandwidth Fabricated in 0.35-µm CMOS,' *IEEE Photonics Technology Letters*, vol. 26, no. 15, pp. 1511–1514, 2014. DOI: 10.1109/LPT.2014.2327145.
- [33] G. Iacobucci, L. Paolozzi and P. Valerio, 'Monolithic Picosecond Silicon Pixel Sensors for Future Physics:

Experiments and Applications,' *IEEE Instrumentation*& Measurement Magazine, vol. 24, no. 9, pp. 5–11, 2021. DOI: 10.1109/MIM.2021.9620045.

- [34] L. Pancheri, T. Corradino and C. Neubüser, 'Design of CMOS Monolithic Avalanche Detectors for chargedparticle timing with sub-nanosecond resolution,' in *IEEE EUROCON 2023 - 20th International Conference on Smart Technologies*, 2023, pp. 133–137. DOI: 10.1109/EUROCON56442.2023.10199046.
- [35] F. S. Goulding and D. A. Landis, 'Signal Processing for Semiconductor Detectors,' *IEEE Transactions on Nuclear Science*, vol. 29, no. 3, pp. 1125–1141, 1982.
 DOI: 10.1109/TNS.1982.4336332.
- [36] H. Spieler, 'Semiconductor Detectors Part 2,' Lectures on Detector Techniques, Stanford Linear Accelerator Center, Stanford, CA, 1998. [Online]. Available: http: //www-physics.lbl.gov/~spieler/SLAC_Lectures.
- [37] A. Rivetti, CMOS: front-end electronics for radiation sensors. CRC press, 2018.
- [38] G. Bertuccio and A. Pullia, 'Room temperature X-ray spectroscopy with a silicon diode detector and an ultra low noise preamplifier,' *IEEE Transactions on Nuclear Science*, vol. 41, no. 4, pp. 1704–1709, 1994. DOI: 10. 1109/23.322776.

- [39] G.-F. Dalla Betta, 'Design, fabrication, characterization of silicon radiation sensors,' PhD thesis, University of Trento, 1997.
- [40] N. Cartiglia, R. Arcidiacono, M. Costa, M. Ferrero, G. Gioachin *et al.*, '4d tracking: Present status and perspectives,' *Nucl. Instrum. Methods Phys. Res., Sect.* A, vol. 1040, p. 167 228, 2022. DOI: 10.1016/j.nima. 2022.167228.
- [41] W. Riegler and G. A. Rinella, 'Time resolution of silicon pixel sensors,' *Journal of Instrumentation*, vol. 12, no. 11, P11017, Nov. 2017. DOI: 10.1088/1748-0221/12/11/P11017.
- [42] T. Kugathasan, T. Ando, D. Dannheim, T. G. Etoh, M. Munker et al., 'Monolithic CMOS sensors for subnanosecond timing,' Nucl. Instrum. Methods Phys. Res., Sect. A, vol. 979, p. 164 461, 2020. DOI: 10.1016/ j.nima.2020.164461.
- [43] N. Cartiglia, R. Arcidiacono, M. Baselga, R. Bellan, M. Boscardin *et al.*, 'Design optimization of ultra-fast silicon detectors,' *Nucl. Instrum. Methods Phys. Res.*, *Sect. A*, vol. 796, pp. 141–148, 2015. DOI: 10.1016/j. nima.2015.04.025.
- [44] E. Currás, M. Fernández and M. Moll, 'Gain reduction mechanism observed in Low Gain Avalanche Diodes,'

Nucl. Instrum. Methods Phys. Res., Sect. A, vol. 1031, p. 166 530, 2022. DOI: 10.1016/j.nima.2022.166530.

- [45] G. Kramberger, M. Carulla, E. Cavallaro, V. Cindro, D. Flores *et al.*, 'Radiation hardness of thin Low Gain Avalanche Detectors,' *Nucl. Instrum. Methods Phys. Res., Sect. A*, vol. 891, pp. 68–77, 2018. DOI: 10.1016/ j.nima.2018.02.018.
- [46] M. Ferrero, R. Arcidiacono, M. Barozzi, M. Boscardin, N. Cartiglia et al., 'Radiation resistant LGAD design,' Nucl. Instrum. Methods Phys. Res., Sect. A, vol. 919, pp. 16–26, 2019. DOI: 10.1016/j.nima.2018.11.121.
- [47] M. Wiehe, M. Fernández García, S. Hidalgo, M. Moll,
 S. Otero Ugobono et al., 'Study of the radiationinduced damage mechanism in proton irradiated low gain avalanche detectors and its thermal annealing dependence,' Nucl. Instrum. Methods Phys. Res., Sect. A, vol. 986, p. 164814, 2021. DOI: 10.1016/j.nima. 2020.164814.
- [48] I. Perić, 'A novel monolithic pixelated particle detector implemented in high-voltage CMOS technology,' Nucl. Instrum. Methods Phys. Res., Sect. A, vol. 582, no. 3, pp. 876–885, 2007, VERTEX 2006. DOI: 10.1016/j. nima.2007.07.115.
- [49] H. Wennlöf, A. Chauhan, M. Del Rio Viera, D. Eckstein, F. Feindt *et al.*, 'The Tangerine project: De-

velopment of high-resolution 65 nm silicon MAPS,' Nucl. Instrum. Methods Phys. Res., Sect. A, vol. 1039, p. 167025, 2022. DOI: 10.1016/j.nima.2022.167025.

- [50] G. Aglieri Rinella, A. Andronic, M. Antonelli, M. Aresti, R. Baccomi et al., 'Digital pixel test structures implemented in a 65 nm CMOS process,' Nucl. Instrum. Methods Phys. Res., Sect. A, p. 168589, 2023. DOI: 10.1016/j.nima.2023.168589.
- [51] W. Deng, G. A. Rinella, M. Aresti, J. Baudot, F. Benotto *et al.*, 'Design of an analog monolithic pixel sensor prototype in TPSCo 65 nm CMOS imaging technology,' *Journal of Instrumentation*, vol. 18, no. 01, p. C01065, Jan. 2023. DOI: 10.1088/1748-0221/18/01/C01065.
- [52] S. Kushpil, F. Krizek and A. Isakov, 'Recent results from beam tests of the alpide pixel chip for the upgrade of the alice inner tracker,' *IEEE Transactions on Nuclear Science*, vol. 66, no. 11, pp. 2319–2323, 2019. DOI: 10.1109/TNS.2019.2945234.
- [53] H. Pernegger, R. Bates, C. Buttar, M. Dalla, J. van Hoorne *et al.*, 'First tests of a novel radiation hard CMOS sensor process for Depleted Monolithic Active Pixel Sensors,' *Journal of Instrumentation*, vol. 12, no. 06, P06008, Jun. 2017. DOI: 10.1088/1748-0221/ 12/06/P06008.

- [54] E. J. Schioppa, R. Bates, C. Buttar, M. Dalla, J. W. Van Hoorne et al., 'Radiation Hardness Studies on a Novel CMOS Process for Depleted Monolithic Active Pixel Sensors,' in 2017 17th European Conference on Radiation and Its Effects on Components and Systems (RADECS), Oct. 2017, pp. 1–7. DOI: 10.1109/RADECS. 2017.8696182.
- [55] 'Technical Design Report for the ATLAS Inner Tracker Pixel Detector,' CERN, Geneva, Tech. Rep., 2017. DOI: 10.17181 / CERN.FOZZ.ZP3Q. [Online]. Available: https://cds.cern.ch/record/2285585.
- [56] T. Wang, P. Rymaszewski, M. Barbero, Y. Degerli, S. Godiot *et al.*, 'Development of a Depleted Monolithic CMOS Sensor in a 150 nm CMOS Technology for the ATLAS Inner Tracker Upgrade,' *Journal of Instrumentation*, vol. 12, no. 01, p. C01039, Jan. 2017. DOI: 10.1088/1748-0221/12/01/C01039.
- [57] I. Caicedo, M. Barbero, P. Barrillon, C. Bespin,
 P. Breugnon *et al.*, 'Development and testing of a radiation-hard large-electrode DMAPS design in a 150 nm CMOS process,' *Nucl. Instrum. Methods Phys. Res., Sect. A*, vol. 1040, p. 167 224, 2022. DOI: 10.1016/j.nima.2022.167224.
- [58] H. Lan, Y. Wang, J. Chen, F. Cao and H. Hu, 'Sol Monolithic Active Pixel Sensors for Radiation Detec-

tion Applications: A Review,' *IEEE Sensors Journal*, vol. 15, no. 5, pp. 2732–2746, May 2015. DOI: 10.1109/JSEN.2015.2389271.

- [59] M. Asano, D. Sekigawa, K. Hara, W. Aoyagi, S. Honda et al., 'Characteristics of non-irradiated and irradiated double SOI integration type pixel sensor,' Nucl. Instrum. Methods Phys. Res., Sect. A, vol. 831, pp. 315– 321, 2016. DOI: 10.1016/j.nima.2016.03.095.
- [60] Y. Arai, Y. Ikegami, Y. Unno, T. Tsuboyama, S. Terada *et al.*, 'SOI pixel developments in a 0.15µm technology,' in 2007 IEEE Nuclear Science Symposium Conference Record, vol. 2, 2007, pp. 1040–1046. DOI: 10.1109/NSSMIC.2007.4437189.
- [61] M. Suljić, P. Camerini and J. W. van Hoorne, 'Monte carlo simulation of charge collection processes in mono-lithic active pixel sensors for the alice its upgrade,' *Nucl. Instrum. Methods Phys. Res., Sect. A*, vol. 950, p. 162882, 2020. DOI: 10.1016/j.nima.2019.162882.
- [62] K. Moustakas, 'Design and Development of Depleted Monolithic Active Pixel Sensors with Small Collection Electrode for High-Radiation Applications,' PhD thesis, Rheinischen Friedrich-Wilhelms-Universität Bonn, 2021.

- [63] M. D. Da Rocha Rolo, ARCADIA Advanced Readout Cmos Architectures with Depleted Integrated sensor Arrays, Project Proposal, 2018.
- [64] C. Neubüser, T. Corradino, S. Mattiazzo, L. Pancheri and on behalf of the ARCADIA collaboration, 'Impact of X-ray induced radiation damage on FD-MAPS of the ARCADIA project,' *Journal of Instrumentation*, vol. 17, no. 01, p. C01035, Jan. 2022. DOI: 10.1088/ 1748-0221/17/01/C01035.
- [65] M. D. Da Rocha Rolo, 'Advanced Readout CMOS Architectures with Depleted Integrated sensor Arrays,' in *RD FA Collaboration Meeting*, 2018. [Online]. Available: https://agenda.infn.it/event/16023/ contributions/32287/attachments/22785/25913/ 20180706_ARCADIA.pdf.
- [66] —, 'ARCADIA Fully Depleted MAPS in a 110-nm CMOS Process,' in VCI2022 - Vienna Conference on Instrumentalisation, 2022.
- [67] C. Neubüser, T. Corradino, G.-F. Dalla Betta, L. De Cilladi and L. Pancheri, 'Sensor Design Optimization of Innovative Low-Power, Large Area FD-MAPS for HEP and Applied Science,' *Frontiers in Physics*, vol. 9, p. 639, 2021. DOI: 10.3389/fphy.2021.625401.

- [68] A. Paternò, 'ARCADIA: Technology platform and system-grade demonstrator architecture,' in Vertex 2021, 2020.
- [69] D. Cutajar, G. Takacs, M. Lerch, T. Braddock, J. Bucci et al., 'Intraoperative solid-state based urethral dosimetry in low dose rate prostate brachytherapy,' *IEEE Transactions on Nuclear Science*, vol. 53, no. 3, pp. 1408–1412, 2006. DOI: 10.1109/TNS.2006.873003.
- [70] R. A. Giampaolo and S. Tedesco, COBRA REDAC-TED User Guide, 2021.
- [71] ALICE Collaboration, 'Letter of intent for ALICE 3: A next-generation heavy-ion experiment at the LHC,' Tech. Rep., 2022. arXiv: 2211.02491. [Online]. Available: https://arxiv.org/pdf/2211.02491.pdf.
- [72] Synopsys[®], Sentaurus[™] Device User Guide, Jun. 2015.
- J. R. Shewchuk, 'Delaunay refinement algorithms for triangular mesh generation,' *Computational Geometry*, vol. 22, no. 1, pp. 21–74, 2002, 16th ACM Symposium on Computational Geometry. DOI: 10.1016/S0925-7721(01)00047-5.
- [74] S. Selberherr, Analysis and Simulation of Semiconductor Devices. Springer-Verlag Wien New York, 1984.
- [75] R. E. Bank, D. J. Rose and W. Fichtner, 'Numerical methods for semiconductor device simulation,' *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 30, no. 9,

рр. 1031–1041, Sep. 1983. DOI: 10.1109/Т-ЕD.1983. 21257.

- B. M. Grossman and M. J. Hargrove, 'Numerical solution of the semiconductor transport equations with current boundary conditions,' *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 30, no. 9, pp. 1092–1096, Sep. 1983. DOI: 10.1109/T-ED.1983.21263.
- [77] A. F. Franz, G. Franz, S. Selberherr, C. Ringhofer and P. A. Markowich, 'Finite boxes - A generalization of the finite difference method suitable for semiconductor device simulation,' *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 30, no. 9, pp. 1070–1082, 1983. DOI: 10.1109/T-ED.1983.21261.
- [78] T. Corradino, 'Design and characterization of fully depleted monolithic active pixel sensors for radiation imaging,' Master Thesis, University of Trento, 2020.
- [79] R. E. Bank and D. J. Rose, 'Global approximate Newton methods,' *Numerische Mathematik*, vol. 37, no. 2, pp. 279–295, Jun. 1981. DOI: 10.1007/BF01398257.
- [80] W. Fichtner, D. J. Rose and R. E. Bank, 'Semiconductor device simulation,' *IEEE Transactions on Elec*tron Devices, vol. 30, no. 9, pp. 1018–1030, Sep. 1983.
 DOI: 10.1109/T-ED.1983.21256.
- [81] W. Shockley and W. T. Read, 'Statistics of the Recombinations of Holes and Electrons,' *Phys. Rev.*, vol. 87,

pp. 835–842, 5 Sep. 1952. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRev.87. 835.

- [82] R. N. Hall, 'Electron-Hole Recombination in Germanium,' Phys. Rev., vol. 87, pp. 387–387, 2 Jul. 1952.
 DOI: 10.1103/PhysRev.87.387.
- [83] D. M. Caughey and R. E. Thomas, 'Carrier mobilities in silicon empirically related to doping and field,' *Proceedings of the IEEE*, vol. 55, no. 12, pp. 2192–2193, Dec. 1967. DOI: 10.1109/PROC.1967.6123.
- [84] D. J. Roulston, N. D. Arora and S. G. Chamberlain, 'Modeling and measurement of minority-carrier lifetime versus doping in diffused layers of n+-p silicon diodes,' *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 29, no. 2, pp. 284–291, 1982. DOI: 10.1109/T-ED.1982. 20697.
- [85] N. Arora, J. Hauser and D. Roulston, 'Electron and hole mobilities in silicon as a function of concentration and temperature,' *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 29, no. 2, pp. 292–295, 1982. DOI: 10. 1109/T-ED.1982.20698.
- [86] G. Masetti, M. Severi and S. Solmi, 'Modeling of carrier mobility against carrier concentration in arsenic-, phosphorus-, and boron-doped silicon,' *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 30, no. 7, pp. 764–769, 1983. DOI: 10.1109/T-ED.1983.21207.

- [87] R. H. Fowler and L. Nordheim, 'Electron emission in intense electric fields,' Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series A, Containing Papers of a Mathematical and Physical Character, vol. 119, no. 781, pp. 173– 181, 1928. DOI: 10.1098/rspa.1928.0091.
- [88] J. Liou, 'Modeling the tunnelling current in reversebiased p/n junctions,' Solid-State Electronics, vol. 33, no. 7, pp. 971–972, 1990. DOI: 10.1016/0038-1101(90)90081-0.
- [89] A. Gehring, 'Simulation of Tunneling in Semiconductor Devices,' PhD thesis, Institut f
 ür Mikroelektronik, 2003.
- [90] R. Van Overstraeten and H. De Man, 'Measurement of the ionization rates in diffused silicon p-n junctions,' *Solid-State Electronics*, vol. 13, no. 5, pp. 583–608, 1970. DOI: 10.1016/0038-1101(70)90139-5.
- [91] Y. Okuto and C. Crowell, 'Threshold energy effect on avalanche breakdown voltage in semiconductor junctions,' *Solid-State Electronics*, vol. 18, no. 2, pp. 161– 168, 1975. DOI: 10.1016/0038-1101(75)90099-4.
- [92] A. Morozzi, F. Moscatelli, D. Passeri and G. M. Bilei, 'TCAD advanced radiation damage modeling in silicon detectors,' in *Proceedings of The 28th International* Workshop on Vertex Detectors — PoS(Vertex2019), vol. 373, 2020, p. 050. DOI: 10.22323/1.373.0050.

- [93] D. Passeri and A. Morozzi, 'TCAD Radiation Damage model,' Tech. Rep., 2019. [Online]. Available: http: //cds.cern.ch/record/2705944.
- [94] L. De Cilladi, T. Corradino, G.-F. Dalla Betta, C. Neubüser and L. Pancheri, 'Fully depleted monolithic active microstrip sensors: TCAD simulation study of an innovative design concept,' *Sensors*, vol. 21, no. 6, p. 1990, 2021. DOI: 10.3390/s21061990.
- [95] C. Neubüser, T. Corradino, G.-F. Dalla Betta, S. Mattiazzo, L. Pancheri *et al.*, 'First characterization results of ARCADIA FD-MAPS after X-ray irradiation,' *Journal of Instrumentation*, vol. 18, no. 01, p. C01066, Jan. 2023. DOI: 10.1088/1748-0221/18/01/C01066.
- [96] G. Verzellesi, G. Dalla Betta, L. Bosisio, M. Boscardin,
 G. Pignatel *et al.*, 'On the accuracy of generation lifetime measurement in high-resistivity silicon using PN gated diodes,' *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 46, no. 4, pp. 817–820, 1999. DOI: 10.1109/16. 753724.
- [97] G. Verzellesi, G.-F. Dalla Betta, M. Boscardin, G. Pignatel and L. Bosisio, 'Extraction of bulk generation lifetime and surface generation velocity in high-resistivity silicon by means of gated diodes,' *Nucl. Instrum. Methods Phys. Res., Sect. A*, vol. 477, no. 1, pp. 220–225,

2002, 5th Int. Conf. on Position-Sensitive Detectors. DOI: 10.1016/S0168-9002(01)01885-X.

- [98] T. Corradino, G.-F. Dalla Betta, C. Neubüser, L. Pancheri and on behalf of the ARCADIA collaboration, 'ARCADIA MAPS process qualification through the electrical characterization of passive pixel arrays,' *Journal of Instrumentation*, vol. 18, no. 02, p. C02045, Feb. 2023. DOI: 10.1088/1748-0221/18/02/C02045.
- [99] F. Hügging, 'Bonn DMAPS Developments,' in Last (43rd) RD50 Workshop on Radiation Hard Semiconductor Devices for Very High Luminosity Colliders, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://indico.cern. ch/event/1334364/contributions/5672051/ attachments/2760706/4807419/2023-11-28_rd50_ bonn_dmaps.pdf.
- [100] E. Barke, 'Line-to-ground capacitance calculation for VLSI: A comparison,' *IEEE Transactions on Computer-Aided Design of Integrated Circuits and Systems*, vol. 7, no. 2, pp. 295–298, 1988. DOI: 10.1109/ 43.3160.
- [101] N. van der Meijs and J. Fokkema, 'VLSI circuit reconstruction from mask topology,' *Integration*, vol. 2, no. 2, pp. 85–119, 1984. DOI: 10.1016/0167-9260(84) 90016-6.

- [102] G. Aglieri Rinella, 'Overview of the ALPIDE Pixel Sensor Features,' in COMPASS Front-End, Trigger and DAQ Workshop, 2020. [Online]. Available: https: //indico.cern.ch/event/863068/contributions/ 3752479/attachments/1996261/3330551/20200302-Aglieri-ALPIDE-Overview.pdf.
- [103] C. Bespin, I. Caicedo, J. Dingfelder, T. Hemperek, T. Hirono *et al.*, 'Charge collection and efficiency measurements of the TJ-Monopix2 DMAPS in 180 nm CMOS technology,' *PoS*, vol. Pixel2022, p. 080, 2023. DOI: 10. 22323/1.420.0080. arXiv: 2301.13638.
- [104] T. Corradino, C. Neubüser, G. Giovanazzi, G. Andrini, C. Ferrero et al., 'Simulation and first characterization of MAPS test structures with gain for timing applications,' in 16th Topical Seminar on Innovative Particle and Radiation Detectors (IPRD23), 2023. [Online]. Available: https://indico.cern.ch/event/ 1264216/contributions/5548182/.
- [105] S. M. Sze, Y. Li and K. K. Ng, Physics of semiconductor devices. John Wiley & Sons, 2021.
- [106] G. Giovanazzi, 'Analysis of CMOS LGADs for high precision timing measurements,' Master Thesis, University of Trento, 2023.
- [107] D. Bisello, A. Candelori, A. Kaminski, A. Litovchenko,E. Noah *et al.*, 'X-ray radiation source for total dose

radiation studies,' *Radiation Physics and Chemistry*, vol. 71, no. 3, pp. 713–715, 2004, 9th International Symposium on Radiation Physics (ISRP-9). DOI: 10. 1016/j.radphyschem.2004.04.071.

- [108] C. Neubüser, T. Corradino, G.-F. Dalla Betta and L. Pancheri, 'ARCADIA FD-MAPS: Simulation, characterization and perspectives for high resolution timing applications,' *Nucl. Instrum. Methods Phys. Res., Sect. A*, vol. 1048, p. 167946, 2023. DOI: 10.1016/j.nima. 2022.167946.
- [109] T. N. H. Bui, M. Large, J. Poder, J. Bucci, E. Bianco et al., 'Preliminary Characterization of an Active CMOS Pad Detector for Tracking and Dosimetry in HDR Brachytherapy,' Sensors, vol. 24, no. 2, 2024. DOI: 10.3390/s24020692.
- [110] D. Achnitz, 'Development of an X-ray Fluorescence Setup for the Characterization of Pixel Detectors,' Master Thesis, Rheinischen Friedrich-Wilhelms-Universität Bonn, 2017.
- [111] Silizium Labor Bonn. (2023). Data acquisition system for the TJ-Monopix2 pixel detector, [Online]. Available: https://github.com/SiLab-Bonn/tjmonopix2-daq.